
 

BOLTON MANCHESTER ROCHDALE STOCKPORT TRAFFORD 

BURY OLDHAM SALFORD TAMESIDE WIGAN 
 
Please note that this meeting will be livestreamed via www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk, please speak to a  
Governance Officer before the meeting should you not wish to consent to being included in this recording. 

 
 

GREATER MANCHESTER ECONOMY, BUSINESS GROWTH 
AND SKILLS OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

1.   WELCOME AND APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

2.   CHAIR'S COMMUNICATION AND URGENT BUSINESS  
 

 

3.   MEMBERSHIP OF THE COMMITTEE 2021-2022  
 
To confirm the removal of Councill Andrea Finney (Bolton, Con) 
and the appointment of Councillor Samuel Rimmer (Bolton, Con) 
as a member of the committee for the remainder of the 2021-2022 
municipal year.  
 

 

4.   DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  
 

1 - 4 

5.   APPOINTMENT OF A VICE CHAIR FOR THE COMMITTEE  
 
To seek nominations for the appointment of Vice Chair to the 
Committee for the remainder of the 2021-2022 municipal year.  
 

 

6.   MINUTES  
 
To consider the approval of the minutes of the previous meeting of 
the Committee, held on 9th July 2021, as a correct record.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

5 - 14 

DATE: Friday, 12th November, 2021 
 

TIME: 10.30 am 
 

VENUE: Council Chamber, Manchester Town Hall Extension, 
Mount Street Entrance, Manchester M2 5DB 
 

  

Public Document

http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/


2 
 

7.   TACKLING INEQUALITY IN GREATER MANCHESTER - 
RESPONSE TO THE REPORTS OF INDEPENDENT 
INEQUALITIES COMMISSION AND MARMOT 'BUILD BACK 
FAIRER'  
 
To receive a report of Councillor Brenda Warrington, Portfolio 
Leader for Equalities, Pam Smith, Portfolio Lead Chief Executive 
for Equalities and Joanne Roney, Chair of the GM Population 
Health Board, which provides a response to the reports of 
Independent Inequalities Commission and Marmot ‘Build Back 
Fairer’. 
 

15 - 38 

8.   GREATER MANCHESTER STRATEGY REFRESH  
 
To receive a report of the GM Mayor which provides the 
Committee with an update on the work to date and progress made 
in the refreshing of the Greater Manchester Strategy. 
 

39 - 86 

9.   GREATER MANCHESTER'S THREE-YEAR INTERNATIONAL 
STRATEGY  
 
To receive an update on the GM International Strategy. 
 

87 - 112 

10.   REGISTER OF KEY DECISIONS  
 
Members are asked to note and comment on the GMCA Register 
of Key Decisions for the period 1st October 2021 to 31st January 
2022.  
 

113 - 130 

11.   COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME  
 
Members are asked to note and comment on the Committee Work 
Programme. 
 

131 - 136 

12.   DATE OF NEXT MEETING  
 
To note that the next meeting of the Committee will take place on 
Friday 10th December 2021, commencing at 10:30 am.  
 

 

 
 
 

For copies of papers and further information on this meeting please refer to the website 
www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk.  Alternatively, contact the following 

Governance & Scrutiny Officer: Paul Harris 
 paul.harris@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk 

 
 

This agenda was issued on Thursday 4th November 2021, on behalf of Julie Connor, 
Secretary to the Greater Manchester Combined Authority, Broadhurst, 56 Oxford Street, 

Manchester M1 6EU 
 



3 
 

 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS  2021-2022 

 

Name Organisation Political Party 

Councillor Barry Brotherton Trafford Labour 

Councillor Kate Butler Stockport Labour 

Councillor Ray Dutton Rochdale Labour 

Councillor Susan Haworth Bolton Labour 

Councillor Michael Holly Rochdale Conservative 

Councillor Stephen Homer Tameside Labour 

Councillor George Hulme Oldham Labour 

Councillor Jim King Salford Labour 

Councillor Charles Rigby Wigan Labour 

Councillor Samuel Rimmer Bolton Council Conservative 

Councillor Becky Senior Stockport Council Liberal Democrats 

Councillor Greg Stanton Manchester Labour 

Councillor Mary Whitby Bury Labour 

Councillor Michael 
Winstanley 

Wigan Conservative 

 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Declaration of Councillors’ Interests in Items Appearing on the Agenda 
 
GMCA Economy, Business Growth and Skills Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 8th October 2021 
 
Name -  
 
 
 

Agenda 
Item 

Number 

Type of Interest - PERSONAL 
AND NON PREJUDICIAL Reason 

for declaration of interest 

NON PREJUDICIAL Reason for 
declaration of interest Type of Interest – 
PREJUDICIAL Reason for declaration of 

interest 

Type of Interest – DISCLOSABLE 
PECUNIARY INTEREST Reason 

for declaration of interest  

    

    

    

    

    

    

 
Please see overleaf for a quick guide to declaring interests at GMCA meetings. 

 

P
age 1

A
genda Item

 4



 

Quick Guide to Declaring Interests at GMCA Meetings 
 
Please Note: should you have a personal interest that is prejudicial in an item on the agenda, you should leave the meeting for the duration of the 
discussion and the voting thereon.  
 

This is a summary of the rules around declaring interests at meetings. It does not replace the Member’s Code of Conduct, the full 
description can be found in the GMCA’s constitution Part 7A.  
 
Your personal interests must be registered on the GMCA’s Annual Register within 28 days of your appointment onto a GMCA committee 
and any changes to these interests must notified within 28 days. Personal interests that should be on the register include: 
 
1. Bodies to which you have been appointed by the GMCA 
2. Your membership of bodies exercising functions of a public nature, including charities, societies, political parties or trade unions. 
 
You are also legally bound to disclose the following information called Disclosable Personal Interests which includes: 
 
1. You, and your partner’s business interests (eg employment, trade, profession, contracts, or any company with which you are 

associated). 
2. You and your partner’s wider financial interests (eg trust funds, investments, and assets including land and property).  
3. Any sponsorship you receive. 

 
Failure to disclose this information is a criminal offence 
 

Step One: Establish whether you have an interest in the business of the agenda 
 
1. If the answer to that question is ‘No’ then that is the end of the matter.  
2. If the answer is ‘Yes’ or Very Likely’ then you must go on to consider if that personal interest can be construed as being a prejudicial 

interest.  
 

 

P
age 2



 

Step Two: Determining if your interest is prejudicial 
 
A personal interest becomes a prejudicial interest: 
 
1. where the wellbeing, or financial position of you, your partner, members of your family, or people with whom you have a close 

association (people who are more than just an acquaintance) are likely to be affected by the business of the meeting more than it 
would affect most people in the area.  

2. the interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably regard as so significant that it 
is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest. 
 

For a non-prejudicial interest, you must: 
 
1. Notify the governance officer for the meeting as soon as you realise you have an interest. 
2. Inform the meeting that you have a personal interest and the nature of the interest. 
3. Fill in the declarations of interest form. 

 

To note:  
1. You may remain in the room and speak and vote on the matter  

If your interest relates to a body to which the GMCA has appointed you to, you only have to inform the meeting of that interest if you 
speak on the matter. 
 

For prejudicial interests, you must:  
 
1. Notify the governance officer for the meeting as soon as you realise you have a prejudicial interest (before or during the meeting). 
2. Inform the meeting that you have a prejudicial interest and the nature of the interest. 
3. Fill in the declarations of interest form. 
4. Leave the meeting while that item of business is discussed. 
5. Make sure the interest is recorded on your annual register of interests form if it relates to you or your partner’s business or financial 

affairs. If it is not on the Register update it within 28 days of the interest becoming apparent.  
 

You must not: 
 
Participate in any discussion of the business at the meeting, or if you become aware of your disclosable pecuniary interest during the 
meeting participate further in any discussion of the business,  

1. participate in any vote or further vote taken on the matter at the meeting. 

 

P
age 3



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

MINUTES OF THE ANNUAL MEETING OF THE GREATER MANCHESTER 
COMBINED AUTHORITY ECONOMY, BUSINESS GROWTH AND SKILLS 
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE, HELD ON FRIDAY 9 JULY 2021 
  
 
Present:    
Bolton:  Councillor Andrea Finney 

Councillors Susan Haworth 
Bury:   Councillor Mary Whitby  
Manchester:  Councillor Greg Stanton 
Oldham:   Councillor George Hulme 
Rochdale   Councillor Michael Holly (Chair) 

Councillor Raymond Dutton 
Councillor Tom Besford (substitute)    

Salford:  Councillor Jim King 
Stockport:  Councillor Kate Butler  
Trafford  Councillors Barry Brotherton 
Wigan:  Councillor Charles Rigby 
   Councillor Debra Wailes (substitute) 
 
Officers in attendance:- 
 
GMCA Joanne Heron, Statutory Scrutiny Officer, GMCA 
GMCA  John Wrathmell, Director of Research and Strategy, GMCA 
GMCA Ian MacArthur, GM Growth Company 
GMCA  Paul Harris, Governance and Scrutiny, GMCA 
 
 
EO&S21/01 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received and noted from Councillors Michael 
Winstanley, Stephen Homer and Becky Senior. 
 
Apologies were also received and noted from Councillor Elise Wilson, GM Lead 
Member for Economy and Business, Simon Nokes, Executive Director, Policy and 
Strategy, GMCA and Amy Foots GMCA.  
 
 
EO&S21/02 APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR 2021/2022  
 
The Statutory Scrutiny Officer sought nominations for the appointment of chair of the 
committee for the 2021/22 municipal year.  
 
A nomination of Councillor Holly was moved and seconded. There were no other 
nominations made.   
 
RESOLVED/-  
 
That Councillor Michael Holly be appointed as Chair of the Committee for the 2021-
22 municipal year.  

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



2 
 

COUNCILLOR HOLLY IN THE CHAIR 
 
EO&S21/03  APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIR 2021/2022 
 
The Chair sought nominations for the appointment of a vice-chair of the committee 
for the 2021-2022 Municipal Year.  
 
A nomination of Councillor Andrea Finney was moved and seconded. There were 
no further nominations received.  
 
RESOLVED/-  
 
That Councillor Andrea Finney be appointed as vice chair to the Committee for 
2021/22 municipal year.  
 

EO&S21/04   MEMBERSHIP OF THE GREATER MANCHESTER ECONOMY, 
BUSINESS GROWTH AND SKILLS OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE  

 
The Committee was asked to note its Membership for the 2021/22 Municipal Year: 
 
The Chair extended a welcome to Councillors Andrea Finney, Kate Butler and Ray 
Dutton as new members on the Committee.  
 
The Chair also offered thanks to retiring members Councillors Samantha Connor, 
Basat Sheikh, Daniel Meredith and Kerry Waters for the contribution that they have 
made to the work of the Committee.. 
 
RESOLVED/-  
 
That the following membership of the committee for the 2021/2022 Municipal Year, 
as agreed by GMCA at its meeting on 25 June 2021, be noted -  
 

Councillor Barry Brotherton Trafford Labour 

Councillor Kate Butler Stockport Labour 

Councillor Ray Dutton Rochdale Labour 

Councillor Andrea Finney Bolton Conservative 

Councillor Susan Haworth Bolton Labour 

Councillor Michael Holly Rochdale Conservative 

Councillor Stephen Homer Tameside Labour 

Councillor George Hulme Oldham Labour 

Councillor Jim King Salford Labour 

Councillor Charles Rigby Wigan Labour 

Councillor Becky Senior Stockport Council Liberal Democrats 

Councillor Greg Stanton Manchester Labour 

Councillor Mary Whitby Bury Labour 

Councillor Michael 
Winstanley 

Wigan Conservative 

.  
 

Page 6



3 
 

EO&S21/05 MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT AND ANNUAL 
DECLARATION FORM  

 
Members were reminded of their obligations under the GMCA Members’ Code of 
Conduct. Members were also requested to complete an annual declaration of 
interests form, noting that the completed declaration will be published on the GMCA 
website.   
 
RESOLVED/-  
 
That the Members’ Code of Conduct and Annual Declaration of Interests 
requirements, be noted.  
 
 
EO&S21/06  TERMS OF REFERENCE  
   
Members were provided with the Economy, Business Growth and Skills Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee’s Terms of Reference.   
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Committee’s Terms of Reference be noted. 
 
 

ORDINARY BUSINESS 
 
 
EO&S21/07  CHAIR’S ANNOUNCEMENTS AND URGENT BUSINESS 
 
There were no items of urgent business reported. 
 
EO&S21/08   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest made by any member in respect of any of 
the items on the agenda. 
  
EO&S21/09  MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON  12 MARCH 2021 
 
The minutes of the previous meeting of the Committee, held on 12th March 2021 
were submitted for approval as a correct record. 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
That the minutes of the Economy, Business Growth and Skills Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, held on 12th March 2021, be approved as a correct record.  

 
 
 
 

Page 7



4 
 

EO&S21/10 ECONOMIC IMPACTS OF COVID AND BREXIT - ECONOMY 
DASHBOARD  

 
Members received an update on the economic impact of Covid and Brexit. 
 
The report explained that Brexit and Covid-19 continues to present a range of 
challenges to Greater Manchester’s businesses and economy. Members noted that 
this is closely monitored through the GMCA’s Economic Resilience Dashboard 
which summarises the key data on the performance of the city region’s economy.  
Members noted that the data from the dashboard is brought together with feedback 
from key stakeholders and provided commentary on the labour market, business 
sentiment, wider economic and behavioural trends and specific Brexit impacts. 
 
Members raised the following questions and comments:-  
 

 In relation to the data highlighting the numbers of furloughed workers by 
district, officers undertook to highlight data for Wigan. Members noted that the 
dashboard allows for identifying information by district to be shown.  

 A Member asked how current unemployment levels compared to pre-
pandemic levels. In response, officers noted that unemployment, although 
reducing, remains significantly higher than before the pandemic. A clearer 
understanding of the true unemployment rates in GM will be known once the 
current furlough scheme ends. It was also noted that in GM, the take up of 
Government loans, such as the Bounce Back loan scheme has resulted in a 
larger level of indebtedness of GM businesses, circa £2.6 billion, which wasn’t 
there before the pandemic. In terms of projections and forecasts of GM 
economy risks, it was noted that risks would likely be different across sectors. 
Officers undertook to explore Bank of England analysis in this regard and 
share details with Members.  

 A Member noted that the impact of the pandemic has not been evenly 
distributed across the population and highlighted the different impact on 
working men and working women. The member asked if there was granular 
data which identifies this difference. Officers noted that data from the Office of 
National Statistics (ONS) is used to inform monthly analysis to the Economic 
Resilience Group and this information will be shared to the committee to 
provide an insight into the GM labour market, including the impacts on men 
and women.  

 A Member highlighted that generally women in the workforce will be impacted 
greater where schools are forced to close and children are asked to isolate.  

 A Member referenced the issue of skills shortages in GM. The Member noted 
that although there is work taking place to address this shortage in skills, it will 
still take time for any retraining or upskilling to see its way into the workforce. 
In response, officers noted that the noted the work and skills response to the 
pandemic will be included in a report to the Committee in September. In 
relation to opportunities following Brexit, it was noted that trade links were 
being developed with Japan and details of this engagement will be provided at 
an upcoming meeting of the Committee, as part of the report on the GM 
International Strategy.  

Page 8



5 
 

 In response to an enquiry from a Member regarding responses and the 
number of businesses contacted as part of the rolling survey, officers 
undertook to share information on this after the meeting.   

 A Member, in supporting the comments on working women, highlighted the 
research undertaken by the Women’s Budget Group and the Fawcett Society 
in relation to the impact of the pandemic on women in the workforce. The 
Member highlighted the impact has been harder in areas like GM, where pay 
is lower. A mis-match of skills to fill current jobs vacancies was also 
highlighted, including chef roles. The Member asked if there were other roles 
which are seeing vacancies. In response, officers highlighted the Women’s 
and Girls’ Panel had established a sub group to look at skills and employment 
and it was suggested that a paper on this work be brought to a future meeting 
of this committee. 

 A Member highlighted the increased unemployment claimant count whilst 
roles such as chefs and lorry drivers were in demand. The Member suggested 
that upskilling may help to address these job shortages and other professional 
roles in the workforce. The competitiveness of the GM region has been 
negatively affected by this job and sills gap with productivity in the region  
lower than the south-east of England. In response, officers noted that work 
was taking place by Jobs Centre Plus to address gaps in the workforce. Brexit 
has had some impact with businesses being unable to fill roles with overseas 
workers.  
It was noted that that pay, working conditions and flexibility of some roles were 
not attractive to some people. Members noted that upskilling, particularly in 
the digital sector, has proved successful during the pandemic.  

 A Member asked if there was any separation in the collection of data to 
understand the respective, segmented, economic impact of Brexit and the 
pandemic. In response, officers noted that the causes of impact would be 
challenging to analyse and will take time to untangle. To make international 
comparisons would allow to compare the impact of the pandemic. 

 A Member noted that the numbers of EU citizens applying to remain in the UK 
was very high and noted the importance of having robust data in order to 
understand outputs and individual measures was important. 

 A Member highlighted that of the firms researched, just 1.1% of firms were 
considering making redundancies. The Member enquired if job losses will 
increase following the end of the furlough scheme.  In response, it was noted 
that the measure of firms considering redundancies has remained pretty 
constant throughout the pandemic but will continue to be monitored as the 
changes to the furlough scheme come in to affect.        

 A Member enquired what the impact of the removal of the Universal Credit 
uplift will have on the GM economy. The member also asked what support 
would be available to help expected new covid cases and for business should 
then need to close. Officers noted that they would explore the impact of 
ending of the Universal Credit uplift. In terms of support for business, it was 
noted that a significant level of disruption is anticipated over the upcoming 
months.  
    

RESOLVED/- 
 

1. That the update on the economic impact of Covid and Brexit, be noted.  

Page 9



6 
 

2. That it be noted that the work of the Women’s and Girls’ Panel sub group to 

look at skills and employment be brought to the next appropriate meeting of 

the committee. 
 

EO&S21/11 LIVING WITH COVID RESILIENCE PLAN - QUARTER THREE 
PROGRESS UPDATE  

 
A paper was presented which provided Members with a progress update on the 
Living with Covid Resilience Plan and the refresh of the Greater Manchester Strategy, 
as reported to GM Combined Authority on 25 June 2021. 
 
The report provided an update on activity and system developments in support of the 
implementation of the Living with Covid Resilience Plan and also provided an update 
on the early stages of refreshing the Greater Manchester Strategy, and how this is 
being shaped and informed by the development and delivery of the Living with Covid 
Resilience Plan. Information was also provided on the extensive work underway to 
develop Greater Manchester’s collective ability to evidence, target and more 
effectively respond to inequalities present, and how these approaches are being 
developed and embedded as future ways of working. 
 
The update also provided information in relation to the Greater Manchester Strategy 
Refresh, the work of the Independent Inequalities Commission and the Marmot 
review.  
 
Members raised the following comments and questions:-  
 

 A Member highlighted concerns regarding the ending of the evictions ban and 
enquired if there was any data on the numbers of people affected by this policy 
change. In response officers undertook to pass this enquiry on to the Housing & 
Planning Scrutiny Committee as it falls into their remit.  

 In relation to the Marmot report, a Member highlighted the work of Greater 
Manchester Poverty Action Group, particularly in respect of the living wage 
campaign.  

 A Member highlighted that some workers in roles or business sectors will now 
experience profound change. In response, it was noted that this is notable for 
those workers that are self-employed. 

 In relation to the target for zero carbon, a Member asked what was being done 
to address the reported target shortfall and developing the green economy in GM.  
In response, officers noted that it is vital to link economic recovery with the 
transition to carbon neutrality and that work is underway to do so. 

 A Member highlighted the older members of the community that may have been 
made unemployed and the challenges they have re-entering the workforce. It 
was suggested that this older cohort has a wealth of experience and measures 
should be put in place to reach out to these people. In response, it was noted 
that, from the Office for National Statistics’ data, the biggest employment impacts 
have been at both ends of the age distribution. A version of this analysis will be 
shared with members. In addition, the work of the Ageing Hub in GM as well as 
skills and work to support older workers was noted.  

 A Member enquired if the level of food poverty in Greater Manchester is known. 
In response officers explained the recommendation of the Inequalities 

Page 10



7 
 

Commission will be addressed as part of the refreshed Greater Manchester 
Strategy. 

 In terms of the take up of apprenticeships, a Member asked if it was anticipated 
that apprentice take up will improve after the pandemic. In response officers 
noted that it wasn’t clear how apprenticeship take up will improve after the 
pandemic. Representations have been made to Government to for GM to be 
afforded greater local involvement in apprenticeships, although a response to this 
request is still awaited. An update on this issue will be brought to the next meeting 
of the Committee as part of the Skills update.    

 A Member noted that the resident survey on take up of vaccines was 80%. In 
response, officers noted that this is a monthly survey and take up is on a 
trajectory to provide a high level of immunisation.   
 

RESOLVED/-  
 
1. That the overall update on the system developments in response to the ongoing 

pandemic, as set out in the report be noted. 
 

2. That the proposed approach, work to date and further development in 
refreshing the Greater Manchester Strategy, as set out in the report be noted.  

 

3. That the overall progress being made to develop new mechanisms and ways of 
working to better understand and respond to inequalities, as set out in the 
report, be noted. 

 

4. That the progress and development of activity being delivered to support 
attainment of the deliverables in the Living with Covid Resilience Plan, as set 
out in the report, be noted.  

 
5. That an update on Apprenticeships, as part of the report on Skills, be brought to 

a future meeting of the Committee.  
 
EO&S21/12    GREATER MANCHESTER GOOD EMPLOYMENT CHARTER  
 

Ian MacArthur, GM Growth Company, introduced a report which informed the 
Committee on the work and activities taking place to support the Greater 
Manchester Good Employment Charter.  
 
The report explained that on the 31st May 2019, the GM Combined Authority 
agreed funding for the of the implementation of the Greater Manchester Good 
Employment Charter. (£233,00 2019-20, and £236,000 p.a. for 2020-22). It was 
reported that since then, work has been undertaken to create the Charter 
Implementation Unit and delivery mechanisms for the Charter, which is overseen by 
a steering group, and now Board consisting of business groups, trade unions, 
professional bodies, VCSE sector employers, public sector employers and 
academics. 
 
Members also noted how the Charter has been delivered, its impacts and reflects 
upon the challenges that the COVID-19 pandemic has presented to the good work 
agenda and indeed the changing nature of work. In particular it will reflect: 
 

Page 11



8 
 

• How the Charter can help support the COVID recovery plan including how it will 
support the Build Back Better efforts especially regarding inequalities in the 
workplace and supporting both individual employers and the broader Supporters 
Network in strengthening their resilience. 

• How the Charter will continue to create a good employment ‘movement’ in 
Greater Manchester, not only expanding its reach generally, but will focus on 
engagement with sectors that require the most support and development to 
improve employment practice. 

• The Charter will continue to work with its partners to deepen the pool of 
supporting resource and provide a platform for the Good Employment community 
to spread and support good practice. 

• How the Charter will work with partners to develop innovative approaches to 
good employment practice and to continually evolve and develop new solutions. 

 
A discussion took place and Members raised the following comments and 
questions:-  
 

 A Member highlighted the benefits of flexible working. In response, it was noted 
that work was taking place with a partner to develop resources for employers to 
understand the benefits of flexible working.  

 A Member enquired as to how many employers had been approached but were 
not signed up. In response, it was noted that currently, there are challenges to 
engage with businesses but also noted that as we come out of the pandemic, 
this intervention will make a real difference for those staff in low paid, insecure 
secure work.  The Growth Company has also been working with the GM Poverty 
Action Group.  

 A Member suggested that this work if successful will provide an exemplar for 
GM. The Member commented that some people working from home may not be 
doing so in the best working environment and enquired if employers were 
required to make checks on their staff. In response officers explained that if an 
individual is working from home they were covered by the provisions in the 
Health and Safety at Work Act. The Charter tries to go beyond what is a legal 
minimum. Payment of the Real Living Wage criteria is currently a requirement of 
Charter membership, but it was noted that sick pay and pension provision were 
also important to for good employment. Ethnicity pay gap reporting was being 
explored.  

 The Good Employment Charter is seen as an exemplar and is being picked up in 
other regions. The importance of consistency of approach in all regions to the 
Charter was highlighted, particularly when working with national employers. Work 
is taking place to have mutual recognition across regions.  

 In welcoming this initiative, a Member enquired as to what mechanisms are there 
to engage with resistant employers to make them Charter ready and if resources 
were sufficient to enable progress to be made. In response, it was noted that 
resistance generally comes from employers regarding the Real Working Wage 
and also Trade Union involvement. To help address any scepticism from 
employers a support network of peers has been developed. There is a suite of 
support also available from the Business Growth Hub.   

 A Member suggested local employer charters can be developed which might 
help engage with local employers. A Member suggested the use of white 
labelling help with marketing and engage with businesses. In response, officers 

Page 12



9 
 

noted that they would continue to work with local officers. The matter of white 
labelling will be raised at an upcoming Good Employment Charter Board 
meeting.  

 A Member suggested that an approach should include soft skills for good work 
and not just for hard times. Wellbeing is important. In response, it was noted that 
good employers will put wellbeing at the heart for what they are doing.  

 A Member noted that flexible working is key. The Member asked if the Good 
Employment Charter can use procurement to incentivise businesses to be a 
good employer. In response it was noted that discussions were taking place with 
procurement officers.      
 

RESOLVED/-  
 
That the update on the Good Employment Charter be noted.   
 
EO&S21/13  REGISTER OF KEY DECISIONS  
 
Members considered the register of key decisions.  
 
The Chair asked that for future reports, details of those key decisions which are 
within the remit of this committee be highlighted.  
 
RESOLVED/-  
 
That the Register of GMCA Key Decisions as set out in the report be noted.  
 
EO&S21/14  COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2021-2022  
 
Members considered the committee work programme for the 2021-2022 municipal 
year.  
 
RESOLVED/-  
 
That the Committee Work Programme be noted.  
 
EO&S21/15  DATES AND TIMES OF FUTURE MEETINGS  
 
RESOLVED/-  
 
That the following programme of meetings of the Committee for 2021-2022, be 
noted: -  
 
Friday 10 September 2021, Friday 8 October 2021, Friday 12 November 2021, 
Friday 10 December 2021, Friday 14 January 2022, Friday 4 February 2022, 
Friday 11 March 2022. 
 
Meetings will commence from 10:30 am.  

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 

 

Economy, Business Growth and Skills 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

 
Date:    12 November 2021 
 
Subject: Tackling Inequality in Greater Manchester – response to the reports of 

Independent Inequalities Commission and Marmot ‘Build Back Fairer’ 
 
Report of: Brenda Warrington, Portfolio Leader for Equalities, Pam Smith, 

Portfolio Lead Chief Executive for Equalities and Joanne Roney, Chair 
of the GM Population Health Board. 

 
 

 

PURPOSE OF REPORT: 
 
To describe the response to the recommendations of the Greater Manchester Independent 
Inequalities Commission and the Marmot ‘Build Back Fairer’ Report as a key part of a 
comprehensive and integrated Greater Manchester approach to tackling inequality and 
enabling equity. Following extensive engagement with key stakeholders, this report presents 
an overview of activities taking place across Greater Manchester as part of the ‘essential 
pivot’ of wellbeing and equality which will be included in the refreshed Greater Manchester 
Strategy, due for consideration by the Combined Authority at its meeting in October. 
 
This paper was considered and noted by the Combined Authority at its meeting on 24th 
September 2021. 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
Members are requested to: 
 
1. Note the activities described in this report which are now taking place across Greater 

Manchester across a range of localities, communities, and institutions, and which are 
planned in relation to the refreshed Greater Manchester Strategy. 
 

2. Note the timeframe and urgency for acting on inequality, and the intention to ramp up 
actions across all portfolios in the coming months.   

 

CONTACT OFFICERS: 
 
Amy Foots, Head of Implementation GMCA amy.foots@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk   
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 7

mailto:amy.foots@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


 

David Boulger, Head of Population Health Transformation, Greater Manchester Health and 
Social Care Partnership david.boulger@nhs.net  
 
Adrian Bates, Head of Equalities Strategy GMCA adrian.bates@greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk   
 
Anne Lythgoe, Strategy Principal GMCA anne.lythgoe@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk  
 
 

Equalities Impact, Carbon and Sustainability Assessment: 

 

Impacts Questionnaire
Impact Indicator Result Justification/Mitigation

Equality and Inclusion G

This report provides an overview of work across Greater Manchester, all of which aims to tackle 

inequality across protected characteristics, across other people or groups, communities, places and 

neighbourhoods.

This report provides an overview of work across Greater Manchester, all of which aims to tackle 

inequality across protected characteristics, across other people or groups, communities, places and 

neighbourhoods.

This report provides an overview of work across Greater Manchester, all of which aims to tackle 

inequality across protected characteristics, across other people or groups, communities, places and 

neighbourhoods.

This report provides an overview of work across Greater Manchester, all of which aims to tackle 

inequality across protected characteristics, across other people or groups, communities, places and 

neighbourhoods.

This report provides an overview of work across Greater Manchester, all of which aims to tackle 

inequality across protected characteristics, across other people or groups, communities, places and 

neighbourhoods.

Health G

This report provides an overview of work across Greater Manchester, all of which aims to tackle health 

inequality inequality across , communities, places and neighbourhoods in GM.

This report provides an overview of work across Greater Manchester, all of which aims to tackle health 

inequality inequality across , communities, places and neighbourhoods in GM.

This report provides an overview of work across Greater Manchester, all of which aims to tackle health 

inequality inequality across , communities, places and neighbourhoods in GM.

This report provides an overview of work across Greater Manchester, all of which aims to tackle health 

inequality inequality across , communities, places and neighbourhoods in GM.

This report provides an overview of work across Greater Manchester, all of which aims to tackle health 

inequality inequality across , communities, places and neighbourhoods in GM.

This report provides an overview of work across Greater Manchester, all of which aims to tackle health 

inequality inequality across , communities, places and neighbourhoods in GM.

Resilience and Adaptation G
This report provides an overview of work across Greater Manchester, all of which aims to tackle health 

inequality inequality across , communities, places and neighbourhoods in GM.

Housing G

Economy G

Mobility and Connectivity G

Carbon, Nature and 

Environment
G

Consumption and 

Production
G

Further Assessment(s): Equalities Impact Assessment and Carbon Assessment

Contribution to achieving the GM 

Carbon Neutral 2038 target

Positive impacts overall, 

whether long or short 

term.

Mix of positive and 

negative impacts. Trade-

offs to consider.

Mostly negative, with at 

least one positive aspect. 

Trade-offs to consider.

Negative impacts overall. 

Page 16

mailto:david.boulger@nhs.net
mailto:adrian.bates@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:adrian.bates@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:anne.lythgoe@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


 

 

 

Risk Management: 

N/A 

 

Legal Considerations: 

N/A 

 

Financial Consequences – Revenue: 
In June 2021, The CA agreed to set aside a budget of £250,000 to support the 
implementation of the Commission’s recommendations, providing resources to kick-start 
new initiatives, and scale-up existing activity, enabling Greater Manchester to achieve its 
strategic ambitions to tackle inequality. It should be noted that to fully implement the 
recommendations made in both reports will require further investment or require a 
fundamental shift to how we invest as a public sector – using some the funding and 
resources that we already have, but in a different manner. 

 

Financial Consequences – Capital: 

N/A 

 

Number of attachments to the report: None 
 

Comments/recommendations from Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee:  

N/A 

Carbon Assessment
Overall Score

Buildings Result Justification/Mitigation

New Build residential N/A

Residential building(s) 

renovation/maintenance
TBC

New Build Commercial/ 

Industrial
TBC

This report contaisn an overview of a range of projects and programmes, all of which will 

have their own individual assessment.
Transport

Active travel and public 

transport
TBC

Roads, Parking and Vehicle 

Access
N/A

This report contaisn an overview of a range of projects and programmes, all of which will 

have their own individual assessment.

Access to amenities TBC

Vehicle procurement N/A
This report contaisn an overview of a range of projects and programmes, all of which will 

have their own individual assessment.
Land Use

Land use TBC

No associated 

carbon impacts 

expected.

High standard in 

terms of practice 

and awareness on 

carbon.

Mostly best practice 

with a good level of 

awareness on 

carbon.

Partially meets best 

practice/ awareness, 

significant room to 

improve.

Not best practice 

and/ or insufficient 

awareness of carbon 

impacts.

Page 17



 

BACKGROUND PAPERS:  
 
https://democracy.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/documents/s15192/10%20GMCA%20-
%20GM%20Independent%20Inequalities%20Commission%20June%202021%20v5.pdf  
 
07 HCB - Tackling Inequalities - 300721 FINAL.pdf (greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk) 
 
 

TRACKING/PROCESS 

Does this report relate to a major strategic decision, as set out in 
the GMCA Constitution?  
 
 

No 
 

EXEMPTION FROM CALL IN 

Are there any aspects in this report which 
means it should be considered to be 
exempt from call in by the relevant Scrutiny 
Committee on the grounds of urgency? 

N/A 

GM Transport Committee N/A 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee N/A 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18

https://democracy.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/documents/s15192/10%20GMCA%20-%20GM%20Independent%20Inequalities%20Commission%20June%202021%20v5.pdf
https://democracy.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/documents/s15192/10%20GMCA%20-%20GM%20Independent%20Inequalities%20Commission%20June%202021%20v5.pdf
https://democracy.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/documents/s15931/07%20HCB%20-%20Tackling%20Inequalities%20-%20300721%20FINAL.pdf


 

 

1. Introduction and Background 
 
1.1 Our vision is to make Greater Manchester one of the best places in the world to grow 

up, get on and grow old. To do this, we need to achieve equitable access, experiences 
and outcomes of all people and communities across Greater Manchester to services 
and within wider society. This requires specific action to tackle inequality and 
discrimination. 
 

1.2 The Independent Inequalities Commission was established in October 2020 to support 
and influence the city-region’s renewal following the Covid pandemic, helping to 
develop ideas, providing expert opinion, evidence and guidance as Greater 
Manchester’s economy and society reshapes over the coming months and years. 
 

1.3 Acting as an independent ‘critical friend’, the Commission provided a deep dive, rapid 
research into the structural inequalities which exist in Greater Manchester, engaging 
across communities, public and business stakeholders, carrying out research, and 
gathering ideas, on inequalities associated with health, education, employment and 
skills; structural racism; future economic strategy, and the powers that Greater 
Manchester has to tackle these issues 
 

1.4 The Commission launched their final report on 26th March at a media and stakeholder 
launch event, with the report then endorsed by the Combined Authority meeting that 
day. The report and launch event can be viewed here, https://www.greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/equalities/independent-inequalities-commission/  

 
1.5 Following extensive research over a number of years, under the governance of the GM 

Population Health Board, the Greater Manchester Build Back Fairer review was 
completed and published in June 2021 as a partnership between the GM system, the 
Institute of Health Equity and Professor Sir Michael Marmot and to signify the 
establishment of GM as a Marmot City Region. 

 
1.6 The review builds upon the “Health Equity in England: The Marmot Review 10 Years 

On” report, the accompanying Greater Manchester evaluation, and the December 2020 
“Build Back Fairer: The COVID-19 Marmot Review” and represents the latest stage in a 
long-standing collaborative arrangement between Greater Manchester, the Institute of 
Health Equity and Professor Marmot. 

 
1.7 The report highlights how levels of social, environmental, and economic inequality in 

society are damaging health and wellbeing and explores how these inequalities have 
been exposed and magnified by COVID-19 and its impacts. The impact of the Covid-19 
pandemic on the GM population has been profound, and disproportionate across a 
range of measures: COVID-19 mortality rates are 25% higher in Greater Manchester 
than in England as a whole; Covid-19 mortality rates are highly unequal within the city 
region – 2.3 times higher in the most deprived decile than the least, a gap than is wider 
than in the rest of England; Life expectancy in the North West of England declined 
more during 2020 than in England overall. 

 
 
 
 

Page 19

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/equalities/independent-inequalities-commission/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/equalities/independent-inequalities-commission/
https://www.gmhsc.org.uk/news/new-bold-ambitious-framework-to-reduce-inequities-build-back-fairer-for-future-generations-if-government-is-serious-about-levelling-up-heres-how-to-do-it-says-marmot/


 

2. Recommendations made by these pieces of work 
 
2.1 Both of these reports highlight the interconnection of inequalities, and that tackling 

inequality will be an important, if not critical, factor as we move out of the Covid 
pandemic. In Greater Manchester there are self-perpetuating cycles of inequality which 
systematically disadvantage people and impact in different ways. These can be made 
worse by overlapping identities. The Marmot review found that prior to the coronavirus 
pandemic health inequalities in Greater Manchester were already widening, health 
improvement was stagnating, and that this was amplified and accelerated by the Covid-
19 pandemic. The Inequalities Commission looked at the causes of intersecting and 
interacting inequalities, not simply looking at issues in isolation (for example, health, 
poverty, or digital connectivity), but seeking to understand the common drivers of all 
these inequalities. 
 

2.2 It is clear from both reports that Greater Manchester should direct its focus on reducing 
inequalities at the foundations of Greater Manchester’s prosperity and wellbeing: A 
good job, a decent home, affordable transport, digital access, green space, clean air 
and safe streets, support to maintain good health, the chance to learn and develop. 
The Inequalities Commission report describes how it will be of primary importance that 
everyone has access to the basics for a good life – no matter who they are or where 
they live – and target resources at the people and places within Greater Manchester 
who face the greatest barriers to living good lives knowing that when inequalities are 
reduced, everyone will benefit. 

 
2.3 The Inequality Commission’s recommendations covered five areas: 
 

i. The Essential Pivot – putting wellbeing and equality at the heart of our strategies 
and actions 

ii. People Power – putting more power in the hands of the people of Greater 
Manchester 

iii. Good jobs, decent pay – providing good employment, paying the Real Living Wage 
and creating skills opportunities 

iv. Building wealth – spreading wealth, asset holding and the benefits from these within 
and between communities 

v. Services for a good life – facilitating a move towards universal basic services 
 
2.4 ‘Build Back Fairer’ concludes that there is an urgent need to do things differently and 

argues that Greater Manchester, as a Marmot City-Region, should establish a clear 
ambition to: -  

 
i. Build a society based on the principles of social justice   
ii. Reduce inequalities of income and wealth   
iii. Build a wellbeing economy that puts health and wellbeing, rather than narrow 

economic goals, at the heart of economic strategy  
iv. Build a society that responds to the climate crisis   
v. Achieve greater health equity 

 
2.5 The Build Back Fairer report described how a focus on the social determinants of 

health (those factors outside health care that affect health) is fundamental to Covid-19 
recovery and achieving a permanent reduction in health inequalities. It provides a 
proposed Build Back Fairer Framework to underpin the approach to post Covid-19 
recovery which is built around 6 key themes and makes the case for the GM system to 

Page 20



 

adopt a series of ‘Marmot Beacon Indicators’ as measures of the extent to which the 
system is addressing the factors which impact upon levels of inequality and to identify 
areas where additional focus is required. 

 

3. Roll out and stakeholder engagement 
 
3.1 These reports provide a call for action, not a request for new or separate public sector 

‘strategy’. They have been widely shared with partners, networks, boards, panels, and 
communities to ensure that essential momentum is maintained and that this remains as 
much a priority for public services as it is for wider society.  

 
3.2 The initial feedback has been very positive, with officers, stakeholders and residents 

encouraged by the focus on tackling the root causes of inequality. The breadth of 
recommendations, across economy, housing and areas of public life, engaging anchor 
institutions and businesses in existing ambitions around good employment, social 
value, integrated public services has enabled everyone to see their role in the agenda. 

 
3.3 To enable a coordinated response, and following the Combined Authority meeting in 

June 2021, Local Authorities and Greater Manchester agencies have shared 
information about relevant current activities and plans, to further inform the Greater 
Manchester development of next steps and actions. 

 
3.4 There are clear emerging areas of synergy across the two reports, and they will both 

be used to inform the development of the refreshed Greater Manchester Strategy, as it 
is fundamental that inequality is at the forefront of our new strategic priorities. 

 

4. The Greater Manchester response – a comprehensive and 
integrated Greater Manchester approach to tackling 
inequality 

 
4.1  Even before these two reports were published, a comprehensive and integrated 

response arrangement was being developed and mobilized, which centres around: 
 
4.1.1 Leadership, accountability and governance:  The Equalities portfolio has 

assumed leadership for tackling inequalities across the system, and the Tackling 
Inequality Board brings together senior political and public services leaders with 
voluntary and community equality representatives, providing leadership and 
oversight of activity to address inequality, raising awareness of equality challenges 
and supporting policy makers to take a system-wide approach. However, as 
illustrated in section 4.3 below, leadership is being shown right across a range of 
stakeholders and many boards and partnerships are accepting accountability for 
action. An example of this is shown by the critical role that will be played by the GM 
Health and Care Board and GM ICS Transition Board in terms of ensuring the 
health and care sector in GM is focussed on prevention and tackling health 
inequalities, which in turn will guide the focus, priorities and investment decisions of 
the emergent GM Integrated Care System. GM partners taking a collective 
responsibility to address inequalities will be vital in the period to come.   
 

4.1.2 Engagement and involvement: The Greater Manchester Equality Panels help 
tackle the structural and organisational prejudice and discrimination that causes 
inequality and injustice in society, through the advancement of equity and fairness 

Page 21



 

in decisions, policies and services across all sectors and communities. There are 
seven panels; Women and Girls, Race Equality, Faith and Belief Advisory, 
LGBTQ+, Disabled People, Youth Combined Authority and Older People (to be 
established shortly). By having effective Panels and panel members, GMCA and its 
partners can access insight into the needs of communities and work collaboratively 
with people, maximising use of local assets and targeting resources where they will 
deliver greatest impact. It is also proposed to establish a Poverty Reference Group, 
which will enable the voice of those with lived experience of poverty and socio-
economic disadvantage to be heard in our strategy and policy discussions. 

 
4.1.3 Strategy: The refresh of the Greater Manchester Strategy will put equality at its 

heart and take on board these two pieces of research and their recommendations. 
Stakeholder engagement during the development of the Strategy has highlighted 
that delivering our Shared Outcomes and Commitments will depend on how we 
work together, as much as what we work on. Our strategic response must be more 
responsive to tackling inequality, and the Greater Manchester Strategy will identify 
10 specific ‘ways of working’. GMCA has adopted an integrated Decision Support 
Tool, which allows users to self-assess the impacts of the proposed policies, 
initiatives or services against the Strategy and associated policy frameworks. 
Furthermore, an Assurance Framework is proposed for organisations to 
demonstrate how they have used / applied the ways of the working principles. 

 
4.1.4 Integrated Action: It will be important that tackling inequality is not done in a silo – 

it is a fundamental part of what we are seeking to do in Greater Manchester. There 
will not be a separate ‘delivery plan’ to respond to either the recommendations from 
the Inequalities Commission or the Marmot Build Back Fairer report. Instead, it is 
proposed that Greater Manchester looks to build from what is already happening 
across many thematic areas, re-focusing on actions which will address inequality 
and inequity across the board. GM will adopt practices which will enable a 
consistent approach across systems, institutions and communities to come together 
to create good lives for all. 

4.1.5 Aligning resources: Clearly there is a huge financial and resource commitment 
needed for work to address the deep inequalities which exist in Greater 
Manchester. This comes at a time where public budgets are stretched to or beyond 
capacity. We will work with partners from across all sectors to align our effort, our 
resources and our budgets around work to address inequality, pooling these where 
required to maximise impact. 
 

4.1.6 A ‘whole system’ approach: Responsibility for taking action to address 
inequalities should not just be owned by the public sector at a Greater Manchester 
level. Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise groups have expressed a keen 
interest in supporting the people power and community wealth building 
recommendations. The Inequalities Commission report has been considered by the 
GM Local Enterprise Partnership, whose members are keen to lead forward work 
around diversity, inclusion, and good employment within the business sector in 
Greater Manchester. Achieving meaningful impact in terms of addressing 
inequalities will be achieved through actions taken by many leaders in many 
organisations across Greater Manchester.  

 
4.2 Although these reports have only been published in the last few months, already there 

are actions taking place which demonstrate the shift towards a Greater Manchester 

Page 22



 

focus on wellbeing and equality. The response to date can be described across a 
range of geographies and stakeholders: 

 
4.3 Response from individual Local Authority areas: 
 
4.3.1 Appendix 1 below describes the range of activities which are now taking place 

across the districts of Greater Manchester. Prompted by the very real impacts of the 
Covid pandemic and supported by evidence and ideas from the Inequalities 
Commission and the Marmot Health Inequalities work, individual local authorities 
have put in place a range of actions, structures and initiatives aimed at driving 
forward wok to tackle inequality. 

 
4.4  Actions at a Greater Manchester Footprint 
 
4.4.1 The ‘essential pivot’ of a focus on wellbeing and equality will be embedded in the 

refreshed Greater Manchester Strategy, including a set of wellbeing and equality 
goals which incorporate the Marmot Beacon indicators. 
 

4.4.2 The work to develop an Anchor Action Network can build from early work led by 
the Centre for Local Economic Strategies to bring together a group of ‘anchor’ 
institutions. The building blocks are in place, but the work needs co-ordination and 
drive to get going quickly, and it is proposed that the Combined Authority and 
Health and Social Care Partnership work with CLES to pick up from the work that 
they had started previously. 

 
4.4.3 In addition, as part of the refreshing of the Greater Manchester Strategy and its 

outcomes framework, a new set of community metrics are being developed with 
residents to understand, monitor, and resource the activities that have the greatest 
cause and effect. 

4.4.4 Early work is taking place to explore the role of ‘people power’ across Greater 
Manchester, and the University of Manchester is further developing the thinking and 
research that it carried out for the Inequalities Commission, to develop options for 
greater use of social democracy and to map existing participation structures and 
opportunities. 
 

4.4.5 As VCSE organisations have now been commissioned to support 6 of the 7 
Equalities Panels, these organisations are now meeting regularly and exploring 
joint collaborative activities. This will include how the Panels work with emerging 
equalities structures across the districts. 
 

4.4.6 It is proposed that a detailed feasibility and scoping exercise is required to develop 
ideas for an Independent Anti-Discriminatory Body, and to assess ‘fit’ with other 
bodies, legal responsibilities and possible scope. There is an opportunity to work 
with the Equalities and Human Rights Commission on this proposal. 
 

4.4.7 Work to develop a Race Equality Strategy will be led by the GM Race Panel, and 
the Leadership Programme to increase the number of people from diverse ethnic 
backgrounds led by Operation Black Vote will start recruitment in the autumn of 
2021. 
 

4.4.8 Socio-economic disadvantage and poverty are a key consideration across a range 
of CA activities, and it is proposed to consider the potential role of a continuation of 

Page 23



 

the Poverty Reference Group which was brought together for the Inequalities 
Commission. 
 

4.4.9 Greater Manchester has set an ambitious target for every employer in Greater 
Manchester to pay the living wage and offer living hours by 2030, using the Good 
Employment Charter, conditions on access to public goods, services and 
contracts and support for businesses in low paid sectors to get there. This 
recommendation will be driven forward as part of the Living Wage City Region 
and Good Employment Charter Unit at the Growth Company, led by the Living 
Wage City Region Action Group. 

 
4.4.10 Early work is happening to scope out the potential for a Community Wealth Hub to 

support and grow co-operatives, mutuals, social and community enterprises, staffed 
by people from the co-operative and community sector who understand the market. 
This would build from and include a collaboration of many agencies already 
operating in this space. Furthermore, a mapping exercise is identifying the potential 
market for a Community Investment Platform to tap into local savings, unlock 
community investment and build-up assets to share wealth with everyone in Greater 
Manchester. 

 
4.4.11 Work to explore the potential for a Land Commission to look at ownership and 

control of land in Greater Manchester, its impacts on inequality and potential 
solutions aligns with the work of the GM Planning and Housing Commission. 

 
4.4.12 The GM Reform Board has taken responsibility for creating the shift towards 

universal basic services in which education, health, childcare, adult social care, 
housing, transport and digital connectivity are provided to all. It has also set up a 
working group to further define how the neighbourhood pilots in 10 pathfinder 
deprived neighbourhoods might be focussed thematically, geographically and 
demographically within framework provided by the GM Model. 

 
4.5 The Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership, responsible for the 

devolved health and care system in Greater Manchester, has already undertaken 
extensive activity to reduce inequalities, including investing over £30million since 2018 
to improve health amongst those with the poorest health outcomes, a significant 
proportion of which was focussed on the wider, social and commercial determinants of 
health such as early years and employment.  As well as working collaboratively with 
other system stakeholders on the activities set out in 4.4, some more specific examples 
of current or planned GMHSCP activity to tackle inequalities include: 
 

4.5.1 Tackling inequalities and improving health outcomes have been agreed as 
strategic priorities of the emergent GM Integrated Care System, and the GM ICS 
Transition Board. 
 

4.5.2 Across Greater Manchester elective care and wider secondary and tertiary care 
recovery is a health and care priority.  Over recent months work has been 
developed to understand the current configuration of the waiting list by many 
characteristics including age, deprivation, ethnicity, and geography.  These have 
revealed inequalities across all these characteristics which are driving the 
development of strong plans for elective recovery.  They are looking to understand 
not just where access inequalities exist, but also the extent to which this access 

Page 24



 

inequality materially impacts specific health and treatment outcomes to ensure that 
a prioritised approach addresses health outcome inequity. 

 
4.5.3 Ongoing support to the neighbourhood based social prescribing approaches 

which support all GM residents to ‘Live Well’ as a part of a wider strategic focus on 
Person and Community Centre Approaches to health and care. 

 
4.5.4 The development of a GM Population Health System Characteristics 

Framework which sets out the requirements for a relentless focus on inequalities 
and population health across the whole system, city-regional structures, and 
localities / neighbourhoods. 

 
4.5.5 The ICS Transition Board and GM Association of Directors of Public Health 

endorsement of a Population Health proposition which sets out a commitment to 
continued investment in strategically significant population health programmes 
which are aimed at prevention, early intervention, and tackling inequalities, 
including those which seek to address the wider, social and commercial 
determinants of health. 

 
4.5.6 Working with external experts to develop a sustainable investment strategy for 

rebalancing system spending towards prevention and population health, as per the 
‘resources’ recommendations in the Build Back Fairer report. 

 
4.5.7 Implementing the NHS commitment to incorporate Social Value into all 

procurement and commissioning from 1/4/2022 in a manner which is congruent with 
the GM Social Value Framework, as per the ‘resources’ and ‘institutions’ 
recommendations in the Build Back Fairer report. 

 
4.5.8 Establishing a suite of Marmot Beacon Indicators as set out in Build Back Fairer 

and ensuring that these are a mechanism for ensuring system monitoring and 
accountability has inequalities at its heart.  GMHSCP currently monitor some of the 
proposed MBIs through existing governance and they will be a key constituent of 
the GMS refresh. There is an intention over the next 6 months to develop a 
roadmap to assess each indicator by looking at the improvement of data quality and 
the acquisition of more timely and more granular data. Within the next month 
GMHSCP will also be initiating an MBI Expert Assessment Group to interpret the 
data and produce a Building Back Fairer Assessment Report which will provide 
a narrative assessment of progress and challenges.  These indicators will also be 
embedded in work around the Greater Manchester Strategy. 

 
4.5.9 Extensive work has been undertaken to look at inequalities in Covid-19 

vaccination uptake. The GM system is working on how data from the vaccination 
programme can inform wider intelligence on communities where engagement is 
historically low are low and where pre-existing disadvantage is being compounded. 
The GM Covid resident survey is a unique source of intelligence which is also being 
used to support our understanding of inequalities and the local experience - Safely 
Managing Covid-19: Greater Manchester Population Survey results - Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority (greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk). 

 
4.5.10 The GM Cancer intelligence team have built on the national inequalities work from 

CADEAS, going into further detail with the GM data. The statistical analysis has 
found that the GM cohort are not aligned to the national conclusions around drop off 

Page 25



 

in referrals and treatment. This demonstrates the need for inequalities to be looked 
at within the city region as well as the national work. 

 
4.5.11 There is extensive ongoing stakeholder engagement taking place with VCSE 

partners and as part of the wider health and care Intelligence strategy and 
Analytics and Data Science Platform implementation GMHSCP are looking for 
opportunities to support the VCSE sector to develop and integrate their data. 
Specific work is ongoing with Citizen’s Advice partners to explore how using local 
CA data on debt, benefits, relationships, foodbank access can shape wider strategic 
management analysis, the development of a Population Health Management 
approach rooted in a richer understanding of inequalities, and the development of 
more effective services and interventions. 

 
4.5.12 Extensive work has been undertaken to create a whole system mental health and 

wellbeing programme which recognises inequalities in mental health, as well as 
the capacity of the workforce and the assets in our communities. This has included 
the roll out of the Living Well Model across localities, and increased investment in a 
GM Mental Wellbeing Programme to deliver training, grants and tailored support to 
communities of identity and experience. 

 
4.5.13 The GM and East Cheshire Strategic Clinical Network has developed a 

comprehensive action plan for tackling inequalities across all of their priority areas:- 
cardiac; children and young people; diabetes; frailty; maternity; respiratory and 
stroke 

 
4.6 Transport for Greater Manchester (TFGM) leads the Greater Manchester plan for a 

fully integrated transport network. Its work includes the following: 
 

4.6.1 The Bee Network is the new name for GM’s vision for a London-style transport 
system which integrates cycling, walking, bus, tram and train. A network which is 
simple and easy to use, which supports seamless end-to-end journeys by foot, bike 
and public transport with a daily fare cap and simple ticketing.  An important step to 
realising the Bee Network vision was the decision earlier this year to proceed with 
bus franchising, bringing buses back into local control so that they are owned and 
run by GM for GM. Inclusion is at the heart of the Bee Network vision, a system 
which will be accessible to all, with audio-visual announcements on all services, 
real-time information and level access at stops, stations and interchanges. 
 

4.6.2 TFGM can address inequality both as a transport provider and as an anchor 
institution. As a transport provider, TfGM can connect people with jobs or education, 
make fares more affordable, improve physical access to public transport, create an 
inclusive network which is safe and reliable, and improve population health by 
supporting active travel and tackling poor air quality. All of which must be 
underpinned by inclusive policy making which involves people and communities, 
and which recognises the diverse range of transport needs and experiences 
different people and places in GM have. 

 
4.6.3 As an anchor institution, TfGM can also deliver social value as an employer, though 

its procurement of goods and services, through its service delivery, by the way it 
designs and manages its estate and assets, and by adopting the right corporate 
and civic behaviours. 

 

Page 26



 

4.6.4 In response to the Commission’s recommendations, TfGM has recently 
commissioned an independent equalities audit to support delivery of the next 
phase of GM’s transport journey and to ensure that the needs of people and places 
are at the heart of the development and delivery of a fully inclusive transport system 
for the people and places of GM.  The outcome of this audit will assist TfGM in 
refreshing its Equalities Strategy and the processes used to assess the impact of 
TfGM’s strategies, policies and processes. 

 
4.6.5 Consultation, engagement and a regular dialogue with people will be at the heart of 

the Bee Network’s development. TfGM sees engagement with the GM equality 
panels and other groups (including the newly formed GM Accessible Transport 
Group) as an essential element of this. One of the key components of the 
independent equalities audit is to consider whether TfGM has adequate insights into 
the needs of all parts of the GM population to understand different travel and 
transport needs and whether it uses effective tools to assess the impacts of its 
activities on different groups of people and different geographic areas within GM, 
ensuring a variety of voices are brought into planning and decision making. 

 
4.6.6 Whilst the audit will inform what more TfGM can do two immediate priorities are to 

work with the rail industry to improve the accessibility of GM’s rail stations and 
through bus franchising ensure all new buses have the highest standards of 
accessibility and audio-visual announcements. 

 
4.7 The GM Housing Providers Healthy Homes Group are establishing a Population 

Health and Housing Working Group to shape and oversee activity in relation to the 
housing sector role in the creation of a Greater Manchester population health system. 
The Housing Providers are identifying what they are already doing in this space, 
identifying opportunities to take their effort further and aim to make a set of clear and 
shared commitments towards tackling inequality. 

 
4.8 The University of Manchester is also using the two reports to carry out an 

assessment of their practice, and how they can better respond to inequality. For 
example, a year-long piece of strategic planning work at Manchester Museum, the 
Whitworth and Manchester Art Gallery will inform how these institutions can play a role 
in the future. 

 

5. Next Steps 
 
5.1  As described above, the response to the reports and recommendations made by 

Professor Sir Michael Marmot and his team, and Professor Kate Pickett and the 
Greater Manchester Independent Inequalities Commission should now be part of 
‘business as usual’ across Greater Manchester. 

 
5.2 It is proposed therefore, that the refreshed Greater Manchester Strategy, which has 

been informed by these reports, will be brought to the Combined Authority with the 
launch of the new Greater Manchester Strategy, the intention is to meet again with the 
Commission in the autumn of 2021 to set out the steps Greater Manchester is taking. 

 
5.3 Furthermore, the development of the Greater Manchester Integrated Care System and 

the new Integrated Care Strategy will reflect the importance of tackling inequalities, 
being fully cognizant of these reports, their findings and the response. The System will 

Page 27



 

be designed to maximise its ability to reduce inequality and promote equity and 
fairness.   
 

 

6. RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
6.1 Recommendations appear at the front of this report.   

Page 28



 

Appendix 1 – Tackling Inequality across Greater Manchester 
 
Bolton 
 
In Bolton, we are currently reviewing the Bolton’s Vision - Active, Connected and 
Prosperous and expect wellbeing and equity to be central outcomes to future policy 
interventions. The perspective of wellbeing and equity is particularly important focus and 
priority in relation to the impact of Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
The Bolton Vision 2030 has social value at its heart and has a strong grounding, of which 
the good practice and implementation can be shared with Greater Manchester to help 
shape its strategy. The Vision Partnership is in itself a group of ‘anchor institutions’ 
working to improve people’s lives in Bolton. 
 
Strong and Engaged Communities is a priority within Bolton’s Vision – Active, Connected 
and Prosperous, and is at the heart of the Active, Connected and Prosperous Board. The 
work undertaken has enabled power to be put into people’s hands. The Covid Delta 
response was testament to this, which has been built upon the model employed for 
Climate Change. Through this agenda of climate change, there was a strong voice from 
our children and young people which is helping to shape our strategy and plans. 
 
As we revise our ‘Equalities Strategy’, Bolton welcomes the opportunity to shape and learn 
and improve our practice, acknowledging that the key components to be incorporated. Part 
of the strategy will be to look to establish an Equalities Allies Network, including for Race, 
to tackle key issues including inequality in the workplace.  Work on this has begun, with 
findings from an OD Employer Engagement project providing case-study material and 
models for consideration.  A task and finish group will be set up to deliver this stream of 
work through the EDI Improvement Group. 
 
Bolton is using the Employment Charter in our refresh of Bolton’s Vision – Active, 
Connected and Prosperous.  We anticipate social value influencing the workforce profile 
across the Borough, where we have a strong focus on ‘skills and aspiration’. 
 
Bury 
 
Our Bury 'Let's Do It' strategy has tackling inequalities at its heart with a clear vision to 
stand out as a place that is achieving faster economic growth than the national average 
and lower than national average levels of deprivation by focusing on seven core outcomes: 
  

 Improved quality of life 
 Improved early years development 
 Improved educational attainment for our children and young people 
 Increased adult skill levels and employability 
 Inclusive economic growth 
 Carbon neutrality by 2038 
 Improved digital connectivity 

  
This vision is underpinned by a clear set of outcome measures benchmarked against 
comparable boroughs, other GM boroughs and national averages as well as measuring 
progress in reducing internal borough inequalities.   We are also aiming to ensure that key 
issues around vulnerability, disadvantage and poverty are at the heart of our decisions 
through high-quality equality analysis of every change / opportunity. 

Page 29



 

To deliver this vision a number of key programmes of work are already underway and will 
be progressed further through the lifetime of the strategy for example: 
  
Through our Inclusion Strategy we are working with the local voluntary and community 
sector to develop inclusive community engagement structures - empowering local 
communities to set their own agendas and participate in solutions building on our 
participatory budgeting work; we are taking an equity-based approach to targeting public 
resources through our neighbourhood teams, to give every person access to the 
conditions to achieve their full potential.  We are also working to develop an inclusive and 
representative workforce across all public service partners who understand unconscious 
bias and will use out culture strategy to celebrate and value the diversity of our borough 
  
Our Health and Well Being Board has recently been established and re-focused as a 
'standing commission' on health inequalities.   Using the GM Model of Population Health 
system as a framework, the board works to ensure strategies and programmes of work are 
actively working to understand and address inequalities, promote inclusion and are 
developed in co-production with individuals and communities.  This has already led to 
improvements in equalities monitoring within services, a radically new approach to 
recovery and transformation of elective care and increasing application of the concept of 
'implementation decay' (where inequalities are perpetuated across service pathways) in 
analysis and to inform action to reduce inequalities.  
  
We already have in place a local network of anchor Institutions but now taking this further 
with a framework for Community Wealth Building based on the work of CLES with 
identified leadership for each element by senior leaders from across the public sector.  The 
Council has also committed to ensuring that the Real Living Wage is paid to all staff who 
are directly employed or who work within services commissioned by the Council.  We also 
have a number of ambitious regeneration programmes focused on a number of townships 
in the borough which bring significant improvement to the quality of the local environment, 
access to good quality jobs, housing and services but will also ensure these developments 
are connected and informed by the ambitions and needs of local residents who will have a 
strong voice in shaping the plans.  
  
Our approach to Public Service Reform and our neighbourhood working model has at it's 
heart the drive to transform and realise new relationships across services and with local 
communities with a strong emphasis on co-production, strengths based approaches and 
community led decision-making.   In addition to targeting timely and appropriate levels of 
wrap around support to those with or at risk of higher level needs we have a strong 
emphasis in ensuring good quality universal services with an emphasis on good quality 
education and health services and getting basics right for our residents. 
 
Oldham 
 
In Oldham we have developed a new Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy, informed 
by the work of the GM Inequality Commission and GM Marmot Report. We believe the 
people of Oldham want to live in a place that is committed to fairness and equality of 
opportunity, a borough that tackles discrimination and prejudice and that these principles 
help communities come together and live together harmoniously. The strategy sets out key 
actions across 4 equality objectives. These are: 
 

Page 30



 

1. Identify and mitigate the equality impacts of COVID-19, informing our response 
through research, best practice and lived experience, while supporting the delivery 
of our Covid-19 Recovery Strategy. 

 
2. Provide services that put the citizens’ voice at the heart of decision-making, 

ensuring our services are inclusive and drive equity. 
 

3. Champion inclusivity across the borough, working with our partners and 
communities to make Oldham a fairer place for everyone, while valuing and 
celebrating diversity and inclusion for all. 

 
4. Achieve a skilled and diverse workforce building a culture of equality and inclusion 

in everything we do. 
 
Alongside the Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy, we are holding a Poverty Truth 
Commission, aiming to help us tackle both the symptoms and causes of poverty in 
Oldham. 
 
Manchester 

Manchester City Council is committed to tackling poverty and inequality - a summary of 
some of the key policies and activities are provided below:    

Strategically – promoting inclusion is at the heart of the city's recently refreshed 
strategy Our Manchester Strategy: Forward to 2025 including a specific theme to create 'a 
progressive and equitable city'  

 This ambition is reiterated in the Manchester Family Poverty Strategy 2017- 22 
which was developed specifically to support children and families living in poverty. 
The Strategy focuses on the themes off sustainable work, raising and protecting 
incomes and increasing the resilience of families. In light of the economic and 
clinical impact of Covid -19, a re-prioritisation of the Family Poverty Strategy was 
undertaken to ensure that it was fit for purpose and could support families in the 
city who were disproportionately affected by the health and economic impacts of 
Covid.  

 Social value - The Council has long recognised the benefits of social value in 
tackling inequality and promoting a more inclusive economy to deliver better 
outcomes for the city's residents. Since 2007, social value has been a key feature of 
the Council’s procurement policy. Recently the approach to social value policy was 
revised to include good employment and a focus attention people disproportionately 
impacted by COVID-19 including the over 50s and Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic 
residents.   

 In addition, the Council will be launching a Manchester Anchors Pilot later this 
month. The pilot is made up of senior leaders from across the key sectors in the city 
whose role will be support Manchester to become a Living Wage Place.   

Workforce equality - The Council has a long history of championing equality, diversity 
and inclusion. Following the Black Lives Matter Movement and the global focus on racism, 
the Council strengthened its long-standing commitment to this important priority. Activities 
include establishing a new Talent and Diversity Team to improve the Council's policy, 
systems and processes for bringing in new talent as well as a Leadership 
pathway programme for Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic staff. 

Page 31



 

Career pathways for Manchester residents - work is being undertaken aimed at 
strengthening employment pathways in the Council for members of the city’s ethnically 
diverse communities. This work includes encouraging all communities to consider the 
Council’s opportunities through traditional recruitment and apprenticeship routes with a 
renewed focus on encouraging the city’s ethnically diverse residents to consider working 
for us. 

Rochdale 
 
Rochdale Council welcomes the recommendations of the GM Independent Inequalities 
Commission report.  
 
We are committed to taking steps to redress inequalities and is implementing the following, 
amongst many other actions.:- 

 Delivery of a number of programmes, which focus on ameliorating health 
inequalities, working with people with lived experience to improve the system and 
problem-solving inequality issues.  

 A ten-year programme of citizen engagement to inform public service reform.  

 Participating, alongside our partner organisation Action Together, in a quarterly 
‘Equalities Assembly’ with grassroots organisations and citizens, to address 
equality issues. 

 Adoption of the Modern Slavery and Good Employment Charters, aligning 
procurement of goods and services with charter requirements.  

 Payment of the living wage for all adult care staff/ staff funded through personal 
budgets. 

 Establishing staff networks with strategic input and targeted career progression 
through internal leadership programmes for staff at a disadvantage because of race 
or ethnicity, staff identifying as LGBTQ+ and staff with disability. 

 Commissioning a study to produce a community wealth framework to help support 
and grow a local economy.  

 A dedicated portfolio holder for co-operatives and communities. 

 A range of employment skills programmes to address inequalities, provide 
pathways to under-represented groups, target provision for the most marginalised 
and increase digital inclusion 

 
Rochdale Council is beginning to focus on its strategic approach to supporting community 
wealth, an inclusive local economy and social value. We are already a committed 
Cooperative Council; a long-standing member of the Cooperative Councils Innovation 
Network; and the Leader of the Council holds the Greater Manchester Combined Authority 
portfolio for Community, Coops and Inclusion and led the GM Cooperative Commission.  
 
We are in the process of putting proposals to senior leadership for consideration on the 
development of a framework for community wealth - to support and coordinate current 
activity and develop and maximise future opportunities in the local authority and 
partnership wide. This will provide the formal structure we need to capitalise on the range 
of good grass roots work already taking place, both in the community and within the local 
authority. 
 
 
 
 

Page 32



 

Salford 
 
Salford is actively working towards developing a network of Anchor Institutions locally. A 
key next step of our Inclusive Economy Strategy is to establish a Salford Anchor Mission 
Taskforce / Community Wealth Building Hub to drive forward the changes in our work to 
adopt community wealth building principles by building the relationships between 
organisations in Salford to explore opportunities for generating greater social value in our 
supply chain. 
 
Having launched the Salford Way focus on tackling poverty, and creating an inclusive 
economy earlier in 2021, we are also working towards a launch of our new Equality 
Strategy in October. 
 
Salford has similar plans as part it’s Inclusive Economy Strategy to explore ways to 
strengthen local democracy and put more power into people’s hands. This includes taking 
inspiration from initiatives such as the Kirklees Democracy Commission, to rethink our 
approach to local decision making such as through developing a Citizen’s Assembly so 
that residents and young people genuinely feel they can influence the future of their 
community.  The Learning City People’s Panel is currently being formed, and this too will 
play a key role in improving participation. There are significant areas of work already 
underway locally with programmes such as the Tech Talent Pipeline Partnership, Build 
Salford and Salford Employ. GM would need to ensure that new initiatives across GM build 
on the good work and initiatives which are already being delivered and developed. 
 
In 2019 the city was recognised for its ambition to become the first Living Wage City in 
England and through the Living Wage Action Group we increased Living Wage employers 
from 38 in 2019 to 55 in February 2021 covering nearly 12,000 employees. In addition, 
Salford own’s Employment Standards Charter accreditation and supporter network has 
over 100 supporters. 
 
Salford was designated in May 2015 the first ‘Social Enterprise Place’ in the North West. A 
central aim of Salford’s Inclusive Economy Strategy is further promoting different models 
of enterprise ownership such as co-operatives, mutuals, worker and community ownership 
and other forms of social enterprise. The Council has recently launched a Crowdfunding 
Platform with also provides similar opportunities for communities to invest in the local area 
supported by council match funding. 
 
Much work has already taken place in Salford to implement the Greater Manchester Model 
of integrated public services through our own Salford Family Partnership Hubs which bring 
together a range of agencies through joined-up working processes including Early Help 
Assessment and Team Around the Family (TAF). 
 
Stockport 
 
Stockport Council and partners welcome both reports and their recommendations.  
 
Stockport’s approach to tackling inequality is embedded across services and in our 
partnership working approaches. Stockport Council’s cabinet member for inclusive 
neighbourhoods, oversees a strategic cross-cutting portfolio which includes four priorities: 

 Building connected and inclusive communities  

 Enabling all residents to benefit from local economic opportunities  

 Embracing and celebrating equality, diversity and inclusion  

Page 33



 

 Working together across services to empower vibrant and safe neighbourhoods 
 
Whilst there is much in place already in Stockport which aims to tackle inequality, we 
recognise there remains more to be done. Stockport is the eighth most polarised Borough 
in England, with deprived areas having lower than average education, health and 
employment outcomes, leading to significant inequalities which continue to need 
addressing.  
 
The One Stockport Borough Plan, published earlier this year, places the need to tackle 
inequality firmly at its heart. The vision set out in the Borough Plan sees us all working 
together to develop a Borough which is inclusive, caring, enterprising and full of ambition. 
This plan is a shared plan, shaped by the people of Stockport and develop in partnership 
with a wide range of organisations across the Borough.  
 
While developing the One Stockport Borough Plan, equality, equity and unity came out as 
a recurring (and strong) theme. As a result, one of the Plan’s nine priorities is “A Fair and 
Inclusive Borough”. In total, 35 of the 71 “we will” statements across all priorities in the 
plan directly relate to tackling inequalities.  
 
Specific examples of things we are already doing that respond to the recommendations 
and findings outlined within the GM Independent Inequalities Commission include: 

 Embedding place-based working  

 Redesigning early help and prevention.  

 Strategic VCFSE sector investment.  

 Cross-partnership leadership of the Community Champions programme.  

 Well established Multi partner DigiKnow alliance approach to digital inclusion 
  
The One Stockport Borough Plan was produced before the final reports of the GM 
Independent Inequalities Commission or the Marmot “Build Back Fairer” Report for GM 
were published. The council is currently carrying out a mapping exercise across these 
reports and the Borough Pan and other supporting council and partnership plans to assess 
progress/ ambition against the recommendations of these reports.  
 
This will also inform a partnership inequalities summit due to take place this autumn. 
 
Tameside 
 
Tameside & Glossop Strategic Commission – the joint organisation of Tameside Council 
and NHS Tameside & Glossop Clinical Commissioning Group – has a long-established 
approach to equalities work, focussing on delivery and outcomes to reduce inequalities 
across the locality. Our approach is underpinned by One Equality Scheme (2018-2022) 
which is Tameside & Glossop Strategic Commission’s joint equality scheme. The Scheme 
not only sets out the equality objectives of the organisation, but also ensures that our 
ethos towards equality and diversity is embedded in everything that we do and every 
service we provide. A progress report is produced on an annual basis which evidences 
how we are achieving or working towards our equality objectives through the wide range of 
work and projects that aim to tackle inequalities and ensure equity of service. 
 
Tameside’s approach to equality and tackling inequalities is strongly advocated and 
supported through Executive Leader Councillor Brenda Warrington’s role as GM portfolio 
lead for Age-Friendly Greater Manchester and Equalities, and Councillor Leanne Feeley’s 

Page 34



 

role as Executive Member for Lifelong Learning, Equalities, Culture and Heritage. 
Councillor Leanne Feeley is also the Chair of Tameside & Glossop’s Inequalities 
Reference Group (IRG) which was established in November 2020 in response to how the 
coronavirus pandemic has brought inequalities into sharp focus. As we move from crisis 
management to recovery, we need to ensure we are utilising evidence and research, 
alongside the experience of our own communities, to do all we can to reduce inequalities 
in Tameside & Glossop. IRG enables public sector organisations in Tameside & Glossop 
to work together to ensure this happens. 
 
Further examples of our Tameside response to the GM Independent Inequalities 
Commission include: 

 The Community Champions Network was established in summer 2020 to provide 
residents and workforces with the information they need to lead the way in their 
community. Community champions play a key role in acting as message carriers 
and leading by good example. To enable this, the Council ensures that timely and 
accurate information is shared with community champions to support them to 
respond to and reassure residents within their community.  The network runs two 
virtual sessions each week to share information and good practice, whilst also 
producing regular newsletters that are sent to the network. The network has 
continued to develop with a growing focus on tackling wider health and inequality 
issues across the borough and bringing our diverse communities together. Smaller 
sub-groups have been launched, such as the Diversity Champions, Age Friendly 
Champions, and the Disability Champions.  These sub-groups focus on specific 
issues, providing a space for the sharing of ideas, networking and integration.  

 The Strategic Commission are supporting the Tameside Poverty Truth 
Commission coordinated by Greater Manchester Poverty Action. The Poverty 
Truth Commission aims to involve people with experience of poverty in making 
decisions about tackling poverty.  People in Tameside with lived experience of 
poverty will work alongside civic and business leaders to influence decision-making 
and share their stories.  Working groups will be established to focus on a number of 
identified poverty related issues, steered by people with lived experience.  By 
connecting civic and business leaders with ordinary people who have experience of 
poverty, decisions can be better informed and more effective. 

 Tameside Council launched its Inclusive Growth Strategy in March 2021, 
following extensive engagement with residents and partner organisations. It lays out 
13 key aims for how growth is delivered, which will ensure that Tameside can build 
back better from Covid-19, recovering in a way that brings a fairer economy for all. 
The strategy details the borough’s existing strengths and how these can be built on, 
allowing Tameside to take advantage of the opportunities offered by its location and 
historic specialisms to improve the lives of residents, help grow local businesses 
and address economic challenges. 

 Tameside Council are currently engaging on a draft Housing Strategy for the 
borough. The Strategy sets out the ambitions and aspirations of the borough to 
deliver good quality affordable housing that supports and impacts positively on 
people’s quality of life.  Good quality and affordable housing is critical to many of 
the broader issues that Tameside needs to address, including health, carbon 
reduction, tackling homelessness, providing skills and training to local people and 
growing our economy and Public Service Reform. 

 
It should be noted that these are only a few of the many initiatives which are taking place 
in Tameside. The intention is to embed the ‘essential pivot’ of tackling inequalities across 
all service and policy areas. We have also had a first session of an informal Tackling 

Page 35



 

Inequalities in Tameside Group – led by the Cabinet and Single Leadership Team. We’ll 
pick this back up again in September and the intention is for it to be the place to drive 
forward key work.  
 
Trafford 
 
The work in Trafford includes the following: 

 Reducing Health Inequalities in vaccine uptake - Trafford has its own North and 
South divide, with greater life expectancy, better health outcomes and fewer health 
inequalities in the South of the borough compared with the North. These inequalities 
are a result of a complex interplay of factors that extend beyond an individual and 
community level. A similar divide has now been observed in our vaccination 
programme. Since the start of this programme, the Public Health team, in 
collaboration with Trafford CCG and other local partners, including the VCSE sector 
has been taking a health-intelligence led approach using evidence-based strategies 
to improve COVID-19 vaccine coverage in parts of our borough to ensure equitable 
coverage. Our teams are encouraging those who remain unvaccinated to get the 
vaccine and minimise the risk of COVID-19 being endemic in some parts of 
Trafford. 

 Joint Corporate Equality Strategy for Council & CCG - Our new joint Corporate 
Equality Strategy for 2021-2025 sets out how Trafford Council and Trafford CCG 
are committed to reducing inequality, challenging discrimination and supporting our 
most disadvantaged groups. Improving equality across everything we do is a key 
priority and the unequal impact of Covid.19 has shone a light on areas where 
inequalities need to be tackled urgently. We are working to ensure that equality and 
inclusion good practices are implemented and embedded in all areas of working 
practices in relation to policies, service delivery, employment, community 
engagement and partnership working. This joint strategy for focuses on becoming 
more inclusive employers and delivering high quality services that recognise 
different needs of our residents, as well as promoting community cohesion in our 
diverse Trafford neighbourhoods. 

 Trafford Poverty Truth Commission - Trafford’s first Poverty Truth Commission is 
being launched in October 2021 to bring together people in poverty with those in 
senior positions within the private, public and voluntary sector. This commission is 
coordinated by Friends of Stretford Public Hall and will give people living in poverty 
a direct voice, enabling them to drive changes in reducing and alleviating poverty 
through their lived experiences.  

 Giving Children the best start in life - Making sure that all children are developing 
at the expected rate is important in improving later outcomes. One way of assessing 
this is through measuring their development at the end of the reception year. In 
Trafford, three quarters (74%) of school children are deemed to be ‘school ready’, 
which is above the national average. However, just under half (47%) of Trafford’s 
children who are eligible for free school meals are classed as ‘school ready’. We 
have been working on reducing this gap, and improving outcomes for our most 
deprived children, and have been determined to continue to do so throughout the 
pandemic. This has been challenging as school nursing and health visiting staff 
were redeployed into other parts of the NHS. However, these core public health 
services have endeavoured to maintain essential provision, giving our children the 
best start in life, supporting the most vulnerable families and ensuring our children 
are vaccinated from other communicable diseases. Health visitors have continued 
contact with all Trafford families but have targeted additional support towards those 
with higher levels of need.  

Page 36



 

 Equality and Safety Survey - Trafford Council wants to ensure that we are doing 
all we can to keep Trafford residents safe and ensure that they feel safe. The 
Equality and Safety Survey was launched in August 2021 in light of recent concerns 
around women’s safety and to get views from Trafford residents on street safety. 
We will continue to work with our communities to keep them safe from harassment, 
crime, and violence. 

 Community Hubs - Trafford’s successful Community Hubs were set up to support 
people through the coronavirus pandemic, providing a vital lifeline to those who 
were vulnerable and self-isolating. These Community Hubs are a partnership and 
collaborative effort, set up and co-ordinated by Trafford Council, Trafford CCG, 
Trafford Housing Trust, Citizens Advice Trafford, Thrive Trafford, and the committed 
community organisations who operate the Hubs: The Hub in Altrincham, Our Sale 
West, The Hideaway, Age UK Trafford, The Friends of Stretford Public Hall and St 
John’s Centre. The Community Hubs continue to help the most vulnerable in our 
communities providing vital medical and food supplies. Trafford’s Community 
Support lines responded to over 34,000 calls and this work kept over 14,000 
shielding patients safe throughout the pandemic.  

 Wellbeing Services - Trafford’s Healthy Lifestyles offer is made up of 6 different 
organisations to support those who are struggling to change their behaviours and 
help them to make a difference. The services target those communities 
experiencing significant health inequalities. The revised offer begins in April 2020 
and builds on previous work. Collectively the 6 providers focus on people with: 
physical and learning disabilities, those with autism, members of the deaf 
community, those experiencing poor mental health, members of the BME 
community and older people. Through these services Trafford residents within the 
targeted communities have gained access to additional support to improve their 
health and wellbeing, both online and in person.  There have also been community 
groups developed with a health focus and classes have been held in innovate ways 
to engage people to remain active, particularly during lockdown. Lastly, the 
providers have acted as an access point to refer individuals to other services and 
facilitate health screening and checks.  

 
Wigan 
 
Wigan has a strong focus on tackling inequalities. We have launched a Community Wealth 
Building strategy and are developing a comprehensive borough-wide equality approach in 
Wigan. We are also refreshing our community engagement approach. Our community 
wealth building anchor network identifies opportunities where anchors can work together to 
build local wealth and support people who may be suffering economic inequalities locally. 
 
We already have cabinet members for equalities and communities and have strong 
leadership in place. Also, ensuring existing community and civil society infrastructure are 
properly resourced and empowered, ideally at district and neighbourhood level (Wigan’s 
new neighbourhood model). 
 
Our Green Skills Jobs Business approach for Wigan, our employment pathways and our 
Employment and Skills Strategy all have a focus on inequality. Furthermore, our 
Employment and Skills Strategy (Strategic Imperative 4: Daring to Aspire and Achieve) 
sets out our ambitions to address social mobility challenges. As part of our community 
wealth building, we want to see a greater diversity of businesses in which wealth is both 
created and shared between owners, workers and consumers. This will include more 
employee-owned firms, community business and social enterprises. 

Page 37



 

 
Wigan’s Developer Hub brings together the key elements of the development process 
such as: Access to land opportunities, access to finance, support to navigate the planning 
process and addressing training and skills needs. 
 
We are building an approach towards Universal Basic Services through our:  

 Equality Action Plan 

 Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Steering Group 

 New neighbourhood model 

 Deal 2030  

 Employment and Skills Strategy 

 Housing Strategy 

 Skills and Employability Stakeholder Conference (Annual)  

 Wigan Education Partnership (WEP)  

 Skills & Employability Board  

 Primary School Improvement Board  

 Secondary School Improvement Board  
The Wigan Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Operational Group (Internal officers) will 
implement and monitor Wigan’s actions to address the recommendations/suggestions on a 
quarterly basis. Actions resulting from the recommendation report will be included within 
the wider Wigan Equality Action Plan. 
 

Page 38



 

  

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

GREATER MANCHESTER OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEES 
 
 
SUBJECT: Greater Manchester Strategy Refresh 
 
DATE:  12th  November 2021 
 
FROM: Andy Burnham, Mayor of Greater Manchester 
 
 

 

PURPOSE OF REPORT: 
 
To provide the draft text for the refreshed Greater Manchester Strategy and to highlight the 
proposed approach to the development of a detailed delivery plan and its implementation.  
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
Committee Members are requested to: 
 
1. Note, review and provide comment on the draft Greater Manchester Strategy text and 

provide comment on the proposed approach to the development of the supporting 
delivery plan.  

 
 

CONTACT OFFICERS: 
 
 
Simon Nokes, Executive Director, GMCA, Simon.nokes@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk  
 
John Wrathmell. Director of Strategy, Research & Economy, GMCA, 
john.wrathmell@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk 
 
Amy Foots, Head of Implementation GMCA amy.foots@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 

Page 39

Agenda Item 8

mailto:Simon.nokes@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:john.wrathmell@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:amy.foots@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


 

 
 

1. INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND 
 

1.1 The last Greater Manchester Strategy, agreed in 2017, ran for three years. It was due 
to be refreshed in 2020, but the Covid pandemic and delays to local elections meant 
that it was delayed for a year. Over the last year the ‘One Year Living with Covid Plan’ 
has provided a bridge to this year’s refresh, assessing the impacts of Covid and co-
ordinating responses.  

 
 

2. DEVELOPING THE DRAFT STRATEGY  
 

 
2.1 The refresh of the Greater Manchester Strategy (GMS) has been developed following 

several months of engagement from across sectors, partners and communities. The 
draft strategy text annexed builds from the issues and actions in the Living with Covid 
Resilience Plan, and is forms the systemwide responses to the findings and 
recommendations of the Independent Inequalities Commission and the Marmot Build 
Back Fairer report.  
 

2.2 The new strategy places the interconnected challenges of climate change and tackling 
inequalities at its heart, providing the lenses through which Greater Manchester activity 
should be framed, supporting and challenging where policy or delivery is contrary to 
climate and equalities ambitions.   

 

2.3 The draft text positions Greater Manchester to be a greener, fairer and more 
prosperous city-region, delivered through our unique and distinctive neighbourhoods, 
towns and cities, coming together in a vibrant successful Greater Manchester. The 
strategy sets out shared outcomes and commitments to be attained over the period of 
the strategy, and are underpinned by collective ways of working.  

 
 

2.4 The draft strategy provides a ten-year vision and direction of travel for Greater 
Manchester, leading our recovery and renewal as the city-region comes out of the 
pandemic and learns to live with the ongoing implications.   The Strategy will be 
accompanied by a three year Delivery Plan, which will initially capture those specific 
programmes of activity being delivered which support the shared outcomes and 
commitments in the Strategy, with a proposition for the further development of a more 
comprehensive delivery planning process as set out below.  

 
 

2.5 Progress monitoring wrapped around the strategy include a basket of of measures, 
some of which will be monitored, some targeted, and some assurance measures 
around the adoption and embedding of our ways of working.   The performance 
framework will draw on a range of data and intelligence sources, and will included 
community insight, as a mechanism to ensure our interventions are responsive to the 
lived experience of Greater Manchester’s residents.  For the first time, the new 
performance framework will also include a few measures to be targeted at 

Page 40



 

neighbourhood or community level, and will introduce minimum standard approaches – 
below which would trigger a policy review and response. 
 

3. DRAFT STRATEGY  
 

3.1 The refreshed Greater Manchester Strategy adopts the strapline of ‘Good Lives for All’, 
in response and demonstrating the commitment to deliver on the Independent 
Inequalities Commission and Build Back Fairer reports, with Greater Manchester 
seeking to support all of our residents to achieve their version of a good life.   
 

3.2 The strategy has a vision of ‘Greater Manchester: a great place to grow up, get on and 
grow old; a great place to invest, do business, visit and study’.  The strategy sets a 
bold direction of travel for the city-region as Greater Manchester recovers from, and 
lives with the implications of the pandemic, setting Greater Manchester’s determination 
to become greener, fairer, and more prosperous, driven by opportunities in all 
localities.  

 
3.3 Putting the interconnected challenges of climate change and inequalities at its heart, 

the refreshed strategy begins to paint the picture of a greener, more equitable city-
region, and provides the evidence, mechanisms and tools to drive change across the 
conurbation, and face those core challenges head on.  

 
3.4 The areas for action in this Strategy, draw from a range of strategies, plans, delivery 

and interventions; all of which are important to delivering Greater Manchester’s goals. 
This strategy does not seek to reproduce the detail of those plans, but instead draws 
out the areas for actions where unless the system as whole comes together, we 
will not achieve our ambitions. This approach, avoids duplication, and provides the 
necessary flexibility for the development and progression of other plans led by the 
many places and partnerships across the Greater Manchester system. The full 
strategy, and the breadth of supporting strategies, case studies and linked materials 
will be web based once finalized and adopted.  This will provide a home for the vast 
array of supporting materials without which the vision in the GMS will not be achieved.  
A short print version will be available and distributed widely across partners and 
partnerships, including community representatives – all of which are key stakeholders 
in the delivery of this strategy.  
 

3.5 The strategy intentionally moves away from traditional policy ‘silos’ to focus on those 
areas where the whole system needs to come together, behind shared outcomes and 
commitments to achieve the shared vision.  This ‘blurring’ of policy boundaries, allows 
for approaches to policy and intervention design and delivery where all stakeholders 
look outside of their immediate priority and consider the role their activity plays in the 
attainment of wider, shared goals.  The strategy also sets out ways of working, 
recognising the achievement of our shared vision, will depend on how Greater 
Manchester works together as much as what Greater Manchester works on.  

 
3.6 The shared outcomes to be attained focus on the Wellbeing of our people; Vibrant and 

successful enterprise; and, Greater Manchester as a leading city-region in the UK and 
globally. The outcomes to be achieved over the ten years of the strategy, will be 

Page 41



 

delivered through a series of shared commitments, and all driven by the adoption and 
embedding of shared ways of working.  
 

3.7 Progress against the strategy will be monitored through a performance framework.  
The measures to be included in that framework are included in the annexed draft, with 
full performance pages to be included in the web based strategy once finalized. 

 

4. DEVELOPING A COMPREHENSIVE DELIVERY PLANNING 
PROCESS 
 

4.1 An initial delivery plan will be provided to the Combined Authority for their meeting in 
December.  This will include headline activity currently being delivered at GM level, 
which supports the attainment of the shared commitments in the draft strategy.  The 
intention however, is that that initial delivery plan is further developed and a 
comprehensive, systemwide approach to the development and implementation of the 
delivery plan is undertaken.  
 

4.2 An approach is proposed to establish a cross-agency delivery support group.  This 
group would be responsible for reviewing the strategy and performance information 
and providing an ‘independent’ honest view about the progress of the whole GM 
system with the shared outcomes, commitments and ways of working as well as 
suggested areas requiring further action. It will enable the sharing of experiences, best 
practice and supportive challenge and work collaboratively to find the best ways to 
adopt and embed the ways of working as standard in Greater Manchester working. 
This approach will also move the delivery plan further from the focus of just GMCA led 
activities, recognising that the GMS is truly a partnership document, and its delivery 
and success will be attained by collective actions from across organisations, sectors 
and networks.  

 
4.3 The development and implementation of the delivery plan will be undertaken to ensure 

the collective ambitions set in the strategy can be adequately tracked and developed, 
and will ensure the true added value of the GMS can be demonstrated with, and for all 
partners with a collective accountability for its achievement.  

 
4.4 Formal progress reporting of the refreshed GMS will continue to be six monthly via all 

three Overview & Scrutiny Committees, and the GMCA and LEP. 
 
 

5. NEXT STEPS 
 

5.1 Work is continuing to finalise the draft strategy, performance measures and populating 
the initial delivery plan.  
 

5.2 The development of the aboutgreatermanchester.com website is also underway to 
ensure the strategy can be live on the site following adoption, and that the website will 
continue a good representation of linked materials, strategies and case studies from 
day one.  The web content will be further developed and added to over time, and will 

Page 42



 

be over time, able to be the ‘first port of call’ for Greater Manchester led strategies and 
activities.  
 

5.3 A final draft of the refreshed strategy, along with the initial delivery plan and 
performance framework will be presented to the GMCA for views and adoption at their 
meeting on 17th December.  

 

6. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
6.1 The recommendations are set out at the front of this report. 
 
 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

The Greater Manchester Strategy: 
Good Lives for All 

 
Greater Manchester: 

a great place to grow up, get on and grow old;  
a great place to invest, do business, visit and study. 

 

 

Contents 
Introduction  
Context 
A Greener Greater Manchester:  Responding to the Climate Emergency  
A Fairer Greater Manchester: Addressing Inequalities and improving wellbeing for all  
A Prosperous Greater Manchester: Driving local and UK growth 
10 distinctive places: 1 unique GM  
The Greater Manchester Approach – our shared outcomes & commitments  
Measuring our progress  
Our ways of working  
 

 
Introduction  
 
In recent times Greater Manchester has seen unprecedent growth, development and 
opportunity for our people and places. A place of pioneers, innovation, beautiful 
scenery and home to many thriving and diverse communities.  In response to the 
pandemic we have come together as a mature and honest system wide partnership 
to respond to the challenges faced, which tested our responses, our ability to adapt 
and the needs of our communities, places and businesses.   As we move forward 
from the pandemic, Greater Manchester is determined to become greener, fairer, 
more prosperous, driven by opportunities in all localities across the 
conurbation.  
 
This Strategy is Greater Manchester’s plan for all the communities, neighbourhoods, 
towns and cities which make up our city-region.  It is our plan for recovery and 
renewal following the pandemic. It provides a clear direction of travel for our city-
region, focused on those areas where all parts of the conurbation need to work 
together to achieve our shared vision of Good Lives for All: that Greater 
Manchester is a great place to grow up, get on and grow old; a great place to 
invest, do business, visit and study. And, critically, it sets how we will work 
together to achieve that goal. 
 
The previous Greater Manchester Strategy [INSERT LINK] set bold challenges and 
ambitions under ten thematic blocks.  Throughout its implementation progress 
against those objectives and actions was regularly reported and high level outcome 

Page 45



 

2 
 

dashboards updated to monitor progress. As we move forward from that strategy to 
this, what has become clear is if we are to effectively address today’s most pressing 
issues for our city-region – responding to the interconnected challenges of 
climate change and inequality – we need to take a different approach. We need to 
delve below the averages, we need to act quickly on decarbonisation, and we need 
to challenge ourselves to ensure we are responding to the issues that are currently 
holding us back and preventing everyone in Greater Manchester living a good life.  
This refreshed Greater Manchester Strategy therefore puts the climate and equalities 
agendas at its heart.  These interconnected and overarching agendas will frame our 
city-region priorities; lenses through which all of our activity will be developed, tested 
and progressed. But whilst the challenges our city-region faces are real and 
significant, Greater Manchester also has many internationally significant 
opportunities and so tackling these challenges will be supported by: a) the ambition 
to become more prosperous, capitalising on our significant world leading strengths 
to drive economic development with equality of access for all; and b) driving 
opportunities in all of our places across Greater Manchester.  
 
This Strategy is a blueprint to corral and energise our partnerships, galvanise 
relationships, working across agencies and sectors, and provide a platform for the 
further development and establishment of new relationships, opportunities and ways 
of working.  The Strategy has been developed with, and agreed by, all ten councils, 
the Mayor, the NHS, Transport for Greater Manchester, Greater Manchester Police 
and Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Service, with support from the Local 
Enterprise Partnership, businesses, universities, voluntary, community and social 
enterprise organisations, and members of the Greater Manchester Equality Panels 
and GM Equality Alliance. 
 
 
Context  
 
Greater Manchester’s population of 2.8million is growing and getter older.  The 
Independent Prosperity Review confirmed that the forecast 13 per cent growth in the 
local population by 2040 only includes a five per cent increase in the working age 
population, compared to 50 per cent growth for over-65s and 100 per cent growth for 
over-85s. The growth in the number of people in mid and later life represents the 
biggest demographic shift facing the city-region over the next few decades and will 
impact on all areas of life from health, to work, to education/reskilling, to culture,  
leisure and travel.  Greater Manchester, with the wider UK, faces major challenges to 
improving population health and capitalising on the opportunities created by 
demographic change, including the need for significant innovation to transform the 
health and social care system. In deprived areas, enabling an increase in healthy life 
expectancy is even more of a challenge, and poor population health (compared to 
the UK average) is also a very significant barrier to economic growth and 
productivity. 
 
This Strategy sets out our clear outcomes and commitments [INSERT link to 
outcomes & commitments table, (designed version being used in short print 
version??) ] to be delivered. We will use these to further our relationship with central 
Government, investors and collaborators, providing a platform for our future and how 
we would like to work in partnership to achieve our shared vision.  Through this 

Page 46



 

3 
 

Strategy we provide a clear line of sight between our priorities, the ways we work, 
and how we deliver to support residents, places and businesses in meeting their 
needs, and ensuring our services are responsive to the lived experience of Greater 
Manchester’s citizens.  We will maximise opportunities and be responsive to fiscal 
events, ensuring available resources, flexibilities and accountabilities are aligned and 
delivering in support of our vision. 
 
This is Greater Manchester’s fifth Strategy and builds on the strong foundations of 
cooperation within the conurbation from commissioning of the Manchester 
Independent Economic Review which underpinned the first Greater Manchester 
Strategy in 2009, through to the Independent Prosperity Review and One Year On 
Report, Local Industrial Strategy and Unified Public Services White Paper, the 
Independent Inequalities Commission Report and Build Back Fairer Report. [INSERT 
LINKS] 
 
The Strategy was due to be refreshed in 2020, however this was delayed for a year 
due to the Covid pandemic which threw Greater Manchester into an unprecedented 
situation. The challenges posed by the pandemic necessitated a collaborative 
approach to working at a scale not seen before across sectors and agencies across 
Greater Manchester, and ultimately in the development of the One Year Living with 
Covid Resilience Plan [INSERT LINK]. The Plan has provided a bridge to this new 
Greater Manchester Strategy, assessing the impacts of Covid and co-ordinating 
responses, as well as providing a framework and clear set of priorities support the 
effective delivery of services and support as the city-region recovers from, and lives 
with Covid. 
 
Recovery from the pandemic will be tough. Our people and places have been 
disproportionately impacted, and the effects and impacts of that will be persistent 
and far reaching.  We want to ensure all our people are supported to live a good life 
in Greater Manchester, through all ages and stages in their lives.  For example, we 
will support our children and young people to be good learners, with any necessary 
family help, education recovery, wrap-around provision and health and wellbeing 
needs being met.    
 
The scale of the challenge to recover to our pre-pandemic position, and then go 
further, cannot be underestimated.  Our services are under strain, our people have 
suffered more than other places, and our need for investment to support a greener 
and more equitable recovery is vast. We will capitalise on the opportunities available 
to us, drawing on our considerable assets across the city-region, and actively seek to 
develop new opportunities for the benefit of all our people and places, clear on the 
scale of the challenge ahead.   
 
The pandemic has highlighted the importance of strong communities who take care 
of each other and of accessible, attractive and safe public spaces and streets. We 
will build on this and as our city and town centres and high streets start to recover, 
we will actively develop innovative and alternative models that will reinvigorate our 
much loved shared spaces, ensuring they are accessible, reflective of and inviting 
and safe for all residents and visitors. Our town centres and high streets will once 
again become the engines of growth for our city-region. 
 

Page 47



 

4 
 

Our Strategy sets the direction of travel for Greater Manchester for the coming 
decade.  This medium-term timescale will allow for stability and clearly set a course 
for the city-region’s recovery, renewal and progression following the pandemic, in 
line with the economic vision developed by the LEP and adopted by the Combined 
Authority.   The Strategy is accompanied by a three-year delivery plan which will be 
monitored, revised and reviewed on a regular basis. The delivery plan will capture 
the headline actions which are being delivered in collaboration across the Greater 
Manchester system in support of the achievement of the shared outcomes and 
commitments in this ten-year strategy. The delivery plan will be responsive to 
changing circumstances, ensuring opportunities can be capitalised upon, and 
challenges are understood, and appropriate responses put in place. Building from 
the learning and experience of the Greater Manchester systemwide pandemic 
response, this strategy, and the supporting delivery plan, provide for dynamic and 
flexible responses as circumstances and needs change, but still moving towards our 
collective end goals.   
 
We were already on a digital journey, which has been accelerated by the pandemic.  
As part of our recovery and the progression of Greater Manchester, we will continue 
to embrace digital technologies and deliver ambitious digital infrastructure plans for 
our city-region, ensuring our people and places can make the digital shifts required 
to enable the attainment of our collective ambitions.  Through this Strategy we will 
realise the myriad of opportunities a digitally fuelled city-region provides, and put our 
residents at the heart of our plans and set our ambition to be a world leading digital 
city-region, recognised globally for its digital innovation.  
 
Across Greater Manchester partnerships we are collectively delivering a series of 
detailed, plans and activities. It is not therefore the intention of this strategy to 
reproduce that detail, but to frame how individual elements come together, 
focusing on those things where we need systemwide action to drive the 
changes we all want to see, to support the attainment of our shared vision of good 
lives for all.  
 
Driven by our joined up and collaborative policy and intervention approaches, we can 
level up our city-region. Greater Manchester has a proven track record regarding 
devolved powers, funding and delivery.  Through this Strategy we will go further:-  
we will ensure all of our people have access to safe, decent and affordable transport; 
we will accelerate our plans towards our carbon neutral ambition; we will create 
greener homes and communities; and better jobs and skills.  
[Insert link to GM’s Levelling Up Deal (A)] 
 
 

A Greener Greater Manchester:  Responding to the Climate 
Emergency 
 
The Climate challenge 
 
In Greater Manchester we are determined to act decisively, rapidly and 
effectively in response to the climate emergency, and for us to be ahead of the 
curve; not left behind.  

Page 48



 

5 
 

 
Climate change is the single biggest threat that the world faces with human activities 
the main cause. The impacts of climate change are already here today in the 
increased frequency and magnitude of extreme weather events from heatwaves, 
droughts, flooding, winter storms, hurricanes and wildfires. Environmental challenges 
threaten the health and prosperity of our city-region. If we don’t all act now, these will 
only worsen and the consequences will be felt even further by future generations.  
Their homes will be at greater risk of flooding, heat stress will be a greater risk to 
their health, water shortages will be more common and their natural environment – 
green spaces, soils and species will be at greater threat.  The world will be a less 
safe place to live – coastal area areas will flood, food supply will be less secure, 
more species will become extinct and people could be driven into migration and 
conflict.  
 
Whilst the climate emergency affects us all, it is the most vulnerable and 
disadvantaged communities who are often the least responsible for causing climate 
change who are experiencing the worst impacts be that at a global scale in 
developing countries, or closer to home in our deprived communities. These 
communities often have the least capacity to adapt and respond. We already see 
poorer access to high quality green spaces, and biodiversity under threat. In our 
responses to the climate emergency, we will ensure across Greater Manchester that 
the costs of decarbonisation do not fall on those who can least afford it.  We will 
ensure our responses drive our ambitions to tackle inequalities. We need to live 
differently to tackle climate change addressing those activities which impact 
negatively on our climate, whilst recognising that we live in a global ecosystem 
where activity is interlinked, and it is incumbent upon us all to address the climate 
emergency and in so doing tackle the inequalities which exist. 
 
As we respond to the climate emergency, we will ensure that those most vulnerable 
in our society benefit from innovation, investment and development.  Delivering on 
Greater Manchester’s carbon neutrality ambition will drive levelling up across our 
city-region, providing opportunities for people and places, whilst also tackling issues 
such as fuel poverty.  
 
A carbon neutral Greater Manchester  
 
Greater Manchester has already adopted a science-based target which gives us a 
total carbon budget and a carbon neutral target date. Whilst the carbon neutral target 
date of 2038 makes clear our overall ambition and vision for Greater Manchester, the 
rate at which we deliver decarbonization is key and our five-yearly carbon budgets 
help us track our progress. Urgent action is needed, together with innovation that will 
accelerate future change. It is within our gift to start now, using the tools and 
technologies already available to use but to achieve our challenging ambitions we 
also need to stimulate innovation – in new technologies and processes, in new 
business models and in how we are all engaged, educated and upskilled.  We 
recognise moving quickly on decarbonisation holds the key to enabling better jobs, 
better homes, better transport and supporting good lives for all. This involves us 
working in different ways and is why we launched the UK’s first regional Clean 
Growth Mission for Greater Manchester [INSERT LINK] mobilising everyone 
around our mission for a carbon neutral city-region and breaking down the barriers 

Page 49



 

6 
 

between traditional sectors and groups. The Mission focuses both on rapidly 
reducing our carbon emissions and stimulating business innovation to achieve our 
goals. Our ways of working in support of the attainment of the Clean Growth Mission, 
enables the adoption of approaches that are reflective of the links, complexities and 
roles of individuals, agencies and networks in delivering the agreed aims.  The 
approach focuses on problem-solving challenges facing society, which require many 
different sectors’ involvement to solve.  
 
This strategy intentionally removes priorities around traditional ‘policy silos’, enabling 
the whole of the system to come together in support of the attainment of our 
collective goals, responsive to the climate emergency and all working together to 
achieve carbon neutrality to the benefit of all our people and places.  
[Insert link to case study decarbonising our city region & delivering social value & 
inclusive growth (b) 
Vision for a low carbon GM E]  
 
Capitalising on opportunities of moving to carbon neutrality 
 
While responding to the climate challenges our city-region faces, we will also ensure 
we develop and capitalise on opportunities presented as we move towards carbon 
neutrality by harnessing the potential for delivering economic, social and 
environmental benefits together. Delivery of this Strategy will ensure our activities 
are aligned and supportive of our carbon neutrality goal, with activities which are not 
conflicting or contrary to its attainment. This will involve whole system responses and 
collaborative approaches and accountabilities, which span across sectors,  
partnerships and agencies, even down to roles for individual citizens.  This 
development will not always be straight forward, and will involve trade-offs, and an 
understanding of the widest possible impacts arising from our proposals, and will 
involve taking decisions with an evidenced understanding of the implications of our 
actions.  
 
We are building ways to develop our understanding of the environmental impacts of 
our decisions and actions. Embedding understanding and assessment of possible 
impacts early in our policy planning and development activities will enable us to 
reconsider decisions that take us further away from our carbon neutral ambition, 
support the development of more environmentally friendly propositions, enable 
mitigating actions to be developed and delivered, and expand co-benefits, in addition 
to driving understanding and ownership that it is the responsibility of each and 
everyone of us to be responsive to, and contribute positively towards, our carbon 
neutral ambition. The development and adoption of a decision support tool, currently 
used for Combined Authority decision making, but with the intention of wider 
partnership adoption, is a significant step towards enabling this assessment and 
support in the development of policies and delivery which positively support our 
carbon neutrality target.  [Insert link to Decision support tool information in ways of 
working]  
[Insert link to case study – GMFRS taking lead on responding to climate change – 
use long version C ] 
 
We will address the challenges posed by climate change head on; our collective 
ambitions around decarbonising our city-region are unprecedented, but we are 

Page 50



 

7 
 

already translating that ambition into reality, not least via the Five-Year Environment 
Plan [ADD LINK], and will continue to drive this through the delivery of this Strategy’s 
actions and our ways of working. We recognise the scale of the challenge we have 
set ourselves, for example in decarbonising the transport network across Greater 
Manchester, but embark on such a dramatic transformation in the knowledge that 
only intervention at pace and scale, and with the right support from Government, will 
be sufficient to meet the environmental challenges posed And that such change will 
bring a range of benefits and opportunities to the people of Greater Manchester.    
 
The attainment of our ambitious targets will require a transformation of the energy 
system and changes to the way we use and generate energy.  In Greater 
Manchester we need to see a rapid increase to the use of public transport, active 
travel and low emission vehicles, our homes and buildings need to be far more 
energy efficient, we will need to drive up the use of solar photovoltaic energy, low 
carbon heat will be generated locally, and our businesses will need to adopt more 
circular modes of operation.  
[Insert link to case study – GM Planning for a carbon neutral Greater Manchester 
public sector estate D]  
 
Climate change is already impacting on our city-region, with more frequent and 
severe flood events being seen. These impacts will worsen in the future, given the 
projections of the level of climate change already caused and unavoidable due to 
emissions already in the atmosphere. Understanding the significant impacts this will 
have on our economy, society and natural environment, forms the basis of Greater 
Manchester’s Resilience Strategy. In seeking to make Greater Manchester one of 
the most resilient places that strategy recognises the role of the natural environment 
and utilises nature-based solutions to reduce flood risk or creating better green 
spaces for nature, biodiversity and people.  

 

A Fairer Greater Manchester: Addressing Inequalities and 
improving wellbeing for all  
 
Inequality in Greater Manchester  
 
Greater Manchester is a place which believes everyone should reach their potential. 
Our city-region has a long history of inclusion, welcoming migrants from the industrial 
revolution to the present day, championing social justice and human rights, and 
building diverse, cohesive and resilient communities. 
 
However, like all global cities, inequalities exist and persist throughout our society, 
between Greater Manchester and the rest of the country, between localities in 
Greater Manchester, within localities and across specific groups within our 
population.  The inequalities experienced by Greater Manchester’s communities are 
entrenched, systemic and intergenerational. This Strategy seeks to respond to all 
evidenced inequalities, recognising the individual identities that experience 
disproportionate discrimination, alongside the role of place and poverty. If we 
are to achieve equity, we must first understand and respond to the interconnected, 
complex, and personal causes of inequality. 
 

Page 51



 

8 
 

The development of this Strategy has been shaped and informed by the Independent 
Inequalities’ Commission and the Build Back Fairer Review [INSERT LINK], which 
have provided expert insight and intelligence, examining root causes, and sought to 
quantify the scale of the inequalities challenge in Greater Manchester, and propose 
potential solutions. The Independent Inequalities’ Commission highlights that 
historical and contemporary systemic and institutionalised discrimination and 
prejudice of people experiencing racial inequalities has resulted in entrenched 
inequalities, rooted in long-standing structural issues of poverty and disadvantage.   
 
The impacts of the pandemic have been unequal and unfair, highlighting and 
deepening inequalities which have existed for many years, and also created new 
inequalities.  Covid mortality rates are 25% higher in Greater Manchester than in 
England as a whole, and are highly unequal within the city-region, with mortality 
rates 2.3 times higher in the most deprived areas, compared to the least deprived.  
Inequality is damaging the lives of our people, both here and now and in the long-
term, with widely varying crime, health, education, skills and economic outcomes for 
our residents. The evidence and experience from the pandemic, has provided us 
with an expanded view; to consider the interaction and interdependencies of 
inequality and for example, housing, employment, environment, education and skills, 
and transport.  

 
These inequalities are unacceptable. We need to collectively understand, 
acknowledge and confront entrenched prejudices, discrimination and injustices, 
including structural racism, that continue to hold back our diverse communities.  We 
need to tackle the root causes of inequalities in the economic system, in the way 
public services work, and in deep-rooted discrimination of all kinds, including 

structural racism, gender bias, transphobia, ageism, homophobia, or because of their 
disability, faith, belief, or other protected characteristic. The delivery of this Strategy 
will drive ways of working that ensure our policies and services are responsive to the 
needs of our diverse communities. Our understanding of the challenges will be 
informed by the voice of lived experience, and our communities will be actively 
involved in shaping and delivering the solutions. 
 
An equitable Greater Manchester  
 
In Greater Manchester we want to level up to support a more equitable society, with 
all people able to access the opportunities to progress, develop and flourish in their 
lives. We recognise that we are not all starting from the same point. The impact of 
systemic and entrenched inequality and discrimination affects communities in 
different ways.   It is not a level playing field for many, and we will seek to 
redress that imbalance head on. Our responses need to be shaped by our 
understanding of the systemic challenges people face, and that the negative impacts 
of discrimination and disadvantage has on people’s lives. 
 
Our communities experience of life in Greater Manchester are vastly different, for 
example, 5% of our population experiences 25% of all crime. Our schools 
experienced greater disruption during the pandemic, with more class closures than in 
other parts of the UK, and lasting impacts continue such as low return to school 
rates, and the need for extensive additional support in many of our education 
settings. In order to achieve our vision of good lives for all, Greater Manchester 

Page 52



 

9 
 

needs to work deliberately and collaboratively, going beyond meeting basic needs, 
empowering marginalised groups, and ensuring our people can participate fully in 
society with affordable, decent homes in safe communities, access via sustainable 
transport to good education, skills provision and employment opportunities, as well 
as cultural and leisure facilities. By taking a person-centred approach, understanding 
individuals needs and requirements, we can support all of our people to have a good 
life in Greater Manchester.   
 
[Insert link to case study GBV Strategy F, YPG case study R ]  
[Insert link to inequalities evidence base] 
 
Despite the significant negative impacts resulting from the pandemic, throughout the 
response we also saw many positives; improvements in ways of working and shifts 
in people’s attitudes and behaviours.  It is the role of this Strategy to support the 
further embedding and the continuation of positive improvements and to continue to 
develop our actions and responses to mitigate any ongoing negative effects.   
 
Positive improvements around people’s sense of belonging, engagement with their 
local communities and foundational social infrastructure such as, use of local 
centres, culture and leisure spaces and facilities should all be maintained. Early 
signs suggest that they have played a key role in in the mutual aid response to the 
pandemic and are critical for building levels of community activity that can make for 
example, social prescribing and preventative activity viable.  
 
In delivering this Strategy we will ensure easy access for all of our residents to high 
quality culture, outdoor and leisure opportunities, recognising the significant benefits 
this can bring for health and wellbeing. Similarly, it will be important to build on the 
rapid acceleration in digital communication and access to services which has 
enabled more people to work from home and to access a wide range of opportunities 
without the need to travel.   
 
 
The time for change 
 
The consequences of inequalities persist and prevail throughout our society.  The 
case for change has been made, and we must through our collective actions, be 
directly responsive to the challenges our people face in trying to enable everyone to 
be able to get on and succeed. The full human impact of disadvantage and poverty is 
impossible to estimate; nobody can measure adequately the cost in physical or 
emotional suffering. Research has however demonstrated the financial costs of child 
poverty costs, at an estimated £38 billion per year.  Investment in prevention is the 
only long-term sustainable solution to society bearing these costs, and for the 
individuals and families affected to be supported to see a change in the future 
 
The intersecting nature of inequality, the prejudice our people face, and the impacts 
and influences this has on all aspects of our community’s lives will shape and inform 
our collective responses to redressing that balance. In the design and delivery of our 
responses we will seek to build in more preventative measures, responsive to the 
challenges our people face. We are determined to tackle the discrimination and 
disadvantage people experience because of marginalisation of their identities, along 

Page 53



 

10 
 

with the geographic inequalities which persist across our city-region. Through this 
Strategy we seek to ensure we can develop better policy and system actions, 
responsive to community needs and driving out processes and practices which 
perpetuate the inequality in our society.  
 

 
Using more effective prioritisation and targeting of resources, Greater Manchester, 
through this Strategy, has the opportunity to reshape our future, levelling up,  
with greater inclusivity and equity, for all of our communities, driving 
prosperity in all our neighbourhoods, towns and cities. We must focus our 
understanding and interventions on those in society that do not achieve positive 
outcomes, and must not be blinded by averages.  We will use all the levers at our 
disposal, including equalities legislation, the Socio Economic Duty and the Public 
Sector Equalities Duty to ensure we are giving full consideration to and developing 
appropriate responses to equality and access issues in the design and delivery of 
our programmes, plans and policies. We will strive to ensure our workforces and 
leadership are reflective of our communities, and that any individuals opportunities 
are not limited as result of discrimination due to their identity.  
[Link to Leadership and Equality Ways of Working] 
 
For the first time, this Greater Manchester Strategy includes new targeting 
approaches, with equalities and community measures at its heart. [Link to progress 
monitoring pages] The previous targeting approach used high level city-region 
average measures, as our framework for monitoring progress. As we delivered that 
Strategy it became apparent a more nuanced approach to our evidence base and 
targeting was required if we are to effectively respond to the disadvantage and 
inequalities experienced by some of our communities. This Strategy introduces the 
use of inequalities monitoring minimum standards, responsive to place inequalities 
(measured through neighbourhood floor targets), and demographic inequalities 
(measured through variation in outcome by population groups).  This approach will 
inject a new level of focus within some of the priority measures, and demonstrates a 
way of working and commitment to some issues so fundamental to the overall 
success of Greater Manchester, that we collectively agree no places shall fall below 
a given minimum standard.  [Link to Employing robust quantitative and qualitative 
evidence-based approaches Ways of Working] We will also seek to align activities 
and resources to ensure the appropriate shift in services and support are possible to 
support those people and places which need it most.  
 
Through this Strategy we want to ensure everyone has access to the basics for a 
good life, no matter who they are or where they live, and resources are targeted at 
the people and places who face the greatest barriers to living good lives knowing 
that when inequalities are reduced, everyone will benefit. 
 
 

A Prosperous Greater Manchester: Driving local and UK 
growth 
 
A new economic vision 
 

Page 54



 

11 
 

Despite the issues we face, Greater Manchester has significant economic, social and 
environmental strengths which we will capitalise on in order to tackle the challenges 
of climate change and inequalities.  
 
This Strategy provides for Greater Manchester to respond to the challenges we face, 
recognising the economic opportunities created through an effective set of 
responses to climate change and inequalities.  Following the pandemic, we have 
taken advantage of the opportunity to reappraise our economic priorities.  We have 
developed a bold Economic Vision [Add link], enabling Greater Manchester to lead 
the local and UK economic recovery and development.  Based on the Independent 
Prosperity Review [LINK] evidence base, the Economic Vision charts a new 
economic course, capitalising on Greater Manchester’s assets and the opportunities 
for economic growth through the regional centre and our growth locations, 
recognising our city-region can, and needs to be, at the heart of driving social and 
economic innovation, and as it does so, with the renewed focus of people and planet 
first.    
 
We recognise that the despite our best efforts, the previous model of growth hasn’t 
benefited all of our people and places. The Independent Prosperity Review found 
that health inequalities in Greater Manchester were holding back productivity and 
refuted the idea of a trade-off between inequality and growth – greater equality 
actually leads to more growth.  We therefore need to ensure more of our people to 
contribute to, and benefit from the economic development of the city-region.  
Through this Strategy, and driven by the Economic Vision and Independent 
Prosperity Review, we will adopt new approaches to innovation, in order to diversify 
the business base, transform ways of working, build vibrant places, create future 
resilience and support pathways to work and tackle social issues.  As our economy 
rebuilds and recovers from the pandemic, we will support our businesses to grow 
and develop, including recognising the key role in a successful business played by a 
skilled and talented workforce and thus the importance of ensuring that our 
education and skills provision is focussed on business need, which in tandem 
ensures that employment opportunities are accessible for our residents – as they 
have the skills required by employers.  Additionally, we will embrace the renewed 
understanding and recognition by some of businesses’ purpose being beyond 
growing shareholder value, and with significant power to impact positively on their 
communities. And we will radically improve and integrate our walking, cycling and 
public transport network (the Bee Network), to ensure that opportunities are 
accessible to all, and that all our communities can benefit and prosperity can be 
better shared, levelling up our city-region.  
 
We will work with our diverse business base to attract new investment, drive 
innovation and developments across sectors and will continue to develop 
collaborative, positive partnerships with our business community to drive prosperity 
throughout the city-region, supported by our five universities, providing research and 
academic excellence. 
[Insert Innovation GM case study T, and GM LEM S] 
 
Developing our frontier sectors 
 

Page 55



 

12 
 

Evidenced by the Independent Prosperity Review and our Local Industrial Strategy 
[insert LINK] Greater Manchester has assets, research excellence (driven by a world 
class higher education sector), talent and innovation potential within the frontier 
sectors of: 

 clean growth: UK’s first city-region Clean Growth Mission 

 health innovation: largest life sciences cluster outside South East England 
with high potential opportunities in diagnostics and healthy ageing 

 advanced materials and manufacturing: home of graphene and 
complimentary advanced manufacturing base 

 digital, creative and media: significant clusters in cyber security, 
broadcasting, culture, content creation and media 
 

A focus on our frontier sectors has the potential to address some of society’s biggest 
challenges including achieving net zero carbon emissions and addressing the 
challenges of an ageing population. But we also want to use these strengths to 
power our economy, the Northern economy, and be at the heart of the UK’s global 
competitiveness, creating the jobs of the future. Driving the growth of these sectors 
through increased R&D and a culture of creative innovation across our wider 
business base will help to increase investment and productivity, and create future 
jobs, both locally and for the UK. Ensuring our approach to industry and investment 
translates into growth in all parts of Greater Manchester going forward is central to 
this Greater Manchester Strategy.    
 
Our collective ambition for Greater Manchester to achieve carbon neutral living by 
2038 provides significant opportunity to deliver substantial carbon reductions 
(including through industrial decarbonisation), environmental and health benefits for 
our people, whilst also creating new green industries and jobs that capitalise on our 
outstanding research assets and large low carbon goods and services sector. We are 

leading by example with rapid and ambitious delivery retrofitting our public estate buildings.  

 
In health innovation, Greater Manchester is well placed to use its research and 
industry strengths, including ageing research, to respond to the needs of our 
communities, support healthy ageing, lead health and care system transformation, 
and create nationally significant economic opportunities around health institutes and 
their suppliers that are spread across the city-region. 
[Insert Health innovation case study G]  
 
Advanced materials and manufacturing have the ability to drive an industrial 
renaissance, through the successful commercialisation, adoption and diffusion of 
revolutionary and advanced materials. Greater Manchester is not only the home of 
graphene and other revolutionary 2D and advanced materials, but also has a 
complementary and highly productive advanced manufacturing base, which is 
clustered throughout the conurbation. By working across Greater Manchester we will 
build on these strengths, supporting the city-region to become one of the world’s 
leading regions for innovative firms to experiment with, develop and adopt advanced 
materials and drive advanced manufacturing.   
 
Greater Manchester has the largest digital and creative sectors outside of the 
South East.  We will capitalise on this potential to create internationally significant 
clusters in broadcasting, culture, content creation and media, e-commerce and cyber 

Page 56



 

13 
 

security, and drive activity in new sub-sectors, where we have the potential to be 
lead industries of the future. Through our investments, research, talent programmes 
and wider activities we will ensure Greater Manchester residents have the necessary 
skills and expertise to access the significant opportunities created by the further 
development and growth of this sector, and in delivering this, seeking to drive out 
digital exclusion, ensuring all sectors of our society have digital access and can 
benefit from the realisation of opportunities.  
 
We will support enterprising individuals to start, scale and grow new businesses 
across our city region, recognising the significant role creative businesses can have 
on the vibrancy of our places, providing good employment and harnessing the 
economic potential of our people. 
 
Home to GCHQ’s strategic base in the North and the fastest growing digital security 
ecosystem in the UK, Greater Manchester’s ambition is to become the home for UK 
digital security. The Government’s announcement that National Cyber Force will be 
in the North West strengthens this, with growing academic strengths, investment in 
research and innovation paralleled with sector expansion, provides a strong base. 
 
 
A global gateway  
 
Greater Manchester is the global gateway to the north of England, at the centre of 
the Northern Powerhouse with assets, particularly in our four frontier sectors, 
important to UK’s global standing, driving innovation and technological change in 
solving some of the world’s biggest social and environmental challenges.   
 
[Insert text on role and future of the Airport – GM as an international gateway, driver 
of economic growth, and role of airport and flights in decarbonising] 
 
Our ability to connect with the world is central to improving our productivity, 
promoting our strengths, attracting investment and talent, driving international 
research collaboration and increasing our export propensity. Following the 
pandemic, maintaining and developing our international links will be vital to the city-
region’s prosperity but our connections with other places will also support us to 
address shared challenges including climate change and inequality.   
 
Utilising our key assets, and further building on the Greater Manchester brand, we 
will continue to develop and forge international partnerships, trade relationships, 
research activity and ensure we maintain our statues as a globally desirable 
destination of choice. This will enable business to develop and grow sustainably, 
facilitate sharing of knowledge and learning from our international partners, as well 
as ensuring that we attract the best talent.   Businesses that trade internationally are 
more resilient, competitive and employ more people than those that do not and whilst 
international trade makes a significant contribution to our economy, relatively it is 
significantly less than that for the wider UK, highlighting an important opportunity for 
us. 
 
Importantly, Greater Manchester’s internationally recognised leisure, sport and 
cultural offer continues to provide significant opportunities for our city-regions global 

Page 57



 

14 
 

reputation and growth prospects not only in directly attracting visitors but also in, 
generating significant media coverage which affects investor/business 
relocator/student perceptions of Greater Manchester. Our communities and residents 
also benefit with easy access to some of the UK and world’s best visitor locations 
and attractions and facilities. [Insert global reach GM case study H] 
 
Furthermore, we recognise that we are part of a global community and we cannot 
adopt a siloed inward approach, particularly when addressing key issues such as 
climate change and inequality. We are therefore also working with our Diaspora 
Communities, such as Bangladesh and Pakistan, on projects which give back to the 
communities that have given so much to Greater Manchester. For example, via the 
Bangladesh Partnership Board. 
 
 
The foundational economy  
 
To drive prosperity, we want to ensure there are economic opportunities for all.  Our 
focus is therefore not just on our frontier sectors, but also to develop the foundational 
economy within Greater Manchester, to support the creation of higher paid and 
better jobs.  
 
The foundational economy supplies everyday but essential goods and services, 
ensuring the effective functioning of society and the economy, and in Greater 
Manchester we are significantly more dependent on employment in the foundational 
economy than the rest of the UK. The true value of many of our foundational 
economy sectors and workers, has never been more apparent than during the 
pandemic response, with many foundational economy sectors employing key 
workers, providing the essential services needed through the emergency response 
and beyond. The value of these economies will also be essential to the recovery of 
our town centres, cities and high streets, not least the significant foundational jobs in 
the night economy, and hospitality specifically, which needs our support to grow 
back better, stronger and fairer. 
[Insert link to case study foundational economy J] 
 
As we drive economic prosperity we will continue to celebrate, support and develop 
new economic models. The social economy currently makes up around 20% of the 
economy and the sector is important in addressing inequalities with The Kruger 
Report [REF] highlighting that 30% of jobs created in the poorest neighbourhoods 
are in social enterprises. As part of our wider programme of activity focused on 
foundational economy sectors, we will support the role of social enterprises, co-ops 
and ‘non-extractive’ business which can provide wider opportunities for Greater 
Manchester’s people and places, enabling a different pattern of wealth distribution, to 
the greater benefit of more of our society, including Community Wealth Building, 
taking a people-centred, co-designed approach to economic development, which 
redirects a greater shared of wealth back into local places and benefitting local 
people.  
[Insert link to social enterprise case study I] 
 
It is our ambition to fix many of the issues prevalent across much of the foundational 
economy recognising this will provide opportunities for progression, development, 

Page 58



 

15 
 

pay increases and improved working practices for many Greater Manchester 
workers, driving prosperity, sustainability and stability into these much needed jobs 
and sectors within our economy. Lifelong learning is fundamental to this; people 
need opportunities to retrain and change careers throughout their life, particularly in 
the face of the climate crisis and need to transition away from carbon intensive 
activity.    
[Insert link to sectoral progression routes case study for foundational economy] 
 
We want to ensure all our people have access to good work, or the right support if 
they are not able to work.  People should have opportunities to progress, and 
learning from the pandemic, working conditions which are flexible and responsive to 
workers and business needs. We have seen the significant role of paid and unpaid 
carers throughout the pandemic, responding to the needs of many of the most 
vulnerable in our society.  Recognising we are an ageing population, we need to 
ensure all carers are supported and enabled to access opportunities, are able to 
progress and that our employment system can be responsive to business needs but 
also allow for individual caring responsibilities.  
 
Greater Manchester’s Good Employment Charter has defined the seven 
characteristics of Good Employment and is providing a framework to support an ever 
increasing number of Greater Manchester employers to provide better opportunities 
for our workers to grow, develop and thrive in the workplace, and drive economic 
prosperity. [LINK to ways of working enabler] 
 

10 distinctive places: 1 unique GM  
 
Greater Manchester  
 
As a conurbation, our place is unique – a complex and interconnected city-region.  
Our ten localities are diverse, home to distinctive neighbourhoods, towns, cities, and 
the regional centre, each with its own identity, its own characteristics and its own 
community and cultures. With a fantastic quality of life offer, across the conurbation 
we have some of the most desirable places to live, work and visit in the UK, and our 
residents across the city-region enjoy the benefits of the coming together of all of our 
places into a successful and vibrant conurbation, providing opportunities unique to 
our place.  
[Insert map of GM showing LA boundaries and local centres]  
 
Greater Manchester works because of the connection between our places, and the 
partnerships and collaboration which takes place at city-region level occur because it 
makes sense to come together, because the activities we embark on together add 
value, because the scale, the depth and the breadth provided by a city-region as 
unique as ours, is simply greater than the sum of its parts. Locating important 
activities (including healthcare, education, training and skills, employment, culture 
and leisure activities) in accessible locations and strengthening the sustainable 
transport connections to them, for example through the Bee Network roll-out, has the 
potential to radically strengthen communities and the city-region as a whole. 
[Insert link to Living Well at Home case K ] 
 

Page 59



 

16 
 

The pandemic has here, like elsewhere, resulted in different uses of our places, 
presenting challenges for some, but also opportunity for optimism, growth and 
development. Our place priorities and place-based working approaches, 
underpinned by the strength of partnerships and networks working across different 
geographical boundaries, provide extensive opportunities for all of our places and 
communities to flourish, within the context of a safe, vibrant and successful city-
region capitalising on the renewed connection our residents have with their local 
areas. With our renewed focus and understanding of the role of places, local centres 
and access to culture and leisure opportunities, our activities are being reorientated 
to ensure these benefits are felt by all.  For example, the work to enrich the lives of 
our children and young people includes the creation and promotion of more 
opportunities to take part in cultural, sporting and other leisure activities, and 
increasing experience of and exposure to the world of work, preparing our young 
people for their futures. [Insert link to (new?) CYP plan] 
 
This Strategy is developed on the basis of a deep and evidenced understanding and 
knowledge of the needs and opportunities across the whole city-region. We will seize 
the opportunities presented for our local towns and centres to develop post-
pandemic, building on their distinctive and unique identities, maximising the local 
culture, heritage and recreational offers, providing safe, sustainable local centres 
which are reflective of, and responsive to, the needs of their communities. Drawing 
on places uniqueness and with rich culture, heritage and diversity at their hearts, we 
will ensure our local developments provide economic opportunities for local 
businesses and residents, enrich the lives of our communities, and support 
improvements in access to, and benefits from, our investments and interventions.     
[Insert link to streets for all case study L] 
 
 
Levelling up  
 
Despite our many successes and the progresses seen in Greater Manchester, we 
still fall behind national averages on many measures.  We want to ensure Greater 
Manchester’s people and places can truly achieve their potential, and this 
means levelling up.  We need, greater investment, new opportunities and the rapid 
translation of opportunities into reality, to enable Greater Manchester to level up, to 
the benefit of our people and places, but also for the region, nationally and 
internationally.  
 
But, we need to level up also within the city-region. The diversity of our populations, 
places and opportunities present huge and often interconnected inequalities in the 
lived experience, economic, social, health and environmental outcomes. This 
Strategy aims to redress that imbalance. We want to ensure all of our people can 
enjoy a good quality of life, live in safe, vibrant communities, and are enabled to 
achieve their potential and can rely on an integrated, affordable and sustainable 
transport system so the benefits of prosperity can be shared.     
 
Levelling up with and for people and communities  
 
We know that economic growth, together with investment and development in our 
places, environment and infrastructure are fundamental to successfully levelling up. 

Page 60



 

17 
 

But, we also recognise this will not be successful alone, in addition we need to 
ensure we are paying attention to what it is that people, families and communities 
need in order to live their version of a ‘good life’.   Helping to elevate hope, 
aspirations and everyday wellbeing across the city-region is an integral part of our 
response to levelling up. Responding to inequalities will be central to how we 
achieve this. We will focus on new and innovative ways of ensuring people get the 
help and support they need, doing everything we can to make sure communities 
have what they need to help themselves.  
 
During the pandemic we witnessed people and communities coming together, self-
organising through a common purpose to help those around them. This hyper-local, 
people-driven response has provided significant learning about how and when both 
formal and informal support can best come together, and we need to build on this. 
 
Through this strategy we will ensure all our communities have opportunities to 
develop and thrive, building on learning from the pandemic.  We want to ensure our 
integrated responses, enabled through our mature cross-sector partnerships, 
working with and for our communities, enjoy the benefits of our interventions, plans 
and policies.  Our approaches to levelling up seek to ensure communities currently 
experiencing the greatest disadvantage are enabled, supported and direct 
beneficiaries of our actions.   For example, our Retrofit Taskforce can deliver 
significant carbon reduction gains, generate local and inward investment 
opportunities, provide local training and employment opportunities, and provide for 
lower heating costs and improved building quality in some of our poorest areas.  
 
Place led economic prosperity  
 
Pride in our places is driving how we rethink their role as attractive locations to live, 
work and set up a business, delivering zero-carbon transport linked to zero-carbon 
homes.  For example, we are using tools such as Mayoral Development 
Corporations, and ambitious district masterplans, to deliver new leisure uses, 
housing and reestablish core public services in town centres whilst reducing retail 
space, in response to the shift in demand.  
 
This Strategy brings together those place based development and opportunity 
locations, which require the system as whole to come together to deliver for the 
overall success of the conurbation. 
 
[INSERT growth locations map & site descriptors Z] 
 
Simply delivering in place is not enough, that design and delivery has to be 
responsive to the needs of our communities, supporting our residents to contribute to 
and benefit from our policies, investments and interventions.   
 
Our growth locations provide for the delivery of sites which meet community need.  We 
have clear, defined and evidenced plans that link opportunity and need, driven by 
place-based intervention to capitalise on the benefits which can be realised for our 
communities.   Through the delivery of housing and employment sites we will ensure 
the connection of investment and development, to realise opportunities for 
communities and places which may not have benefited previously from economic 

Page 61



 

18 
 

development and growth, or where there are major opportunities to drive growth.   We 
recognise the significant opportunity we have in delivering our growth locations to 
improve the lives of Greater Manchester’s residents, and in doing so deliver an 
integrated approach to economic, social and environmental objectives.  
 
The six growth locations each provide a platform to lever the unique opportunities and 
assets within those locations to respond to the variety of needs and challenges present 
in different parts of the conurbation. Whilst the approach within each growth location 
is distinct, collectively they will drive a levelling up approach across the city-region that 
is responsive to the inequalities which persist in Greater Manchester, with zero carbon 
ambitions integral to their design and delivery.  
 
The transformation of places will require all parts of Greater Manchester to have 
good access to interconnected transport infrastructure, safe, accessible and 
affordable, and maximising the opportunities of the expansion and development of 
our cycling and walking networks. Through our developments we want to ensure 
essential services, employment, and social activities can be accessed without the 
need for a car, with the health improvement and carbon reduction potential that 
offers.  
 
The Bee Network is an integrated ‘London-style’ transport system which will join 
together buses, trams, cycling and walking and other shared mobility services by 
2024, with commuter rail incorporated by 2030, to transform how people travel in 
Greater Manchester. By designing and delivering public transport, active travel and 
shared mobility services as one system with local accountability and aligned to 
national and local priorities, the Bee Network will transform the end-to-end travelling 
experience and make sustainable, low carbon travel an attractive option for all. 
[Insert link to modal shift case study M] 
 
The development of all our places will be underpinned by the extension of our world 
class digital infrastructure, ensuring businesses and homes are digitally enabled and 
equipped. We will leverage and exploit our data to more effectively understand and 
provide better services to communities and businesses, utilising innovative and 
smart technologies and by taking a progressive approach, will strive to address 
digital exclusion and accessibility in an increasingly digitised society.   
 
As with the detailed policy specific strategies [Link to 10 LAs websites] which 
surrounds this document, those individual locality, town, city, and neighbourhood 
priorities not captured in this document are as much a crucial part of the breadth of 
delivery activity which collectively comes together to support the Greater Manchester 
Strategy vision, outcomes and commitments.   
 
At the heart of the north, and a leading city in the Northern Powerhouse, Greater 
Manchester has a key role to play, enabling the success of our places, to enable a 
flourishing Greater Manchester as part of the wider regional and UK prosperity.  We 
recognise the significant opportunities we have available to us and will seek to 
capitalise on those opportunities and to continue to develop our place leadership role 
to support the positive development of Greater Manchester on the national and 
international stages.  

 

Page 62



 

19 
 

 
The Greater Manchester Approach 
 
Aligning our approach 
 
Setting our responses to climate change and reducing inequality at the heart of this 
Strategy has provided for a new approach to our collective ways of working.  
Through this Strategy we want to ensure prosperity can be achieved, driven by 
our places, while responding to the climate emergency and increasing equity 
and fairness.  
 
As we seek to move towards a much more sustainable approach to our systemwide 
design and delivery, in developing this Strategy we have ensured alignment with the 
UN Sustainable Development Goals. [INSERT LINK] They recognise that ending 
poverty and other deprivations must go hand-in-hand with strategies that improve 
health and education, reduce inequality, and spur economic growth – all while 
tackling climate change and working to preserve our oceans and forests. This 
Strategy is consistent with the Sustainable Development Goals, [INSERT DIAGRAM 
showing alignment GM / UNSDG approaches] so that we are able to track and 
monitor progress against international benchmarks.   
 
The pandemic and other shocks such as flooding, moorland fires and the 
Manchester Arena attack have shown the strength of our partnerships, collaboration 
and ability to respond when the system is exposed to an extreme event. They have 
also illustrated how interconnected and interdependent our lives are, showing areas 
where we need to improve and to do further work if we are to be truly resilient. The 
Greater Manchester system, its infrastructure, connections and maturity of 
relationships, gives us a strong base from which to continue to prepare for future 
shocks as we face the uncertainties of the future whether driven by climate change 
and biodiversity loss, international terrorism and cyber attacks or other global and 
local risks. We need to continue to explore how our decisions can help to reduce 
future risks and their impacts on our city-region.  But we also need to be able to able 
to respond to those stresses which undermine our society, economy and 
environment and which are so often amplified by emergencies.  That resilience 
depends on recognising and addressing chronic stresses such as poverty, polluted 
environments and social inequity and unequal access to opportunities, that weaken 
the fabric of society and can hamper attempts to respond to crises and to create a 
stronger future in their aftermath.  
 
 

The delivery of this Strategy will drive positive action, responding to the 
climate emergency and will enable the design and delivery of policy responses 
which respond to evidenced, systemic and entrenched inequalities wherever 
they occur.  Our ambition is absolute, but we are realistic about the transitions and 
changes in our prioritisation, the design of responses to issues, and embedding new 
and different ways of working to meet our ambition.  
We will start our work with the consideration of how Greater Manchester may be 
different several generations from now, recognising the changing demographic, 
supporting and improving the health and wellbeing of our citizens, balancing short-
term needs with ways to safeguard our ability to also meet long-term requirements of 

Page 63



 

20 
 

our communities, economy and planet.   Wherever possible, we will increase the 
proportion of our work that focuses on prevention, identifying and responding to root 
cause issues, including those highlighted and exacerbated by the pandemic, looking 
for ways to support the breaking of negative cycles, intergenerational challenges or 
environmental damage. We will continue to develop and strengthen mechanisms 
that test our responses against these priorities and challenge proposals, delivery and 
actions which are counter to the progression of our ambitions.  
 

[INSERT  link to  Air Quality case study N] 
 
 
Our approach 
 
With climate and equalities at its heart, this Strategy has been developed and 
structured to enable the coming together of collective actions across all of our 
partnerships and places.  The diagram below shows how our priorities have been 
structured, through the different ‘layers’ of objectives and delivery mechanisms and 
structures, and how these come together to achieve the core objectives at the 
centre, and surrounded by the overall ambition of good lives for all.    
 

 
 
 

 
 
[Replace with designed diagram] 
 
Through the lens of climate and equalities, supporting prosperity, driven by 
our places, this Strategy brings together shared outcomes, commitments, 
ways of working and progress measures to deliver our vision of good lives for 
all.  

Page 64



 

21 
 

 

 Our shared outcomes (the Greater Manchester we want to see)   
Issues and areas of focus where we want to drive change over the coming 
decade. Our shared outcomes look outwards to the UK and the rest of the 
world, and inward to our people and our places.  
 

 Our shared commitments (the things we are going to do)  
The shared commitments identify those areas of intervention, around which 
we will structure systemwide delivery, in support of the attainment of the 
shared outcomes. The success of delivery against the commitments is  , 
underpinned by the activity delivered through the breadth of detailed thematic 
and place specific plans and strategies.  The systemwide actions contributing 
to the delivery of the will be captured  and progress monitored through  the 
three-year GMS delivery plan.   
 

 Our ways of working (how we will work) 
Aligned to the outcomes, commitments and in support of responding to the 
climate and equalities agendas.  Our ways of working set out how we will 
work in innovative and collaborative ways to ensure we can remain honest to 
our commitments, and continually striving for improvement and development.  
 

 Our progress measures (how we will know we are achieving)  
The range of measures, metrics and targets that will provide the framework to 
demonstrate our collective progress towards the attainment of the outcomes, 
commitments and ways of working set in the Strategy. The progress and 
process measures will include the relevant checks and balances to ensure we 
are delivering in line with our committed ways of working, that our activities 
are focused and targeted on the shared priorities (as articulated in the shared 
outcomes and commitments) we have set and will utilise a breadth of data 
sources and intelligence, drawing on community insight to ensure as a system 
we are being responsive to the opportunities that exist in Greater Manchester 
and our community’s needs.    
[Link to performance monitoring section of website – to include, headline 
measures and targets, targeting approach description] 

 

The areas for action in this Strategy, draw from a range of strategies, plans, delivery 
and interventions; all of which are important to delivering Greater Manchester’s 
goals. This strategy does not seek to reproduce the detail of those plans, but 
instead draws out the areas for actions where unless the system as whole 
comes together, we will not achieve our ambitions. This approach, avoids 
duplication, and provides the necessary flexibility for the development and 
progression of other plans led by the many places and partnerships across the 
Greater Manchester system. 
 
Additional linked strategies, plans and supporting documents, [INSERT LINK to 
website and thematic linked strategies] are captured to provide the direct connection 
to the wider delivery required to enable the success of this Strategy, ensuring our 
activities are developed and delivered within that holistic policy context.   
Reconfiguration of the current system and modes of operating can improve 
outcomes across the city-region.  Fewer, clearer and truly shared outcomes and 

Page 65



 

22 
 

commitments, supports   all policy and delivery portfolios to see their important 
contribution to every one of our outcomes.  For example, connecting people to 
opportunities is vital to deliver our economic, social and environmental agendas, but 
is more than investment in public transport and modal shift, and needs to include 
input and activities from all policy areas, and can be designed in such a way to 
respond to and address inequalities present in society as well as responding to the 
climate crisis. 
 
The shared nature of the commitments and outcomes reinforces that it is all of our 
responsibility to ensure our activities are positively contributing to the attainment of 
the outcomes and enable the necessary changes and shifts across the system to 
enable this to happen. These system changes, underpinned by our ways of working, 
will provide for collaboration across the system, sharing of learning, supportive and 
distributive leadership approaches, and showcasing of good practice, which can be 
developed and replicated more broadly, leading to Greater Manchester capitalising 
on its assets and the opportunities available, and achieving better outcomes and 
benefits for all.  
[Insert link to logic flow diagram IF AVAILABLE]  
 
As part of our systemwide responses we will also ensure we have inbuilt capacity 
and ability to adapt and respond to changing circumstances beyond our control.  For 
example, substantive changes driven by central Government decisions, reorienting 
the local ‘system’ and translating these changes into opportunities for Greater 
Manchester to continue to deliver on our shared ambitions.   We are currently in the 
process of establishing our Integrated Care System and an Integrated Care Board, 
which will replace the current Health and Social Care Partnership and will provide 
the new delivery infrastructure for the health and care system across Greater 
Manchester.  
 
[Insert link to case studies of whole system working /reengineering – A Bed Every 
Night O GM Moving – GM’s Movement for Movement P Working Well Q] 
 
 
  

Page 66



 

23 
 

  

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 67



 

24 
 

Shared outcome / shared commitment Indicator 

Shared outcomes  

The Wellbeing of our People  

 A Greater Manchester where our people have good lives, with 
better health; better jobs; better homes; culture and leisure 
opportunities; and better transport 

 A Greater Manchester of vibrant and creative communities, a 
great place to grow up get on and grow old, with inequalities 
reduced in all aspects of life   

 

 

 

Vibrant and Successful Enterprise 

 A Greater Manchester where diverse businesses can thrive, and 
people from all our communities are supported to realise their 
potential 

 A Greater Manchester where business growth and development 
are driven by an understanding that looking after people and 
planet is good for productivity and profitability 

 

 

Greater Manchester as a leading city-region in the UK and 
globally 

 Greater Manchester as a world-leading low carbon city-region 

 Greater Manchester as a world-leading digital city-region 

 Healthy life expectancy at birth  

 Median resident earnings 

 % of energy performance certificates (EPC) / display energy certificates (DEC) for existing buildings (excluding new 
build) with a net movement in the reporting year from a rating of D or below to C and above 

 Number of engagements by GM residents with cultural organisations supported by the GM Cultural Fund 

 % of people responding ‘easy’ or ‘very easy’ to ‘How easy or difficult do you find travelling to [selection of destinations 
/ trip purposes] (by any form of transport)?’ 

 % of children living in low income households 

 % people with a strong sense of belonging to their local area 

 Business births 

 % of working-age population in employment 

 % of working-age population with Level 4+ qualifications 

 % of working-age population with sub-Level 2 qualifications 

 Manchester's position on the Resonance World's Best Cities index 

 Carbon emissions estimates p.a., ktCO2 

 Number of properties at risk of flooding 

 No. people employed in digital industries 

Shared commitments – place priorities  

P
age 68



 

25 
 

Shared outcome / shared commitment Indicator 

 We will drive investment into our growth locations, and use that 
to create opportunities in adjacent town and local centres 

 Employment space and housing growth 

 % increase in residential development in main town centres 

 We will enable the delivery of resilient, safe and vibrant 
communities where everyone has access to essential services, 
local centres and high streets which are successful and 
reflective of their populations, and access to high 
quality culture and leisure spaces 

 % of residents who feel 'very' or 'fairly safe' in their local area 

 No. of neighbourhood crimes per 1,000 population 

 % of victims who are satisfied with the overall service received from Greater Manchester Police (GMP) 

 % of people responding ‘easy’ or ‘very easy’ to ‘How easy or difficult do you find travelling to [selection of destinations 
/ trip purposes] (by any form of transport)?’ 

 We will ensure our local communities, neighbourhoods, villages, 
towns, cities and districts are protected and strengthened 
through the Places for Everyone Plan and Stockport Local Plan, 
with new homes delivered in line with our net zero carbon 
commitments and Housing Strategy 

 Net additional dwellings built p.a. 

 Number of new build homes with an energy performance certificate (EPC) rating in the reporting year of A 

Shared commitments – system priorities  

 We will create a carbon neutral Greater Manchester by 2038, 
with better air quality and natural environment 

 Level of NO2 emissions and exceedances 

 Amount of renewable electricity installed capacity 

 Number of trees planted per annum 

 Household waste recycling rate 

 We will deliver a low carbon London-style fully integrated public 
transport system across bus, tram, train and bike  

 % who find it easy to use different forms of transport in one journey 

 % of people who say they can afford to travel by public transport as much as they like 

 % and total annual trips made via public transport / active travel 

 % of the GM bus fleet that is zero emission (at tailpipe) 

P
age 69



 

26 
 

Shared outcome / shared commitment Indicator 

 We will enable the delivery of world-class smart digital 
infrastructure  

 % of premises unable to access download speeds of at least 30Mbps 

 We will realise the opportunities from our world-class growth 
and innovation assets, driven by our Places for Everyone Plan, 
Local Growth Plans and Industrial Strategy to open up 
opportunities in all parts of the city-region  

 Number of employees / companies in GM's frontier sectors 

 Number of innovation-active businesses 

 We will support our businesses to grow sustainably and be as 
prosperous as they can be 

 Number of GM businesses supported by the Business Growth Hub 

 Number of GM businesses signed up to the Race to Zero campaign 

 We will support the creation of better jobs and good employment 
that has a purpose beyond growing shareholder value, utilising 
the opportunity to positively impact on our communities 

 % of employees paid above the Real Living Wage (RLW) 

 % of GM residents in ‘good work’ (tbc.) 

 We will ensure businesses are able to access the skills and 
talent they need, and people are able to realise their full 
potential – by provision of high quality learning and wrapping 
support around individuals – with access to good work for those 
who can, support for those who could, and care for those who 
can’t 

 Trends in Adult Education Budget (AEB) starts and achievements 

 Trends in apprenticeship starts and achievements (focus on cohorts, sector subject area, level)  

 We will ensure all our children and young people leave 
education and training ready to succeed in the labour market 
with a balance of academic, technical and ‘life ready’ skills 

 % take up of funded childcare and early education places for two-year-olds 

 % of children at or above the expected level of development at 2-2.5 years 

 Attendance at school: rate of pupil unauthorised absence (all age, all settings) 

 % of young people reporting good or higher wellbeing (Year 10s) 

 Trends in transitions for GM young people, including priority cohorts, across childhood 

 We will ensure digital inclusion for all, including under 25s, over 
75s and disabled people online  

 % of residents not accessing the internet in the last 3 months 

 Level of digital exclusion within priority groups (tbc.) 

 Total number of learners taking digital skills courses funded under the GM Adult Education Budget (AEB) 

 We will ensure the delivery of safe, decent and affordable 
housing, with no one sleeping rough in Greater Manchester  

 % of energy performance certificates (EPC) / display energy certificates (DEC) for existing buildings (excluding new 
build) with a net movement in the reporting year from a rating of D or below to C and above 

 Number of new affordable homes built per annum 

 Number of people sleeping rough 

 We will tackle food and fuel poverty experienced by Greater 
Manchester residents  

 % of households that are food insecure 

 Volume of unsecured personal loans 

P
age 70



 

27 
 

Shared outcome / shared commitment Indicator 

 We will reduce health inequalities experienced by Greater 
Manchester residents, and drive improvements in physical and 
mental health 

 

[Note: detailed work is underway to develop a new GM Health and 
Care Strategic Plan, and to create the statutory Integrated Care 
System for GM.  Consideration of performance reporting 
approaches is an important element of this work, including 
ensuring close alignment to the GMS performance indicators.  The 
indicators proposed against this shared commitment should 
therefore be treated flexibly, subject to potential development as 
the strategic context becomes more defined.] 

 

 % of adults reporting ‘high’ or ‘very high’ satisfaction with their life 

 % of adults reporting high levels of anxiety 

 % of people who are active or fairly active 

 % of GM residents who are overweight or obese 

 % of adults who are current smokers 

 No. of emergency hospital admissions due to falls per 10,000 adults aged 65 and over 

P
age 71



 

28 

 

Our ways of working  
 
Stakeholder engagement during the development of this Strategy has highlighted 
that delivering on our shared outcomes and commitments will depend on how 
we work together, as much as what we work on.  
 
We recognise that a Greener Greater Manchester that responds to the climate 
emergency, a Fairer Greater Manchester that addresses inequalities and improves 
wellbeing, and a Prosperous Greater Manchester that capitalises on GM’s unique 
assets to drive a thriving local and UK economy, recognising 10 distinct places: 1 
unique GM, will only be achieved via the development and adoption of practices 
which will enable a consistent approach across sectors, systems, institutions and 
communities to come together to create good lives for all.  
 
Greater Manchester is a highly complex ecosystem of partners, partnerships and 
relationships; some statutory, some primarily to transact business, but many 
voluntary.  These relationships are built on trust, honesty and maturity – our 
overarching ethos in the way that we operate.  
 
Our consistent ways of working should be the ‘glue’ which binds us together.    
 
1. Leadership: We will adopt a distributive leadership model that is focused 
on people and place. Using the subsidiarity principle, meaning that decisions and 
issues are taken and addressed as close to communities as possible, coming 
together at a Greater Manchester level where there is a demonstrable benefit. We 
will take actions in recognition that our leadership must be more reflective of the 
diversity of Greater Manchester, and our boardrooms, executive bodies and council 
chambers need to be more representative of our communities, making decisions that 
benefit everyone. 
 
As those agencies fundamental to this Strategy’s development and delivery, we will 
ensure all of Greater Manchester’s anchor institutions take a leading role shaping 
and enabling the future of Greater Manchester, and an enhanced role in tackling 
inequalities.   
 
As exemplars and place shapers, our anchor institutions will: 

 Use their spending and investment power to deliver social value  

 Enable progressive stewardship of land, property and financial assets 

 Adopt fair employment practices 
 

The difference that we will see from this approach to Leadership will be that people 
from across all sectors, all places and all communities see it as their responsibility to 
inspire, motivate and take a lead role in making Greater Manchester a great place to 
grow up, get on and grow old; and a great place to invest, do business, visit and 
study. 
 

Our leadership must be more reflective of the diversity of Greater Manchester, with our leaders 
inspiring young people to see themselves leading Greater Manchester in the future. 
 

Page 72



 

29 

 

Only through genuine partnership working where we can redress power imbalances, respectfully 
challenge each other when needed, and come together to achieve our shared ambitions, with 
communities, businesses or the VCSE sector leading on behalf of the system when it is best placed 
to do this.  We will develop our approaches to sharing learning and embedding good practice, 
enabling improvements and exemplars which are often present in pockets within the GM system to 
become embedded as our systemwide operating models.  
 
Our political and organisational leadership will prioritize equity and the tackling of inequality. It will 
be responsible for ensuring standards are met and outcomes achieved. We will lead by example, 
achieving national frameworks and accreditations, and influence others through our powers, 
practices and place-shaping  
 
Greater Manchester’s anchor institutions, should take a leading role in shaping and enabling the 
future of our city-region.  Through greater collaboration these organisations can exert a more 
measurable impact on the GM economy and place an enhanced role in tackling inequalities.  
For us, anchor institutions could come from any sector, but play a significant and recognised role in 
a locality by making a strategic contribution to that place. They will have strong ties to a single 
geographic area or community, tend to be ‘large’ in terms of their influence in that area, and take 
the anchor role for statutory, charitable, philanthropic or non-profit making motivations 

 
Our flagship civic university agreement demonstrates how we come together as a city-region to 
meet our shared and collective priorities.  The pledges made for collective action by our five 
universities to deliver on priority areas of education and skills; reducing inequalities; jobs and 
growth; the digital economy; net zero; and the creative and cultural economy, shows the true value 
of our collaborative approaches and how we will together drive change in the things important to 
the future development of our city-region.  
 

 
 
2. Environment: All partners in Greater Manchester already have a clear 
commitment to taking the actions outlined in the Greater Manchester 5-year 
Environment Plan. Actions to address the climate emergency should be woven 
through and underpin everything that we do, and this will support the achievement of 
this Strategy. 
 
We will focus on a small set of key priorities where we need to take action over the 
next 5 years and beyond to achieve our aims. We will undertake assessments of our 
environmental impacts – with the intention for wider roll out of the GMCA decision 
support tool [LINK to decision support tool descriptor in ways of working] – to drive 
changes in our policy design and delivery that seeks to stop environmental harms 
and wherever possible drive environmental improvements.  
 
 
The difference that we will see from this approach to environment will be that 
environmental impacts are fully assessed prior to commencement of all activities and 
actions which address the climate emergency are prioritised across all areas of our 
work, enabling achievement of our commitment to be carbon neutral by 2038.  
 

In order to deliver the 5-year Environment Plan, integral to the overall success of this Strategy, 

shifts in behaviour will be necessary.  These will include:  

 Supporting innovation in green technology  

 Taking new approaches to finance and funding of climate interventions  

 Building on existing partnerships between the public, private and voluntary, community and 
social enterprise organisations  

 Showing leadership on the climate crisis  

Page 73

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/media/1986/5-year-plan-branded_3.pdf
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/media/1986/5-year-plan-branded_3.pdf


 

30 

 

 Engaging and educating residents, communities and businesses on their role and actions 
that they can take 

 Upskilling our workforce 

 Expanding low carbon transport options 

 Understanding that it is often the lthe most vulnerable and deprived communities who are 
experiencing the worst impacts of climate change and often have the least capacity to 
adapt and respond 

 
 
To do this, we have established a mission-oriented approach to tackling our environmental 
challenges.  We have established the UK’s first city region Clean Growth Mission for carbon neutral 
living within the Greater Manchester economy by 2038, driving innovation, the creation of new 
technologies, and improved resource efficiency. With the support of Green Growth GM, our Green 
Growth Pledges are a range of actions - from simple first steps to wholesale changes - that will 
reduce environmental impact and help an organisation grow at the same time. The Green Growth 
Pledge is a message to the people of Greater Manchester that we are taking action to become a 
clean and green city-region.  
 

This Mission based approach is proving fruitful.  At the 2020 Green Summit, GM launched several 

ambitious programmes to revolutionise energy networks across the city-region:   

 The proposals to create a Greater Manchester local energy market will see Greater 

Manchester’s 10 boroughs draw up detailed plans to increase energy efficiency and pave 

the way for new technologies and low-carbon infrastructure.  By generating more energy 

locally and storing it, within a decentralised system, Greater Manchester will be able to 

improve the efficiency of local systems, bringing supply closer to demand.  

 Over the last year, our Local Authorities have undertaken energy surveys of the majority of 

our 2,700 buildings to initiate a retrofit programme.  The public sector is aiming to improve 

the energy efficiency of our buildings to help stimulate the local market and give confidence 

to our local construction firms to invest in growth – particularly in these uncertain economic 

times.  

 We have generated a pipeline of 24.5MW renewable energy projects, including several 

large PV schemes on Local Authority land, funded by £17.5m EU funds.  

 

 
3. Equality: The Equality Act 2010 challenges organisations to know how age, 

disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy 
and maternity, race, religion/belief, sex, and sexual orientation describe the 
experiences of local communities, both individually and collectively.  

 
We will use our powers and resources to: 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimization and other 
prohibited conduct; 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not; 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic 
and those who do not. 

 
We will ensure that Equality Impact Assessments are completed and acted upon 
from the start of initiatives, completed by well-trained people and involving those who 
experience inequality.  
 
 

Page 74

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/media/1909/gmipr_tr_amissionorientedapproachtocleangrowth.pdf
https://www.green-growth.org.uk/greater-manchester


 

31 

 

The difference that we will see from this approach to Equalities will be that Greater 
Manchester will be a place where people are welcomed and feel safe, not subjected 
to discrimination, and a place where people support each other and work together to 
improve where they live. 
 

Our Equality Goals – A Greater Manchester where: 
 

 People are welcomed, feel safe, not subjected to discrimination, prejudice, micro-
aggressions or hate crime, in the workplace, in schools or in public places  

 Communities are understood, with data and intelligence on access, experience and 
outcomes efficiently collected, collated, analysed and presented, enabling inequality to be 
effectively identified and tackled 

 We lead by example, achieving national frameworks and accreditations, and influence 
others through our powers, practices and place-shaping 

 Our leaders and workforce, in civic and public, private and voluntary sectors, are diverse 
and inclusive, reflective of Greater Manchester’s communities and culturally competent  

 Leaders prioritise equity, and are responsible for ensuring standards are met and 
outcomes achieved 

 There is good employment, with fair and equitable recruitment, retention and experience 
(including pay)  

 Wellbeing is valued, enabled by equitable public services and inclusive economic 
opportunities 

 People are engaged in the policies and services developed to support them, with their 
insight heard and valued alongside data and intelligence.  

 Our communities are strong and resilient, where people support each other and work 
together to improve where they live.  

 People are valued for their individual strengths, identities, beliefs and aspirations 

 Diversity, identity and inclusion are celebrated throughout the year 

 

 
4. Involving stakeholders: We will seek to ensure we put people at the centre of 
our decision making.  We will involve people where appropriate in our activities, 
helping to set the agenda and being equitable partners in delivering those activities 
which are important to them. We will undertake stakeholder analysis at inception 
phases – with openness and accountability - ensuring stakeholders from a range of 
related sectors and disciplines who could support the development of our work are 
engaged, involved and working with us, enabling productive and meaningful 
collaboration and partnerships. 
 
We believe that people should have a say over the places in which they live and the 
services they use. Delivery of this Strategy will be informed by the people and 
communities it impacts and we will use community insight and intelligence alongside 
any relevant data and statistics to shape and inform priorities, policymaking and 
improve overall service delivery.[LINK to evidence base way of working]    
 
We will reach out into communities, learning from local insight and hearing from 
those most likely to be facing the most significant disadvantage. Wherever possible 
all institutions should actively engage residents, service users, staff and stakeholders 
as part of this work, utilising the comprehensive equalities infrastructure we have 
established. 
 
The difference that we will see from this approach to Involving Stakeholders will be 
a sense of shared ownership of problems and solutions, of trust in our openness and 

Page 75



 

32 

 

accountability and the effort that we are making and in our overall likelihood of 
successfully achieving benefit for Greater Manchester and its people 
 

Greater Manchester has established a range of equalities panels and other networks to engage 
with diverse communities. The seven Greater Manchester Equalities Panels help tackle the 
structural and organisational prejudice and discrimination that causes inequality and injustice in 
society, through the advancement of equity and fairness in decisions, policies and services across 
all sectors and communities. The seven panels – Race Equality Panel, Disabled People’s Panel, 
Faith and Belief Advisory Panel, LGBTQ+ Panel, Women and Girls Panel, Youth Combined 
Authority, and Older People’s Panel (to be established shortly). In addition to focusing on specific 
issues, they work together to ensure intersectionality is considered. 
 
The Panels: 

 Champion Greater Manchester’s cultural heritage and history of community inclusion and 
social justice 

 Advise the Mayor of Greater Manchester and the Greater Manchester Lead for Ageing and 
Equalities of the challenges and opportunities faced by people linked to their identity.  

 Constructively challenge political and system leaders to tackle prejudice and discrimination 
within their organisations and structures 

 Proactively support the Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) and its public, 
private and voluntary sector partners to develop effective solutions that tackle inequality 
and increase equity.   

By: 
 providing insight into our diverse communities, enabling political leaders and public bodies 

to listen and engage with people in a more targeted and appropriate way 

 communicating messages to their communities as trusted sources  

 designing more effective policies with public bodies, improving outcomes for individuals, 
reducing inequality and preventing expenditure in other parts of the system 

 facilitating positive collaboration between communities and public services, supporting an 
asset-based approach, highlighting new opportunities and challenges 

 
Furthermore, Individual districts also have equalities’ networks, standing inequalities boards, 
forums and structures to engage with diverse communities. Delivery of this strategy will be 
informed through ongoing dialogue with these Panels, networks and forums. 
 
We are adopting a “names not numbers” approach as we seek to improve the lives of our 
residents, involving them in decisions that are important to them.  
 
We will ensure our approaches to engagement are fair, measured and proportionate, making best 
use of our assets and resources, and ensuring that communities identify and are involved in things 
that are relevant to them.  
 
We will lead by example. We need a diverse range of people in positions making decisions. For 
example, this means better pathways to representation in elected office and positions of power for 
people from diverse communities and in marginalised groups who feel ‘locked out’ of politics. We 
will commit to the creation of new networks or taskforces to support and inform our work as part of 
the implementation of this Strategy, where it is apparent this would add value to the current 
structures.  

 

 
5. Effective Communication: We will ensure our communication is more than just 
the exchanging of information.  Greater Manchester will reach out across the 
traditional silos and create mechanisms for good communication with all 
stakeholders. We will be transparent and complete in our communication, deliver this 
in a timely manner without creating uncertainty and enable consistency of messaging 
across our partnerships. We will understand our audience and select channels and 

Page 76

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/equalities/


 

33 

 

accessibility standards to meet their needs. We will encourage feedback and 
dialogue, empowering all our stakeholders to get involved. 
 
The difference that we will see from this approach to Communication will be 
improved understanding of roles and responsibilities in relation to this Strategy, 
strong relationships and mutual respect. 
 

Systemically we recognise that communication needs to understand the emotion and intention 
behind the information being conveyed.  Our aim is to use effective communication to build trust, 
prevent or resolve problems provide clarity and direction, increase engagement and create better 
relationships. Through this way of working, we will improve the productivity of our relationships and 
promote our Greater Manchester ‘one team’ approach. 

 

 
6. Progressive procurement and social value: Procurement and commissioning 
has an important role to play in the delivery of the aims and outcomes in this 
Strategy.  Collectively we will capitalise on the opportunity to redefine and strengthen 
the way ‘social value’ is used in Greater Manchester, both through procurement and 
as part of a broader, more purposeful, outcomes-focussed and inclusive approach to 
operating and doing business for organisations across all sectors. For example, 
public money should be being used to support good employment practice and 
guarantee people a living income.   

 
We will go beyond what is set out in the Public Services (Social Value) Act to enable 
any organisation to use social value to tackle inequality. Wherever possible we will 
show preference to companies because they share the same core values that we 
want to encouraged and grow in Greater Manchester, not just because of the ‘added 
value’ they are offering to pay for on a particular contract. We will encourage our 
major suppliers to join us in support of attaining our target to be carbon neutral by 
2038. 
 
The difference that we will see from this approach to Progressive Procurement 
and Social Value will be a more effective use of available financial resources in 
terms of driving out benefit for Greater Manchester, achieving our environmental 
targets and delivering this Strategy. 
 

If a greater proportion of public spend was based in Greater Manchester, we could ensure that 
more public money stays in the local economy and can benefit local people. 
 
The pandemic showed us the importance of local provision in developing resilience. We 
understand the increasing importance of local supply chains for social, economic and 
environmental outcomes. We could achieve far greater impacts if all procurement in Greater 
Manchester could help us tackle inequality, and to be responsive to the climate emergency. 
 
October 2020 saw the publication of a new framework of priorities for social value at the GMCA 
website. This framework can be used across all sectors to guide our actions on six priorities: 

 Good employment 

 Clean Air 

 Employment and Skills 

 Strong Local Communities 

 Green Organisations 

 Local Supply Chains  

 

Page 77

https://greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/economy/social-value-can-make-greater-manchester-a-better-place/


 

34 

 

7. Employing robust quantitative and qualitative evidence-based approaches:  
We will ensure consistent and systematic use of a robust evidence base 
underpinning all of our priority setting, decision making and changing what we do 
(including for example through use of the GMCA decision support tool detailed 
below).  Through our progress and process measures we will ensure we are 
delivering on the commitments made in this Strategy, in terms of not just what we 
deliver but also the ways in which we deliver.   
 
We will ensure the responsible use and sharing of information and data, ensuring 
that information flows to where it is needed, seeking to ensure all parts of the GM 
system adopt principles that data will be disaggregated by geography or cohort 
wherever possible to delve below the averages, understanding the variance in 
outcomes by people and places.  This will enable the more deliberate and effective 
targeting of plans, policies and interventions, responsive to need. We will also 
commit to the development and collation of data sources, insight and intelligence 
outside of those ‘standard’ datasets produced nationally, where lived experience is 
often masked by averages.  
[Link to Information Strategy] 
 
The implementation of this Strategy will embed a shared set of measures which will 
be used to set priorities, design and develop actions and interventions, and the flow 
through of resourcing to support their implementation. 
 
The difference that we will see from employing robust quantitative and qualitative 
evidence-based approaches will be that we are as clear as possible of the nature 
of the issues that we are seeking to address, use this understanding to target our 
effort and resources, and assess the impacts of our work. 
 

Collectively we will commit to an intelligent application of our evidence base, drawing on data and 
insight at the earliest possible stages of programme or policy design.  While recognising the 
limitations of locally generated intelligence, we commit to its development and use in the 
knowledge that it can provide a richness and a more nuanced understanding of the actual lived 
experience of our residents, often masked by averages and official data sources.  
 
Building on the work of the Independent Inequalities Commission and the Build Back Fairer report , 
we are using data and insight to better understand and act on the systemic and structural of 
intersecting and interacting inequalities and understand the common drivers of these inequalities.   
 
The progress measures and targets aligned to the collective actions in this Strategy encompasses 
a range of data sources, metrics, insight evidence, assurance actions for our ways of working.  
Additionally we are also adopting place and demographic inequalities targeting; with piloting 
neighbourhood floor targets and population variance monitoring; helping to ensuring no place or 
demographic group in  Greater Manchester falls below given minimum standards and supporting 
the targeting of activity in places and communities for whom a targeted approach would be 
beneficial for any given policy area.  
[Insert link to performance monitoring pages] 

 

 

8. Workforce: Employment standards, and the capacity and capability of our 
workforce are a critical enabler of this Strategy. We will put in place workforce 
programmes to support organisational and workforce development based on and 
facilitating a more integrated public facing workforce. We will ensure we have 
suitably skilled and talented workforces to deliver our shared vision.  

Page 78



 

35 

 

 
Collectively, and as individual organisations with a stake in the delivery of this 
Strategy, we will ensure we are taking the necessary actions and mitigations to 
tackle discrimination and inequality in our workforces and workplaces, ensuring our 
workforces are more reflective of the communities we serve. There is a clear 
economic case for diverse and inclusive workforce, that is more innovative to meet 
customer needs and productive by maximising the skills available, whilst also 
recognizing the need to be forward looking supporting life-long learning. In addition 
to the wider social benefits of employing people experiencing inequality, and the 
impact this has on social cohesion, life outcomes and public service demand. 
 
The difference that we will see from this approach to Workforce will be one that is 
best able to meet the work required to achieve our shared vision, one that feels safe 
and empowered to meet the challenges that it might face. 
 

Using tools such as the Greater Manchester Employment Charter, we will drive up employment 
standards across all sectors, for the benefit of both the employed and their employers. 
 
Public sector organisations will seek to go beyond the requirements of the Public Sector Equality 
Duty.   We will commit to the collation and analysis of timely and accurate workforce data, 
evidencing the make-up of our workforces, including managerial and leadership positions, to 
enable positive steps to be taken to increase diversity and eliminate discrimination.  
 
Private and VCSE employers should go beyond the Equality Act 2010, recognising the benefits to 
be attained from a diverse and inclusive workforce, that is more innovative to meet customer needs 
and productive by maximizing the skills available. It can drive business profitability and employee 
well-being thereby attracting and retaining talent.   

 

 

9. Innovation: Developing and driving innovative new solutions will be a crucial part 
of our ways of working in Greater Manchester. We will explore and apply new and 
more effective approaches to maximising Greater Manchester’s assets to drive local 
and national economic development, as well as tackling some of the key societal 
challenges that exist such as the climate emergency and health inequalities.  
 
Our Economic Vision builds on our innovation assets and opportunities and will drive 
and accelerate growth for the city-region.   Digital innovation will underpin the 
delivery of this Strategy and will shape the future of Greater Manchester.  
 
Innovation across the transport and mobility sectors is particularly intense, 
challenging old modes, technologies and services.  We will look to adopt and deploy 
innovation in a way that support our efforts to radically improve the transport offer in 
clean and sustainable manner.   
 
 
In addition to technical and business innovation, we recognise the need to cultivate 
the conditions for social innovation to thrive across our city-region with the 
overarching aim of enabling good lives for all.  We will explore the development of a 
social innovation network for Greater Manchester. 
 

Page 79



 

36 

 

The difference that we will see from this approach to Innovation will be an increase 
in our ability to react to technological and societal change and discover new 
opportunities to drive forward this Strategy further and faster. 
 

Greater Manchester’s long history of innovation will be furthered through the delivery of this 
Strategy, with an understanding and development of the different elements that characterize 
innovation – discovery, invention, development and adoption. Embedding innovation as a way of 
working will support investment in and realisation of innovation opportunities.  
Innovation is a key pillar of the city-region’s Economic Vision, the plan to deliver a fairer, greener 
and more productive Greater Manchester economy beyond the pandemic. It will leverage and 
accelerate the success of Greater Manchester’s existing research and development hubs in global 
frontier sectors, including advanced materials and manufacturing, health innovation, digital and 
creative, and clean growth. 
 
Existing technologies and business models are insufficient to get us to carbon neutral. We need to 

rethink how we operate across all sectors. We are working with our private and academic partners 

to launch an Energy Innovation Agency for the city-region, with the aim of accelerating the testing 

and deployment of new technologies and processes at scale.  

 
Fostering innovation by engaging with best digital practice to find better solutions to local problems 
will be critical in enabling innovative public services.  In driving this forward we will make best use 
of data to inform better decision making and develop more accurate and person-centered public 
services. 
 
The creation of a social innovation network would connect, lift up, and amplify new solutions to big 
social challenges, whether they are from our local communities or our global peers.  Learning from 
this network of innovative people, places and practices will inform the strategy and leadership of 
the next evolution of place based transformation across Greater Manchester. 

 

10. Always working with the future in mind:  
The Inequalities Commission and Build Back Fairer reports both emphasized the 
need for Greater Manchester to embed a preventative and ‘future generations’ 
approach. We need to ensure that Greater Manchester is meeting the needs of the 
present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own 
needs.  
 
Where applicable, we will prioritise work with children and young people, share 
expertise and evidence of the success of prevention approaches and continue to 
build capacity and partnerships to further develop these approaches.  
[Insert Young Person’s Guarantee case study R] 
 
We will use our Resilience Strategy to build the capacity of individuals, communities, 
institutions, businesses and systems within a city to survive, adapt and grow no 
matter what kinds of chronic stresses and acute shocks they experience. 
 
The difference that we will see from this approach to always working with the 
future in mind will perhaps only be truly seen in the longer term and by our future 
generations. However, we know that this approach, as well as prioritizing those 
upstream actions which seek to prevent an issue ever happening in the first place, 
will lead to higher productivity, lower treatment or renovation costs, less suffering 
and premature mortality and more cohesive communities; as well as happier, more 
successful people who are better able to participate fully in society. 
 

Page 80

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/media/4542/greater-manchester-resilience-strategy-2020-2030.pdf


 

37 

 

Throughout our work we will think about its impacts in the longer term and not just the here and 
now. 
 
The Covid pandemic has shown us the need to build our resilience to survive and thrive, regardless 
of the challenge. The capacity of Greater Manchester’s people and places to respond to shocks will 
be developed through the Greater Manchester Resilience Strategy. This capacity to navigate 
shocks and to maintain confidence in the city-region is also dependent upon recognising and 
addressing chronic stresses such as poverty or ageing infrastructure that weaken its fabric and can 
undermine attempts to respond to crises and to create a stronger future in their aftermath.  

 

 
11. Understanding the impacts of our decisions  
 
Throughout implementation of the ways of working, we will adopt an assurance 
framework which assesses not only whether we are using these ways of working, 
but also whether they are being effective at enabling Greater Manchester to deliver 
this Strategy, delivering a greener, fairer and more prosperous city-region. This 
framework is embedded as part of our performance and process measures.  
 
The assurance framework will have two parts: 

 A set of ‘process measures’ which will tell us whether we are using each of 
the 10 ways of working 

 A ‘so what’ question which asks whether these ways of working are making 
the difference that we are looking for  

 
The GMCA decision support tool has been developed and tested and will be used 
consistently going forward to provide an assessment of the impacts (both positive 
and negative) arising from propositions being developed and enabling informed 
decision making.   We are committed to the further roll out and wider use of the tool 
across as many formal and informal decision forums as possible, recognising the 
potential positive benefits to be gained through its widest possible use in all forms of 
policy and proposition design and delivery.  
 

The GMCA decision support tool, developed in collaboration with the Centre for Climate Change 
and Social Transformation at the University of Manchester, enables a  high-level assessment of 
possible impacts arising from any proposition, the outputs from which are provided to decision 
makers to understand the possible wider co-benefits of taking forward the proposal or seeking 
changes where it is deemed impacts arising could be mitigated. Where the screening process 
determines a more detailed assessment is required, an equalities impact assessment proforma and 
carbon assessment element are embedded within the document and can be used to support the 
overall assessment, and the information made available to the GMCA for decision making. 

 
 
 
Enabling the Ways of Working 

 
Greater Manchester has put in place a range of initiatives and tools which will enable 
these ways of working. We will publish further examples at the website for the 
Greater Manchester Strategy but some of the most important enablers include: 
  
Embedding the Greater Manchester Model of unified services  
 

Page 81



 

38 

 

Our  model of unified services for the people of Greater Manchester, recognises that 
the way public services are traditionally organised must change. Services often 
operate in silos, making it difficult for people to get the holistic support that they 
need, where they need it, and for public money to be spent most effectively.  
 
We have led the way in Greater Manchester with our reform programme, and will 
now go further.  We will adopt the principle of ‘universal basic services’ as a key 
pillar of a more equal society. We will also take an approach using the principle of 
proportionate universalism, recognising that some people and some communities 
need targeted, stepped up or more intensive help. 
 
We now urgently need to move from principles to practice, and will push on with 
delivery in pathfinder neighbourhoods and communities.   
 

On all of the specific challenges we face, we will start by working with people and communities, 
mobilise action networks from all parts of Greater Manchester society, and work to the “names-not-
numbers” philosophy that has guided GM’s success on homelessness. 
 
The challenge of changing the way public services are traditionally organised is multiplied by the 
fact that different services operate on different geographical footprints, and with different funding 
models, different measures of success and all take account of need and place in different ways. As 
a result, services do not always tap into the energy, knowledge and capacity that exists on the 
ground, too often leaving people feeling ‘done to’ rather than empowered to shape their own lives 
or to improve things in their local areas. 
 
Greater Manchester has been leading the way in a reform programme for services for people that 
can address these problems. This approach is already visible in some areas and was accelerated 
across the city-region during the need  for rapid collaborative responses to the pandemic. Now is 
the time to push on even further and move the approach from the margins to the mainstream. We 
will embed the Greater Manchester Model as a key enabler of achieving many of the ambitions set 
out in this Strategy. We will adopt the principle of ‘universal basic services’ as a key pillar of a 
more equal society, helping everyone to live a decent life and to contribute to the economy and 
society. 
 
We will take an approach using the principle of proportionate universalism (the resourcing and 
delivering of universal services at a scale and intensity that is proportionate to the degree of need), 
recognising that some people and some communities may need targeted, stepped up or more 
intensive services. We will strive to secure help for people and communities based on what a good 
life looks like for them, taking into account individual contexts rather than a ‘one size fits all’ 
approach. 
Our model is rooted in our long-held reform principles. These recognise that each partner or sector 
holds the key to another’s objectives, and that our objectives cannot be fully realised without a 
fundamental shift in the thinking, culture, policies and structures that underpin the current system. 
 
The unified services model sets out six interrelated key features which need to be in place for us to 
achieve these ambitions: 

 Geographic alignment 

 Leadership and accountability 

 One Workforce 

 Shared financial resource 

 Programmes, policy and delivery 

 Tackling barriers and delivering on devolution 
 

We know that we need to move from principles to practice and it is having all six key features in 
place that will help us realise this, starting with their application in 10 pathfinder deprived 
communities, alongside piloting an income guarantee in one or more.  
 

Page 82

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/media/2302/gtr_mcr_model1_web.pdf


 

39 

 

Our learning and experiences during Covid have also reinforced the need to double up our efforts 
to achieve these ambitions given the difference they are likely to make to people and communities. 
We have developed a significant amount of learning during this time, not least around what it takes 
to galvanise a community level response around a common cause. Indeed, we know that our 
ambitions are possible because we experienced the realisation of many elements almost overnight 
during a time of crisis. Our challenge will be to build upon this learning and sustainably implement 
these transformational changes across Greater Manchester.   

 

 
Investing in the role played by the Voluntary, Community and Social,  
Enterprise (VCSE*) sector through the VCSE Accord 
 
* When we talk about the VCSE sector in Greater Manchester, we mean voluntary 
organisations, community groups, the community work of faith groups, and those 
social enterprises where there is wider accountability to the public via a board of 
trustees or a membership and all profits will be reinvested in their social purpose. 
 
Greater Manchester is home to over 17,000 voluntary, community, faith and social 
enterprise organisations who are well-networked with strong, distributed leadership, 
established communications channels and have evidenced their ability to convene 
and act as a sector around general or specific strategic objectives.  
Covid has demonstrated the sectors ability to adapt at pace and with a huge degree 
of accuracy and efficacy to meet the needs of our communities. The sector is a 
significant employer with a high proportion of jobs at Real Living Wage.  
 
We are committed to the implementation of the newly agreed GM VCSE Accord 
(Insert link), providing a shared vision for a thriving VCSE sector working 
collaboratively and integrally with public services. Investment in the VCSE sector 
under the Accord will enable the sector to be an in equal partner in the design and 
delivery of GMS implementation. 
 

The VCSE response to the emergency caused by the pandemic across Greater Manchester has 
been incredible in its strength, its depth and the speed at which it was been mobilised. VCSE 
organisations of all sizes, as well as community volunteers, have offered and continue to provide 
their support, and are integrating with emergency support structures at this time. 
 
The GM VCSE Accord, signed in September 2021, sets out a shared vision for a thriving VCSE 
sector in Greater Manchester that works collaboratively with the GM Integrated Care System and 
the GMCA. The Accord delivers on our commitment to different models and modes of investment to 
enable the VCSE as an equal partner in the design and delivery of GMS implementation.  
 
The VCSE Accord agreement will enable GMCA and the GM Integrated Care System to work 
collaboratively with the sector, via the GM VCSE Leadership Group.  The purpose of this Accord is 
to further develop how we work together to improve outcomes for Greater Manchester’s 
communities and citizens. 
 
Our shared vision is for a thriving VCSE sector in Greater Manchester that works 
collaboratively and productively with the GM Integrated Care System, the GM Combined 
Authority, its constituent local authority members and statutory partners. This vision is based 
in our shared values, will be supported by a sustainable infrastructure and have strong leadership. 
We will operate on the basis of mutual trust, respect and transparency.  
 
We will acknowledge the value to communities of place, identity and experience, and understand 
the role of local people in leading, shaping and connecting organisations to create a functioning 
‘ecosystem’ of activity. We want decisions taken and issue addressed as close to communities as 

Page 83



 

40 

 

possible, coming together at a Greater Manchester level where there is a demonstrable benefit of 
doing so. 
 
Through the VCSE Accord, we have set out shared commitments for 2021 – 2026, whose success 
will rely on their recognition, adoption and action at a locality and neighbourhood level. All 
commitments will be achieved in partnership and equitable involvement from all 10 districts of 
Greater Manchester. We will develop a strategic and joined up approach to funding and 
commissioning of VCSE activities. This includes an investment approach based on long-term, core 
funding to support strategic VCSE capacity and infrastructure. 

 

 
The GM Good Employment Charter 
 
There are around 105,000 companies in Greater Manchester, and we continue to 
work with them to bring trade, investment and growth, and support people to access 
the opportunities created.  
 
Through the Greater Manchester Good Employment Charter we have worked with 
Trade Unions to define the seven characteristics of Good Employment and create a 
framework to support all employers in the city-region regardless of size, sector, or 
location, to improve employment standards and provide better opportunities for GM’s 
workers to grow, develop, and thrive in the workplace as well as improving our 
economy.  The ambitions for Greater Manchester to become the first city-region to 
pay all employees a real living wage build on this movement, and will require even 
deeper collaboration between public, private and third sector employers as well as 
leadership in self-employment and freelance occupations.  
 
The development of the GM Good Employment Charter and the creation of a 
‘movement’ around the work through a tiered system of supporters and members as 
well as a strong brand and engagement mechanisms will be key to driving forward 
our ambition for fair and high standards of employment.  
 
Greater Manchester’s Digital Blueprint 
 
We want to ensure we can enhance the successes of Greater Manchester, already 
gaining an international digital reputation, with our Digital Blueprint (INSERT LINK)  
setting out the approach to meet our ambition to be a top 5 European digital city-
region.  
 
Prioritised actions are underpinned by a focus of inclusive growth of digital talent and 
extending our world-class smart and digital infrastructure and connectivity.  We will 
continue to follow a “whole digital ecosystem” approach that shaped and underpins 
the Blueprint model, enabling Greater Manchester to achieve our ambitions.  
 
We will ensure that digital is connected across the work of GMCA and partners, 
driving better delivery of public sector transformation by maximizing opportunities 
and resources, enabling joint working on opportunities and ensuring that gaps are 
rectified, and throughout maximizing the impact of our collective actions.” 
 

Recent Government (Department for Culture, Media & Sport) research indicates that UK’s digital 
sector is growing nearly six times faster than the mainstream economy. Greater Manchester is 
gaining an international reputation for growing “unicorn” start-ups (valued at over $1 billion); as a 

Page 84

https://www.gmgoodemploymentcharter.co.uk/


 

41 

 

base for global brands such as the BBC and GCHQ; for public sector innovation; and internationally 
significant digital research. We want to enhance this success and our Digital Blueprint sets out the 
approach to meet our ambitions to be top 5 European digital city region by focussing on the 
following priorities:  

 empowering people 

 enabling innovative public services 

 digitally enabling all businesses 

 creating and scaling digital businesses 

 being a global digital influencer 
 
These are underpinned by a focus on inclusive growth of digital talent and extending our world 
class smart and digital infrastructure and connectivity. Initiatives such as SMART ticketing to 
digitally-enable existing and future mobility around Greater Manchester; the next phase of the GM 
Full Fibre network; launching further cyber and AI initiatives; data acceleration to better support 
families and individuals; the annual and growing “Digitober” festival; and carbon emission 
monitoring as part of the building retrofit work will develop at pace as part of the delivery of this 
Strategy.  

 
For Greater Manchester to achieve its ambitions we will continue to follow a “whole digital 
ecosystem” approach that shaped and underpins the Blueprint model.  Collaboration is at the heart 
of this approach and we will further support and enable private, academic and not-for-profit sector 
work and identify where there are gaps and initiatives needed at a pan-GM level and taking 
creative approaches to resourcing them.  Having re-organised our governance and engagement 
mechanisms, groups like the GM Cyber Advisors, Digital Inclusion Action Network and GM Digital 
Strategic Advisors are driving this. We will ensure that digital is connected across the work of 
GMCA and partners, driving better delivery of public sector transformation by maximizing 
opportunities and resources, enabling joint working on opportunities and ensuring that gaps are 
rectified, and throughout maximizing the impact of our collective actions. 

 

 

 
 

Page 85

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/media/4640/gmca_blueprint_jun-21.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

GMCA ECONOMIC, BUSINESS GROWTH AND SKILLS 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  

 

Date: Friday, 12th November 2021 

Subject: Greater Manchester’s Three-Year International Strategy 

Report of: Councillor Elise Wilson, Portfolio Lead for Economy and Joanne Roney, 

Portfolio Lead Chief Executive for Economy. 

 

Purpose of Report 

This cover note and supporting power point presentation provides an overview of the draft 
Greater Manchester International Strategy and the process taken to refreshing the 
strategy. A final draft is due to be presented to the December GMCA meeting. 

This report also provides a summary of the new strategic context.  

 

Recommendations: 

The Committee is requested to: 

1. Review and consider the updated strategic context of GM’s International Strategy, 
highlighting any gaps or further challenges and opportunities.  

2. Provide feedback on proposed strategic framework, priorities, targets and markets. 
3. Provie feedback on approach to developing the GM International Strategy Delivery 

Plan.  
 

Contact Officers:- 

John Wrathmell, Director for Strategy, Research & Economy, GMCA 

John.wrathmell@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk 

 

Rebecca Drakeford, International Strategy Officer, GMCA 

Rebecca.drakeford@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk 

 

Maria Gonzalez, Principal, International Relations, GMCA 

Maria.gonzalez@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk 

 

Page 87

Agenda Item 9

mailto:John.wrathmell@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Rebecca.drakeford@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Maria.gonzalez@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


Equalities Impact, Carbon and Sustainability Assessment: 

 

 

Risk Management 

N/A 

Legal Considerations 

N/A 

Financial Consequences – Revenue 

N/A 

Financial Consequences – Capital 

N/A 

Impacts Questionnaire
Impact Indicator Result Justification/Mitigation

Equality and Inclusion

Health

Resilience and 

Adaptation

Housing

Economy G

Mobility and 

Connectivity

Carbon, Nature and 

Environment

Consumption and 

Production

Although the International Strategy does not directly contribute to achieving the GM Carbon 

Neutral 2038 it potentially enables it through a number of GM's International priorities. For 

example, the City-region Diplomacy encourages policy exchange and best practice learning with 

other places around the world, a key topic of collaboration identified in this area is net zero. 
Further Assessment(s): N/A

Contribution to achieving the 

GM Carbon Neutral 2038 target

Positive impacts overall, 

whether long or short 

term.

Mix of positive and 

negative impacts. Trade-

offs to consider.

Mostly negative, with at 

least one positive aspect. 

Trade-offs to consider.

Negative impacts overall. 

Carbon Assessment
Overall Score

Buildings Result Justification/Mitigation

New Build residential N/A

Residential building(s) 

renovation/maintenance
N/A

New Build Commercial/ 

Industrial
N/A

Transport

Active travel and public 

transport
N/A

Roads, Parking and 

Vehicle Access
N/A

Access to amenities N/A

Vehicle procurement N/A

Land Use

Land use N/A

No associated 

carbon impacts 

expected.

High standard in 

terms of practice 

and awareness on 

carbon.

Mostly best practice 

with a good level of 

awareness on 

carbon.

Partially meets best 

practice/ awareness, 

significant room to 

improve.

Not best practice 

and/ or insufficient 

awareness of carbon 

impacts.

Page 88



Number of attachments to the report:   

1 – Summary Slide Deck  

Comments/recommendations from Overview & Scrutiny Committee  

N/A 

Background Papers 

 Greater Manchester One Year International Strategy (2020 to 2021) - International - 

Greater Manchester Combined Authority (greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk) 

 Greater Manchester One Year International Strategy (2017 to 2020) The Greater 

Manchester Internationalisation Strategy 2017-2020.pdf (metropolis.org) 

Tracking/ Process  

 Does this report relate to a major strategic decision, as set out in the GMCA Constitution  

No  

Exemption from call in  

Are there any aspects in this report which means it should be considered to be exempt 

from call in by the relevant Scrutiny Committee on the grounds of urgency?  

N/A 

GM Transport Committee 

N/A 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee# 

12/11/2021 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 89

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/international/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/international/
https://www.metropolis.org/sites/default/files/2019-01/The%20Greater%20Manchester%20Internationalisation%20Strategy%202017-2020.pdf
https://www.metropolis.org/sites/default/files/2019-01/The%20Greater%20Manchester%20Internationalisation%20Strategy%202017-2020.pdf


1. Introduction/Background 

1.1 Greater Manchester is a place that has a global profile and long history of international 
engagement, contributing to the success of the city region and having a global impact. The 
International Strategy brings together GM’s ambition and priorities under a single 
framework, giving a shared international vision and narrative for engaging internationally.  

 

1.2 The strategy aims to ensure that where appropriate GM’s international efforts and 
activity are co-ordinated to ensure the impact is greater than the sum of their parts.  

 

1.3 In 2017, the GM LEP and GMCA agreed a three-year internationalisation strategy. A 
three-year refresh of this strategy was due in 2020, however the challenges of the 
pandemic meant this process was delayed and GM’s attention shifted to focusing on 
measuring the impact CV-19 was having on GM’s international priorities. In response to 
the challenges that emerged, a one-year roll over international strategy was agreed, 
published in-line with the Living with COVID Resilience plan in October 2020.  

 

1.4 In July 2021, preparations began for full a refresh of GM’s International Strategy which 
is due to be finalised in December 2021, published in-line with the Greater Manchester 
Strategy.  

2. Work to date  

2.1 To date the GMCA have: 

 Completed a full evidence base update 

 Reviewed performance against the 2020/2021 strategy and implementation plan  

 Engaged in extensive consultations with GM stakeholders and the 10 districts  

2.2 A final draft of the strategy is due to be presented to the GMCA on the 17th December 
alongside an initial Delivery Plan.  

3. One Year On – A Continually Evolving Context 

3.1 The Greater Manchester International Strategy is being refreshed in a period of 
significant uncertainty. Global trends such as changing international supply chains, 
economic nationalism and growing international competition are all important within the 
context of the international strategy. The refreshed International Strategy considers how 
these wider trends may have accelerated as a result of the pandemic and what this means 
for the International Strategy.  

 

3.2 Locally, the GM context has evolved over the last year. Key developments include the 
publication of the LEP Economic Vision, Innovation Greater Manchester and the publication 
of the Greater Manchester Independent Inequalities Commission.  

 

3.3 Although still evolving, the impact of COVID and the UK’s exit from the EU on GM’s 
international activity has been significant. Key issues include:  

- Foreign Direct Investment - In 2020 the OECD reported a 38% fall in global FDI. 
This is broadly in line with the 35% drop off in investment projects experienced by the 
UK and the 31% decrease in project wins experienced in GM. It is expected this will 
recover  

- Trade – GM Export Data is not currently available; however, ONS statistics show that 
UK goods exports were down 15% and service exports down 18.5% from 2019.  

Page 90



- Visitor Economy – It is estimated that there has been a 73% decline in visits to GM. 
Suppressed demand for city destinations, and a fall in corporate business travel, 
conferences and major events will have an impact on the speed of GM’s tourism 
recovery.  

- Connectivity – Aviation connectivity has fallen dramatically throughout the CV-19 
pandemic. While routes are opening up again, there is significantly reduced long-haul 
connectivity outside of London and the Southeast.  

- International Students – International student numbers and applications to GM’s 
universities have remained broadly unaffected and are increasing. International 
student applications from Europe are anticipated to decrease following the UK’s 
departure from the EU.  

4. Supporting Power Point – International Strategy Summary 
and Key Issues 

4.1 The supporting power point deck provides a summary of the refreshed Greater 
Manchester International Strategy including aims, structure, strategic framework, priorities, 
key markets and the approach to developing the GM International Strategy Delivery Plan.  

 

5. RECOMMENDATIONS  

5.1 The recommendations are set out at the front of the report.  

 

 

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



Greater Manchester
Three Year International Strategy

2021 Refresh

Process Over and Summary of Key Issues

P
age 93



In 2017, the Greater Manchester Local Enterprise Partnership and GMCA agreed a 
three-year internationalisation strategy. This strategy was originally due to be refreshed 
in March 2020 but was delayed due to the pandemic with focus being placed on 
measuring the impact of CV-19 on our international activity .The refresh was renewed in 
Summer 2020 taking on the form of a 12 month strategy, jointly published by the GMCA 
and LEP acting as a roll over document due to significant uncertainty. 

The 2020/2021 refresh provided GM with an opportunity to develop a revised long-term 
vision and refined strategic framework which bought together a shared international 
narrative for GM - something that has been well received locally and internationally. 

A detailed one year Implementation Plan was produced to support strategy delivery 
turning 46 strategic priorities in to 92 monitorable actions owned by the GM “family” 
which are being delivered across the City-Region.  Delays in the publication of data make 
impact difficult to measure this early on, however a review of the implementation plan 
and updated evidence base demonstrated that GM has continued to drive 
international activity despite the pandemic.

Refreshing Greater Manchester's International Strategy 
(2020/2021)

P
age 94



GM’s One Year International Strategy 
(2020/2021)

The success of our international reach is measured by our 

ability to drive additional trade, investment, international 

research partnerships, attracting international visitors and 

students, raising our international profile as well as improving 

our connectivity, both through the development of new 

relationships as well as direct flight routes.

Our international strategy brings these priorities together under 

a single framework. This allows us to work across the City-

Region to grow our international ambitions to ensure that our 

efforts are greater than the sum of their parts. 

P
age 95



Performance – 2020/2021
2020/2021 Strategy Priorities – Success against targets

Priority Target Latest Data

Trade Maintain 2018 export value of £6.8bn. The total value of goods exported by GM in 2019 was £6.6bn (down 3% from 2018). The total number of 
exporting businesses in GM in 2019 was 12,897 (down 1% from 2018).

Investment Maintain Top 10 spot for FDI attraction and over the next 
year 3 years increase GM's market share of FDI from 5% 
to 8%

GM fell to 15th spot in 2019 (Second UK city after London). GM maintained 5% market share of total UK 
FDI in 2020.

Research and Innovation Maintain University QS rankings UoM maintained its 2020 QS ranking of 27th.

International Students Greater Manchester will aim to maintain a 4% market 
share of the UK’s total student population.

The latest figures for 2019/2020 show GM universities with 104,470 students of which 21,165 are 
international or 20%. This is 4% of the UK's total international student population.

International Visitors Business Tourism - By 2025 Greater Manchester aims to 
increase business tourism earnings from £862m in 2017 
by at least 40%, generating an additional £345m for the 
city-region economy.

Leisure Tourism - By 2025 Greater Manchester aims to be 
a global destination of choice for leisure visitors and trade 
partners, working to ensure that the economic impact 
and benefits of tourism are felt across the whole of 
Greater Manchester.

Business Tourism visits totalled 8,675,650 in 2019, down from 9,001,680 in 2017. A decrease of -3.68%

Leisure tourism visits totaled 16, 915, 030 in 2019, up from 16,596,360 in 2017 – an increase of 1.9%.

Total number of visitors to GM in 2019 was 40, 857, 450, an increase of 0.5% from 2017 where the total 
number of visits was 41,080,210.

Connectivity No target set due to CV-19 uncertainty. The pandemic has impacted the aviation industry, dramatically, causing a disruption in connectivity to 
Manchester Airport. Despite a successful vaccine program passengers remain low and long-haul 
connectivity is not expected to recover in the immediate future. 

Perception and Reputation No target set as commitment was made to develop 
"Benchmarking of GM" report in to new metrics which 
will measure success in line with GM's international 
strategy.

Greater Manchester has fluctuated in and out of the Top 100 best cities spot for the last 5 years. 
2018 – 28th; 2019 – 80th; 2020 – 107th; 2021 – 94th; 2022 – 110th. 

Benchmarking analysis work has now begun to improve GM’s positioning in this ranking, focusing on 
improving rankings in Place, Prosperity, Programme and People.

P
age 96



Despite many international borders being closed during the pandemic, Greater Manchester has continued to drive its 
internationalisation efforts by building on and developing further relationships and implementing new work programs to 
support strategy delivery.

• Increased diplomatic presence in GM – The last 12 months has seen a growing number of European countries choose to open a 
consular presence in the region including Ireland, Spain and Italy. 

• Greater Manchester Export Strategy – A GM Trade Group has been formed to promote joint working on the export agenda 
across GM and advise on the development of a GM Export Strategy – this work is delivered by the GM Export Manager, a new 
role created across the UK’s LEP areas to support levelling up through internationalisation.

• Greater Manchester - Japan Steering Group – A steering group has been formed to support the development of GM’s bilateral 
links with Japan. This group will also oversee GM’s IURC program work and the development of a new city partnership with 
Osaka. 

• Greater Manchester – Bangladesh Partnership Board – A Partnership Group has been established to deliver on the MoU signed 
with Sylhet in 2019. The Group is currently delivering three project – a waste management strategy for Sylhet; educational 
partnership on nursey teaching; people to people links.

• Ireland – Following the visitor of Tánaiste Varadkar in 2019 GM’s links with Ireland have grown significantly with a number of
Irish Ministerial visits planned for later in the year and a planned LCR and GM Mayoral Mission to Ireland in March 2022.

• Germany – Increased engagement with Germany, including the appointment of a German market advisor and the development 
of a bilateral strategic partnership with the Ruhr Metropole 

• Maharashtra, India – Supported by the Manchester India Partnership, GM and the State of Maharashtra are entering into a 
strategic partnership to facilitate exchange in trade, education, skills and innovation.

Greater Manchester One Year On 
Increased international engagement 

P
age 97



• General agreement that our existing International Strategy Framework is strong and works for GM. Priority moving 
forward should be on how we work across our delivery agencies and local authorities to deliver, making better use of 
our existing resources. How do we all play a role in delivering on the vision? 

• There is still a significant amount of uncertainty – must ensure that strategy builds on what we are already doing, 
ensuring we do so in an agile way. 

• Must be more explicit in how international supports the delivery of our wider priorities, particularly what it means 
for our residents – strategy must highlight examples of international engagement or globally leading assets across all 
of our 10 districts to highlight what makes GM unique and globally competitive 

• Recognised importance across GM on the benefits of international engagement, a great willingness to be more 
involved post-covid, particularly as a way of addressing some of the difficulties that have emerged in certain local 
authorities following EU Exit – e.g. Access to European networks and funding, logistical challenges, challenges for 
exporters. 

• Strategy is broad an can be confusing, refresh should try to communicate and visualise its aims, objectives and 
benefits more clearly 

• International engagement is not only about trade and investment, how can we work with our local communities to 
engage internationally? 

• GM has seen a significant increase in diplomatic missions opening a presence here, important to highlight how we 
can work more effectively with this network to deliver on our priorities 

Greater Manchester's International Strategy 
Feedback from Consultations

P
age 98



Greater Manchester 
Three Year International Strategy

Summary

P
age 99



Greater Manchester's International Strategy 
Aims

The success of our international reach is measured by our ability to drive additional trade, investment, international 

research partnerships, attracting international visitors and students, raising our international profile as well as 

improving our connectivity, both through the development of new relationships as well as direct flight routes.. 

Our international strategy aims to bring these priorities together under a single framework, allowing us to work across 

the City-Region to grow our international ambitions to ensure that our efforts are greater than the sum of their parts

The over-arching aims of the Greater Manchester International Strategy are four-fold: 

1. Address the most immediate international challenges facing our city-region following the pandemic and ensuring we
continue to respond to any emerging challenges following the UK’s formal departure from the EU

2. Outline our international ambitions, priorities and markets under a single framework and collective narrative,
highlighting the inter-connectedness of internationalisation and ensuring our international delivery is greater than
the sum of its part

3. Highlight Greater Manchester’s areas of global competitiveness, identifying clear areas where Greater Manchester
can play a transformational role in supporting the UK government to deliver on Global Britain

4. Emphasise the transformational benefits of internationalisation for Greater Manchester, highlighting the benefits it
can bring to our 10 districts and residents.

P
age 100



1. Executive Summary

2. Ambition

3. An Evolving Context

• The Pandemic

• EU Exit

• FTA’s

• Global Britain

• Levelling up and MCA’s

4. Value of Internationalisation

5. A Strong Foundation

• A Diverse Population

• A Strong Sector Base

• Unique Assets

• A Network of Strong Relationships

Greater Manchester's International Strategy 
Structure

6. Our Way of Working

7. Strategic Framework

8. Strategic Priorities

• Trade

• Investment

• Research and Innovation

• Visitor Economy

• International Students

• Connectivity

• Marketing and Perception

• City-region Diplomacy

9. Global Target Markets

P
age 101



Greater Manchester's International Strategy 
Vision and Ambition

AMBITIONS

• Raise the profile of Greater Manchester as a welcoming, vibrant and diverse city-region with a strong cultural, sport and place offer making us one of the
best places in the world to live, visit, study and invest.

• Build a more prosperous and globally competitive city-region by increasing trade, foreign direct investment and fostering cross-border international
partnerships that support our local growth ambitions and bring benefits to local businesses and residents.

• Position Greater Manchester at the forefront of innovation with world-lead strengths in Cyber, Health Innovation, Advanced Materials and Low Carbon
Technology, a region of visionary thinkers, and a place where ideas turn in to solutions that are shared with the world.

• Establish Greater Manchester on the global stage, and raise its reputation as a responsible city-region that places people and our natural environment at its
centre, recognising the value of working with our international partners towards shared global ambitions

HOW WILL WE KNOW WE ARE ON TRACK?

• By monitoring our performance against the three-year targets laid out against each of Greater Manchester’s 5 core International priorities

VISION

To become a top global city-region - An internationally recognised centre of visionary thinkers, innovative businesses and entrepreneurs, a place where our 

businesses trade and thrive internationally and our frontier sectors attract investment from across the globe. Working with the world for the benefit of our 

residents and giving back by sharing our expertise and promoting our strong values.  

P
age 102



Greater Manchester's International Strategy 
Strategic Framework

• Strategy is informed by, aligned to and complements the

delivery of other GM strategies, e.g. Greater Manchester

Strategy, The Local Industrial Strategy and the Greater

Manchester Economic Vision.

• The Strategic Framework aims to illustrate the close synergy

and inter-connectivity between different priorities.

• Core Priorities are defined as the central blocks of the

internationalisation. They play a key role in adding

significant economic value to the region, are easily

measured by specific metrics and indices, drive growth

and create jobs.

• Enablers are what gives Greater Manchester its

competitive edge and make us unique. They help us

connect with the world, learn from others, share our

values, and tell Greater Manchester’s story well

P
age 103



• Across GM stakeholders and delivery agencies are delivering international 
plans and activities which support the delivery of the International Strategy

• Purpose is not to reproduce their activity in detail, instead to highlight our 
key international priorities, shared messages and frame how all elements of 
internationalisation come together. 

• Each core priority sets out a series of targets which have been agreed with 
our delivery agencies and stakeholders, outlining where Greater 
Manchester aspires to be by 2024.

• Strategic objectives have been agreed across each priority, setting out how 
Greater Manchester will work across the city-regions to achieve these 
ambitious targets.

• These over-arching strategic objectives are supported by an International 
Strategy Delivery plan as well as our individual delivery agencies respective 
strategies and annual business plans.

• By working in this way, we ensure we come together on the most important 
and fruitful priorities, working towards our shared vision of becoming a top 
global city-region and delivering on our long-term ambitions.

Greater Manchester's International Strategy 
Our Way of Working

Universities

Local Authorities

P
age 104



Greater Manchester's International Strategy 
Core Priorities 

TRADE 

Nationally our export performance is below average (18% of GDP – UK average is 30%). Growth in exports is 
central to improving productivity and ensuring the benefits of internationalisation are felt across the city-
region. We must support our business base to improve its exporting propensity.

We will do this by working closely with DIT and other local stakeholders such as The Growth Company, 
Greater Manchester Chamber of Commerce, business organisations, academic institutions, and others

By 2024 GM aim to increase both its goods and service exports as well as increase the number of exports in 
our business base. Target - to be agreed. 

FDI & FCI 

Foreign owned companies are worth a total of £37billion to Greater Manchester’s economy, employing 
approximately 172,000 people. 

To achieve our wider GM ambitions must continue to attract the most innovative and ambitious investors 
from around the world, creating high value job opportunities for our residents. Increasing our share of FDI is 
key for economic recovery. We will do this by promoting our sector offering, working closely with DIT, the 
new Office for investment as well as key intermediaries across the public and private sector. 

Our long-term ambition is to become a consistent top 10 global location for FDI. By 2024 GM aims to:
• Create an additional 6750 high-value jobs
• Land 165 new projects of which at least 30% should be either a new HQ or low carbon and R&D intensive 

projects
• Increase Greater Manchester’s % market share of UK FDI from 5% to 5.5%

P
age 105



Greater Manchester's International Strategy 
Core Priorities 

RESEACH AND 
INNOVATION

Our long-term ambition is for GM to be recognised as an international leader in innovation with world leading 
strengths in Cyber, Health Innovation, Advanced Materials and Low Carbon technology. 

There is a gap in our R&I productivity, including our ability commercialise innovative ideas that can be exported to 
the world. We must better promote our frontier sectors to leverage our science and innovation assets 
internationally, helping to attract international talent and translate our research and development (R&D) 
excellence into new products and services. 

We will measure our performance by:
• The number of R&D intensive projects – Ensuring at least 10% of all new FDI projects are classified as R&D 

intensive 
• Maintaining a Top 30 Global University position on the QS ranking 

VISITOR ECONOMY 
(BUINESS AND LEISURE)

In 2019, tourism contributed £9bn to Greater Manchester’s economy, sustaining over 101,000 jobs. Conferences 
alone contributed a spend of £862m. 

Our long-term vision is to be a world class visitor hub for business and leisure tourism, ensuring the growth in our 
visitor economy continues to contribute to GM’s economic productivity, supporting our foundational economy

By 2024 we want to: 
• Business Tourism – be on track to achieving our 2025 target of increasing business tourism earnings by 40% 

from £862m in 2017
• Leisure Tourism – A target will be set in the 2022 publication of GM’s Tourism Strategy.

P
age 106



Greater Manchester's International Strategy 
Core Priorities 

INTERNATIONAL 
STUDENTS

Greater Manchester has the largest international student populations outside of London with more 
than over 19,000 international students from more than 160 different countries. 

International students are not only important economically for our universities and city-region but 
the also add to our diversity and culture as well as act as a source of talent to help address skill 
shortages. 

By 2024 we aim to: 

• Maintain a 4% market share of the UK’s total student population
• Increase the % of International Students studying at GM Universities by 1% with efforts placed on 

diversifying our international student origin countries.

P
age 107



Greater Manchester's International Strategy 
Enabling Priorities 

CONNECTIVITY

Physical connectivity via Manchester Airport a key enabler for delivering on our core international priorities. Pre-
COVID Man flew to over 200 destinations. The pandemic has had a devastating impact on GM’s long-haul 
connectivity, we must work with MAG to re-instate these lost routes, ensuring we benefit from being a globally 
connectivity city-region 

Digital connectivity has diminished geographical borders, enabling us to collaborate more innovatively and 
effectively with international partners. We must continue to increase our online international activity to drive our 
core priorities and amplify our voice on key policy areas. 

PERCEPTION AND 
REPUTATION

Greater Manchester has successfully continued to communicate its story to the world, making strides to increase its 
rankings in a range of global indices, we regularly outrank large competitor regions, joining capital cities in global 
indices.

Over the next three years, through the delivery of international marketing campaigns and investment in our 
branding, we believe that Greater Manchester will continue to remain a globally recognised and competitive city-
region.  We will measure our progress against the Resonance World Best Cities index, ensuring that by 2024 Greater 
Manchester retains a Top 100 spot. 

CITY-REGION 
DIPLOMACY

City-region Diplomacy is a powerful enabler for Greater Manchester’s International Strategy, facilitating our 
engagement on the global stage on agendas that are important to us, strengthening our links with other global 
cities and supporting the delivery of our core international ambitions. Over the next three years we will continue to 
strengthen our links with place such as Bangladesh and Pakistan as well as key cities around the world including the 
Ruhr Metropole, Osaka, Grand Lyon, Boston, Austin and many others 

P
age 108



Our Strongest

International Markets

Country Export Activity Investment Activity International Students Academic Research Tourism

USA

Germany

France

China

Spain

Italy

Ireland

India

Netherlands

Australia

South Korea

Canada

Japan

Malaysia

Poland

Switzerland

Turkey

Mexico

Indonesia

Singapore

New Zealand

United Arab 

Emirates

Brazil

Saudi Arabia

Nigeria

Note: The diagram demonstrates the strength 
of relationships based on historical data.

• In 2017, Greater Manchester completed a full 
evaluation of our global target markets – similar 
analysis completed in summer 2021.

• Europe and the US continue to be our largest 
markets.

• In recent years we have seen significant growth 
in markets such as China and India, thanks partly 
to the MCF and MIP special-purpose vehicles.

• Increasingly strong relationship with GCC, 
Australia, South Korea and Canada.

P
age 109



Greater Manchester's International Strategy 
Global Target Markets

Greater Manchester’s Priority Markets Summary

Developed

Markets

Europe (in particular Germany, the Netherlands, Ireland, Italy, France and Spain), the US, China and

India.

Growth Markets Japan, South Korea, Australia and Canada

Monitor Markets Turkey, GCC, ASEAN (primarily Indonesia, Malaysia, Vietnam and Singapore) and high growth markets

in LATAM (primarily Brazil and Mexico)

Key Consideration
There remains a huge 
amount of uncertainty 
and anticipated change. 
We cannot wholly rely 
on past data. We must 
continue to monitor the 
global implications of 
the pandemic and our 
new relations with the 
EU.

Three critical factors inform our priority markets for the next three years:

1. Greater Manchester’s strongest markets and existing relationships – Given current global
uncertainty, we believe our immediate economic interests are best served strengthening
these links.

2. New national foreign policy – We will continue to work with partners such as DIT to take
account of national policy’s prioritisation of different regions post-Brexit, e.g.,
strengthening relationship with Japan.

3. Identified opportunity areas based on global trends – We will work across identified
growth markets to promote trade, investment and research partnerships.

P
age 110



• A strong Delivery Plan is fundamental for achieving our international ambitions and ensuring we utilise what 
limited resource we have to deliver on the strategy

• The refreshed International Strategy is going to December GMCA for sign off, along with an initial delivery plan 
which will capture initial activity underway

• This will be supported by a proposal for further development and iteration of this plan, recognising that the one 
produced in 2020/2021 did not work as intended. 

• This new delivery plan must be a live/iterative document which:

• All of GM’s Delivery partners feel accountable for

• Adds value to business as usual rather than just capture it

• Sets out key pieces of strategic activity, providing a mechanism for discussing how we want to deliver, 
encouraging cross GM working on key strategic priorities.

• Helps monitor progress and highlights gaps in delivery

• Provides a mechanism to discuss and progress international activity within our existing internationalisation 
structures 

Delivering Greater Manchester’s International Strategy

An International Dashboard which will show GM’s performance against its core international priorities will be 
developed next year and made publicly available as part of GM’s wider economy dashboard and GMS dashboard. 

P
age 111



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 

ECONOMY, BUSINESS GROWTH AND SKILLS OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
 
DATE: 12th NOVEMBER 2021 
 
SUBJECT: GMCA REGISTER OF KEY DECISIONS 
 
REPORT OF:  JOANNE HERON, STATUTORY SCRUTINY OFFICER, GMCA 
 
 

 
PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
To advise Members of those items listed in the GMCA Register of Key Decisions, for the 
period 1st October 2021 to 31st January 2022, that have particular relevance to the work of 
the Economy, Business Growth and Skills Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
In addition, the report also includes those key decisions not within the remit of this 
Committee for information.    
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
Members are invited to note the report.   
 
 
 
CONTACT OFFICERS: 
 
Joanne Heron 
Statutory Scrutiny Officer, GMCA 
Joanne.heron@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk 
 
Paul Harris 
Governance and Scrutiny Officer, GMCA 
Paul.harris@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 

Page 113

Agenda Item 10

mailto:Joanne.heron@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Paul.harris@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


 

 

Equalities Implications: 

N/A 

Climate Change Impact Assessment and Mitigation Measures –  
N/A 
 

Risk Management: 

N/A 

Legal Considerations: 

N/A 

Financial Consequences – Revenue: 

N/A 

Financial Consequences – Capital: 

N/A 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS:  
 
GMCA Register of Key Decisions at the Economy, Business Growth and Skills Overview 
and Scrutiny committee on 9th July 2021.  
 
 
 

Page 114



1 

REGISTER OF KEY DECISIONS:  1 OCTOBER 2021 TO 31 JANUARY 2022 Published on 
27th September 2021  
 
What is a Register of Key Decisions? 
 

The Register is a published list of the key decisions 
which are due to be taken by the: 

 Greater Manchester Combined Authority 
(GMCA) 

 Greater Manchester Elected Mayor 
 Joint GMCA & AGMA Executive Board 
 Transport for Greater Manchester 
Committee; 

 GMCA Resources Committee; 
 GMCA’s Waste & Recycling Committee; 
 Key decisions delegated to officers 

 

These decisions must be published on the Register 
at least 28 clear days before the decision is to 
be taken, whether in public or private. The Register 
is updated at least once a month. 
 

This Register of Key Decisions has been prepared 
in accordance with Combined Authorities (Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information 
and Audit Committees) Order 2017 (‘the Order’). 
 

The Register is published on the GMCA’s website 
www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk and hard copies 
are available at the offices of: 
 

Greater Manchester Combined Authority  
& Greater Manchester Mayor  
Churchgate House 
Oxford Street  
Manchester M1 6EU 

What is a Key Decision? 
 
A key decision defined by ‘the Order’ is a 
decision which, in the view of the Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority’s Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee, would result in any of 
the decision makers listed: 
 
(i) incurring expenditure over £500,000, or 

making significant savings of £500,000 
or more relating to the budget for the 
service area to which the decision 
relates; or 

(ii) be significant in terms of its effects on 
persons living or working in an area of 
more two or more wards or electoral 
divisions of Greater Manchester. 
 

The GMCA’s has three thematic Scrutiny 
Committees: 
 

 Corporate Issues and Reform 
 Economy, Business Growth and Skills 
 Housing, Planning and Environment 

 
These Committees’ role is to contribute to the 
development of GMCA’s strategies and 
policies, to scrutinise decisions of the decision-
makers listed above and to consider any matter 
affecting those who live, work, study or run 
businesses in Greater Manchester. 

How to find out more on these proposed 
decisions 
 
The report (other than those which contain 
confidential or exempt information) relating to 
these decisions will published on the GMCA’s 
website five working days before the decision 
is to be made see www.greatermanchester- 
ca.gov.uk. 
 
For general information about the decision- 
making process please contact: 
 
 

  GMCA Assistant Director Governance,  
  Scrutiny & Business Support 
Julie Connor  
julie.connor@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk 

 

P
age 115

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/68/pdfs/uksi_20170068_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/68/pdfs/uksi_20170068_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/68/pdfs/uksi_20170068_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/68/pdfs/uksi_20170068_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/68/pdfs/uksi_20170068_en.pdf
http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/
http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/
http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/
mailto:julie.connor@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


2 

Key decisions within the Remit of the Economy, Business Growth and Skills Overview and Scrutiny Committee: - 
 

Decision title Decision 
Maker 

Planned 
Decision 
Dates 

What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

Greater 
Manchester Town 
of Culture 2022 
process 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

29 Oct 2021 
 

GMCA to agree process 
for identifying the 2022 
GM Town of Culture 

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Alison Gordon 
alison.gordon@greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk 
 

Agreement of the 
refreshed Greater 
Manchester 
Strategy 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

29 Oct 2021 
 

Agreement of the 
refreshed Greater 
Manchester Strategy 

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Simon Nokes 
simon.nokes@greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk 
 

GMCA Culture 
Fund 2022 - 2023 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

24 Sep 2021 
 

Approval of GMCA 
Culture Fund proposal 
and budget for 2022/23 

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Alison Gordon 
alison.gordon@greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk 
 

One Network 
Outline Business 
Case 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

Between  1 
May 2021 and 
31 Jul 2021 
 

To approve the funding 
arrangements and the 
procurement approach 
for the Greater 
Manchester One 
Network proposal 

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Phil Swan 
Phil.Swan@greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk 
 

      

      

      

      

P
age 116



 

3 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Planned 
Decision 
Dates 

What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

Key Decisions Outside the remit of the Economy, Business Growth and Skills Overview and Scrutiny Committee: - 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Information 
Strategy 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

29 Oct 2021 
 

To approve the draft 
Greater Manchester 
Information Strategy 

Draft Greater 
Manchester 
Information 
Strategy 
 

Andrew Lightfoot 
andrew.lightfoot@greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk 
 

Clean Air Plan 
(CAP) Taxi 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

29 Oct 2021 
 

To grant Capital 
Programme Entry and 
grant approval to 
release funding in line 
with the business case 
and delivery plans 
submitted to JAQU. 

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Simon Warburton 
simon.warburton@tfgm.com 
 

Large Scale Foam 
Making Equipment 
(Firefighting) 
 

Treasurer 
GMCA 
 

Between  1 
Oct 2021 and 
30 Nov 2021 
 

Approval to award 
successful bidders a 
place on a Framework 
for use by North West 
FRS’s which will also be 
available for National 
FRS’s to utilise. 

Contract Award 
Report 
 

Leon Parkes 
parkesl@manchesterfire.gov.uk 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Working Well 
Working Health 
Programme: JETS  
((formally WW 
Lite) - Contract 
Extension 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

24 Sep 2021 
 

To approve a variation 
to the Working Well 
Health Programme 
Contract. 
 
To utilise additional 
funding allocated made 
available by HMT/DWP  

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Mat Ainsworth 
Matthew.Ainsworth@greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk; 
 

P
age 117



 

4 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Planned 
Decision 
Dates 

What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

 for the WW HP JETS 
initially introduced in 
October 2020 for one 
year and one year 
possible extension  
 
GMCA now wish to 
extend the existing 
service offer to continue 
to support people 
impacted by 
unemployment due to 
the impact of CV19 and 
the move into 
employment   

GM Cycle Hire 
Tariffs 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

24 Sep 2021 
 

Approval of the tariff 
structure associated with 
the GM Cycle Hire 
scheme, and delegation 
to TfGM for future tariff 
changes and the 
establishment of 
promotional offers 

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Steve Warrener 
steve.warrener@tfgm.com 
 

Clean Bus Fund 
(CBF) - 
Replacement 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

24 Sep 2021 
 

To grant Capital 
Programme Entry and 
grant approval to 
release funding in line 
with the business case 
and delivery plans 
submitted to JAQU. 

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Simon Warburton 
simon.warburton@tfgm.com 
 

P
age 118



 

5 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Planned 
Decision 
Dates 

What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

GMCA, 
Environment 
Agency and United 
Utilities 
Partnership 
Agreement/Memor
andum of 
Understanding 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

24 Sep 2021 
 

To agree to a 
partnership 
agreement/Memorandu
m of Understanding with 
the Environment Agency 
and United Utilities 

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Andrew McIntosh 
andrew.mcintosh@greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk 
 

GM Cycle Hire 
Tariff Proposals 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

24 Sep 2021 
 

 GM Cycle Hire Tariff 
Proposals 

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Steve Warrener 
steve.warrener@tfgm.com 
 

Bus Service 
Improvement Plan 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

Between  1 
Sep 2021 and 
31 Oct 2022 
 

Approval of the Bus 
Services Improvement 
Plan for publication 

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Bob Morris bob.morris@tfgm.com 
 

Rapid Transit 
Strategy 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 

Between  1 
Sep 2021 and 
31 Dec 2021 
 

Approval of the GM 
Rapid Transit Strategy 

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 

Simon Warburton 
simon.warburton@tfgm.com 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Resource and 
Waste Strategy - 
Outline Proposals 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

Between  1 
Sep 2021 and 
31 Dec 2021 
 

To agree outline 
proposals and to 
commence public 
consultation  

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

David Taylor 
david.taylor@greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk 
 

P
age 119



 

6 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Planned 
Decision 
Dates 

What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

Intra-city Transport 
Settlement grant 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

September 
2021 
 

Approve the addition of 
£8.6m to the 2021/22 
Transport revenue 
budget for the Intra-City 
Transport Settlement 
grant from Department 
for Transport 

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Steve Wilson 
Steve.Wilson@greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk 
 

European Social 
Fund (ESF) 
NEETs and Youth 
Employment 
programme 
 

Chief 
Executive 
Officer 
GMCA & 
TfGM 
 

29 Aug 2021 
 

Commissioning of a GM 
Programme funded by 
GMCA’s ESF allocation 
to support young people 
aged 15 -24 who are 
facing barriers to 
Education, Employment 
and Training   

Report with 
recommendation
s 
 

Mat Ainsworth 
Matthew.Ainsworth@greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk; 
 

To award contract 
to preferred 
supplier for GM 
Cloud Hosting 
Solution for period 
of 3 years. 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

July 2021 
 

To award cloud hosting 
solution contract to 
preferred supplier for a 
period of 3 years to 
facilitate the move to an 
enterprise agreement in 
order to realise 
Government negotiated 
savings on Microsoft 
Azure 

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

 
 

Greater 
Manchester: 
Hydrogen and Fuel 
Cell Strategy 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 

Between  30 
Jul 2021 and 
31 Aug 2021 
 

The adoption of the GM 
Hydrogen and Fuel Cell 
Strategy authored by 
Manchester Metropolitan 

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Mark Atherton 
mark.atherton@greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk 
 

P
age 120



 

7 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Planned 
Decision 
Dates 

What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

  University  

Greater 
Manchester: 
Green Homes 
Sustainable 
Warmth Fund 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

Between  30 
Jul 2021 and 
30 Sep 2021 
 

Subject to a successful 
bid to the Sustainable 
Warmth Fund, delegate 
authority to GMCA 
Treasurer and Solicitor, 
in consultation with the 
Lead Portfolio Holder to: 
 
a) Sign a Grant Funding 

agreement with BEIS 
to receive grant 
funding of cr£15m for 
a GM Sustainable 
Warmth Fund Retrofit 
Programme; and  

b) expend the awarded 
grant funds either 
directly or defray via 
the funding partners 
i.e., 10 GM Local 
Authorities, and 
registered housing 
providers and or a 
OJEU procured 
delivery partner 

Any expenditure and/or 
claims, will be subject to 
confirmation of delivery 
and quality assurance 

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Mark Atherton 
mark.atherton@greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk 
 

P
age 121



 

8 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Planned 
Decision 
Dates 

What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

checks.  

Appointment of 
biowaste treatment 
contractors 2022-
2026 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

Between  23 
Jul 2021 and 
30 Sep 2021 
 

To appoint biowaste 
treatment contractors to 
manage 15 ‘tonnage 
packages’ (lots) of 
biowaste collected from 
households across 
Greater Manchester 
from 2022 to 2026 

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

 
 

Revenue and 
capital budget 
updates 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

Between  1 
Jul 2021 and 
28 Feb 2022 
 

Approve revisions to 
revenue budget and 
capital programme  

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Steve Wilson 
Steve.Wilson@greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk 
 

Salford Bolton 
Network 
Improvements - 
Bolton Delivery 
Package 5 Phase 
4 Bradshawgate 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

Between  1 
Jul 2021 and 
31 Oct 2021 
 

Funding Approval  Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Steve Warrener 
steve.warrener@tfgm.com 
 

National Skills 
Fund: 
Construction/Retro
fit Skills Bootcamp 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

Between  1 
Jul 2021 and 
30 Sep 2021 
 

Award of contract to a 
provider to deliver a 
construction/retrofit skills 
bootcamp. Which will 
support 200-250 
unemployed GM 
residents to enter the 
construction industry 

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Steve Wilson 
Steve.Wilson@greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk 
 

P
age 122



 

9 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Planned 
Decision 
Dates 

What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

and gain the skills to 
work on retrofit projects. 

Local Growth Deal 
( 1, 2 and 3) six 
monthly progress 
update 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

Between  1 
Jul 2021 and 
30 Apr 2022 
 

To grant Full or 
Conditional Approval 
and/or release funding / 
approve expenditure 
and  allocate/reallocate 
funding across the 
programme for schemes 
within the Growth Deal 
1,2,3 and/or the 
Transforming Cities 
Fund. 

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Steve Warrener 
steve.warrener@tfgm.com 
 

Streets for All 
Strategy 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

Between  1 
Jul 2021 and 
31 Oct 2021 
 

To approve the final 
version of the Streets for 
All Strategy 

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Simon Warburton 
simon.warburton@tfgm.com 
 

Award of 
Brownfield 
Housing Fund 
Schemes 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

Between  1 
Jun 2021 and 
31 Aug 2021 
 

To confirm schemes and 
award grant 
funding received from 
MHCLG under 
the Brownfield Housing 
Fund. 
 

Report with 
recommendation
s 
 

Andrew McIntosh 
andrew.mcintosh@greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk 
 

Development 
Support to Districts 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 

Between  1 
Jun 2021 and 
31 Aug 2021 
 

To agree approach to 
providing development 
support to districts 

Report with 
recommendation
s 
 

Andrew McIntosh 
andrew.mcintosh@greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk 
 

P
age 123



 

10 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Planned 
Decision 
Dates 

What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

 

Land Acquisition 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

Between  1 
Jun 2021 and 
31 Jul 2021 
 

Approval to acquire a 
site and the cost of 
acquisition be included 
into the Capital 
Programme 

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Steve Warrener 
steve.warrener@tfgm.com 
 

Clean Funds 
Scheme (CFS) 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

Between  1 
Jun 2021 and 
31 Aug 2021 
 

To grant Capital 
Programme Entry and 
grant approval to 
release funding in line 
with the business case 
and delivery plans 
submitted to  JAQU. 

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Simon Warburton 
simon.warburton@tfgm.com 
 

Public Sector 
Decarbonisation 
Scheme – GMP & 
GMFRS Schemes 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

Between  1 
Jun 2021 and 
31 Aug 2021 
 

Agree to the 
procurement of a design 
& supply contract for 
solar PV and battery 
storage schemes at both 
GMP and GMFRS which 
are funded via the public 
sector decarbonisation 
scheme  

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Chief Executive Officer GMCA & TfGM 
 

Community 
Accommodation 
Service – Tier 3 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

Between  1 
Jun 2021 and 
31 Aug 2021 
 

To decide on the 
allocation of funds to 
deliver the Community 
Accommodation Tier 3 
on behalf of HMPPS. 

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Jane Forrest 
jane.forrest@greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk 
 

GM Active Travel Greater Between  1 To approve the Report with Simon Warburton 

P
age 124



 

11 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Planned 
Decision 
Dates 

What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

Fund Governance 
Update 
 

Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

May 2021 and 
31 Jul 2021 
 

proposed governance 
and scheme of 
delegation for the GM 
Active Travel Fund 

recommendation
s 
 

simon.warburton@tfgm.com 
 

UKG Community 
Renewal Fund - 
award decisions 
announcements by 
the UKG for the 
area of Greater 
Manchester. 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

Between  1 
May 2021 and 
30 Sep 2021 
 

 Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Simon Nokes 
simon.nokes@greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk 
 

Electric Vehicle 
Charging 
Infrastructure 
Strategy 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

Between  1 
May 2021 and 
31 Jul 2021 
 

Approval of the GM 
Electric Vehicle 
Charging Infrastructure 
Strategy 

Reports with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Simon Warburton 
simon.warburton@tfgm.com 
 

Local Transport 
Grant and Pothole 
and Challenge 
Funding 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

Between  1 
May 2021 and 
31 Jul 2021 
 

Approve the update to 
the GMCA Capital 
Programme for the 
Integrated Transport 
Block and allocations for 
Highways and Pothole 
funding to 10 Greater 
Manchester Local 
Authorities  

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Steve Warrener 
steve.warrener@tfgm.com 
 

Transport 2040 
Pipeline and 
Funding Bids 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 

Between  1 
May 2021 and 
31 Jul 2021 

To determine the 
priorities for the 
Transport 2040 Pipeline 

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 

Simon Warburton 
simon.warburton@tfgm.com 
 

P
age 125



 

12 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Planned 
Decision 
Dates 

What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

 Authority 
 

 and bids for government 
funding. 

 

Local Growth Fund 
- use of 
Unallocated 
Contingencies 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

Between  1 
May 2021 and 
31 Jul 2021 
 

To agree the potential 
uses of unallocated 
contingency allowances 
and to delegate decision 
for development of 
projects and investment 
programmes.  To agree 
an increase in the 
GMCA capital 
programme 

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Steve Wilson 
Steve.Wilson@greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk 
 

Cycling and 
Walking 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

Between  1 
May 2021 and 
30 Apr 2022 
 

Approval to release 
funding to progress the 
development and 
delivery of schemes  

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Steve Warrener 
steve.warrener@tfgm.com 
 

Forthcoming 
Changes to the 
Bus Network in 
Greater 
Manchester 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

Between  1 
May 2021 and 
31 Jul 2021 
 

To approve forthcoming 
changes to subsidised 
bus services.  

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Stephen Rhodes 
stephen.rhodes@tfgm.com 
 

Transforming 
Cities Fund 2 - 
Challenge Fund 
Approval and 
Funding 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

Between  1 
May 2021 and 
31 Jul 2021 
 

To grant Programme 
Entry, Full or Conditional 
Approval and/or release 
funding for cycling and 
walking schemes within 
the Transforming Cities 
Fund – Challenge Fund. 

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Steve Warrener 
steve.warrener@tfgm.com 
 

P
age 126



 

13 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Planned 
Decision 
Dates 

What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

GM Infrastructure 
Programme 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

Between  1 
May 2021 and 
31 Dec 2021 
 

Decision to utilise 
retained business rates 
to fund work in relation 
to a GM Infrastructure 
Programme. 

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Andrew McIntosh 
andrew.mcintosh@greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk 
 

GM Business 
Growth Hub 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 

Between  1 
May 2021 and 
31 Jul 2021 
 

To agree GMCA funding  Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Steve Wilson 
Steve.Wilson@greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk 
 

GMCA Gas supply 
contract 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

Between  1 
May 2021 and 
31 Jul 2021 
 

Agree to the 
procurement of a gas 
supply contract via a 
Yorkshire Purchasing 
Organisation (YPO) 
framework with a 
contract duration of 4 
years 

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Steve Wilson 
Steve.Wilson@greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk 
 

Clean Air Funding 
Plan 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

Between  1 
May 2021 and 
31 Jul 2021 
 

To grant approval to 
release funding for all 
GM Clean Air Plan 
measures in line with the 
business case and 
delivery plans submitted 
to JAQU and approved 
by the GM Authorities. 

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Simon Warburton 
simon.warburton@tfgm.com 
 

Receipt and Award 
of HE Revenue 
Funding to Great 
Places Housing 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 

Between  1 
May 2021 and 
30 Sep 2021 
 

To award revenue grant 
funding from HE to 
Great Places Housing 
Group to progress the 

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Andrew McIntosh 
andrew.mcintosh@greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk 
 

P
age 127



 

14 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Planned 
Decision 
Dates 

What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

Group 
 

 next stage of MMC 
investigations and the 
Business Case. 

Greater 
Manchester 
Business Funds 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

Between  1 
Apr 2021 and 
31 Dec 2021 
 

To conditionally approve 
business investments to 
proceed to due diligence 
and/or note commercial 
changes to existing 
investments, including 
where relevant 
negotiated settlements. 

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Kirsteen Armitage 
kirsteen.armitage@greatermanchestre-
ca.gov.uk 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Housing Funds 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

Between  1 
Apr 2021 and 
31 Dec 2021 
 

To conditionally approve 
housing investments to 
proceed to due diligence 
and/or note commercial 
changes to existing 
investments 

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Andrew McIntosh 
andrew.mcintosh@greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Property Funds 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

Between  1 
Apr 2021 and 
31 Dec 2021 
 

To conditionally approve 
property investments to 
proceed to due diligence 
and/or note commercial 
changes to existing 
investments. 

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Kirsteen Armitage 
kirsteen.armitage@greatermanchestre-
ca.gov.uk 
 

ESF Skills for 
Growth 
Commissioning 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

Between  1 
Apr 2021 and 
31 Mar 2022 
 

To proceed with the 
procurement and 
contracting of providers 
and activity relating to 
the GM Skills for Growth 
programme. 

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Gemma Marsh 
gemma.marsh@greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk 
 

P
age 128



 

15 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Planned 
Decision 
Dates 

What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

Next Steps for a 
Tobacco Licensing 
System and 
Extending Smoke 
Free Spaces in 
Greater 
Manchester 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
 

Between  1 
Mar 2021 and 
31 Dec 2021 
 

To agree the process to 
take forward a tobacco 
licensing system and 
extend smoke free 
spaces in Greater 
Manchester in line with 
the Making Smoking 
History Strategy, 
including funding. 

Report with 
Recommendatio
ns 
 

Carolyn Wilkins 
carolyn.wilkins@oldham.gov.uk 
 

 

P
age 129



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
ECONOMY, BUSINESS GROWTH AND SKILLS OVERVIEW 

AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
 
DATE: 12th NOVEMBER 2021 
 
SUBJECT: ECONOMY BUSINESS GROWTH AND SKILLS WORK PROGRAMME 
2021/2022 
 
REPORT OF:  JOANNE HERON, STATUTORY SCRUTINY OFFICER, GMCA  
 
 

 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
To provide a work programme of suggested items to focus the work of the Committee 
during 2021/2022. 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
Members are invited to note comment on the content of the Committee work programme.  
 
CONTACT OFFICERS: 
 
Joanne Heron 
Statutory Scrutiny Officer, GMCA 
Joanne.heron@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk 
 
Paul Harris 
Governance and Scrutiny Officer, GMCA 
Paul.harris@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 131

Agenda Item 11

mailto:Joanne.heron@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Paul.harris@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


 

 
 

Equalities Implications: 

N/A 

Climate Change Impact Assessment and Mitigation Measures –  
N/A 
 

Risk Management: 

N/A 

Legal Considerations: 

N/A 

Financial Consequences – Revenue: 

N/A 

Financial Consequences – Capital: 

N/A 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS:  
 
Report to the Economy, Business Growth and Skills Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 
9TH July 2021.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 132



 

 
 

2021/22 COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME  
FOR ECONOMY, BUSINESS GROWTH AND SKILLS SCRUTINY 

 
The table below sets out the Economy, Business Growth & Skills Scrutiny’s work 
programme for the full meeting for Members to develop, review, and agree. It is important 
that over the next 12 months, the work programme has enough space for consideration of 
relevant Covid recovery plans and is focused on reducing risks, increasing resilience and 
ultimately building back better.  
 
This is a ‘live’ document and will be reviewed and, if necessary, updated at each meeting to 
ensure that the Committee’s work programme remains current. 
 
For information, those items considered previously to Economy, Business Growth & Skills 
Scrutiny in 2020/21 are listed in appendix 1.  
  

MEETING DATE  TOPIC CONTACT OFFICER 

8 October 2021  Greater Manchester Strategy 
Update. 

 

 Comprehensive Spending Review, 
Levelling Up and Innovation & 
Science.  

 

 Culture Recovery Update.  
 

 Young Persons’ Guarantee 
Update 

 

 Simon Nokes/John 
Wrathmell/ Amy Foots 
 

 Simon Nokes/John 
Wrathmell 

 
 

 Simon Nokes/John 
Wrathmell 

 

 Karen Clarke 

12 November 2021 

 

 

 International Strategy/Trade & 
Investment;  
 

  Implementation of the GM 
Independent Inequalities 
Commission recommendations.  
 

 Greater Manchester Strategy 
Update. 

 

 Simon Nokes/John 
Wrathmell 

 

 Amy Foots/John 
Wrathmell 

 
 

 Amy Foots/John 
Wrathmell 

10 December 2021 

Mayor attending 

 Economic Growth & the 
Environment; 

 

 Local Industrial Strategy 
(provisionsal) 

 
 

 Business Support 
 

 Late Night Economy Blue Print 

 Simon Nokes/John 
Wrathmell 
 

 Simon Nokes/John 
Wrathmell 
 

 Mark Hughes/Growth 
Company 

 

 Alison Gordon 

Page 133



 

 
Items considered by the Committee 2021/22 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

14 January 2022  Digital; 
 

 GM Local Enterprise 
Partnership Update. 
 

 Young Persons’ Guarantee 
Update 
 

 Phil Swan 
 

 Simon Nokes/Dave 
Rogerson/LEP Chair 

 

 Karen Clarke 
 

 

4 February 2022 

Mayor attending 

 

 MIDAS/Marketing Manchester 
International & Marketing 
Programme 

 

 Mark Hughes/Growth 
Company/ Tim 
Newns/Sheona 
Southern 

11 March 2022 March: Tbc  
 
 

MEETING DATE  TOPIC CONTACT OFFICER 

9 July 2021  Economic Impacts of Covid & 
Brexit (Economy Dashboard); 
 

 Living with Covid Plan & 
Refresh of the Greater 
Manchester Strategy; 

 

 Good Employment 

 Simon Nokes/John 
Wrathmell 

 

 Simon Nokes/John 
Wrathmell/Amy Foots 

 
 

 Ian MacArthur (Growth 
Company) 

10 September 2021 

Cancelled with items 
deferred to 8th 
October 2021. 

  

 

 Skills & Work Plan / Young 
Persons’ Guarantee Update 
 

 Greater Manchester Strategy 
Update 

 

 Culture Recovery Update 
 

 2022/23 Culture Funding 
Update (Part B) 

 

  Gemma Marsh 
 
 

  Simon Nokes/John 
Wrathmell/Amy Foots 
 

 Alison Gordon  
 

 Alison Gordon 
 

Page 134



 

Appendix 1 
 
Items considered in 2020-21 by the Economy, Business Growth and Skills Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
  

MEETING DATE  TOPIC CONTACT OFFICER 

10 July 2020 Local Industrial Strategy Simon Nokes 
 

 Innovation and Science Steven Heales/John 
Wrathmell 

11 September 2020 Work and Skills Gemma Marsh 
 

 GM Living with Covid Resilience 
Plan 

Simon Nokes 

 International Strategy/Trade and 
Investment 
 

Simon Nokes 

9 October 2020 Business Support inc productivity 
update 
 

Mark Hughes/Growth 
Company 

 Northern Growth 
Body/Comprehensive Spending 
Review  
 

Simon Nokes 

 Development of the Women and 
Girls’ Panel  Inc consideration on 
the report of the Fawcett society on 
women’s employability. 
  

Amy Foots/John Wrathmell 

13 November 2020 Labour Market & Business Impacts 
of Covid-19 and Developing a GM 
Response  
 
Culture Recovery Plan 
 
 

Simon Nokes 
 
 
 
Alison Gordon 
  
GM Mayor was in attendance 
 

4 December 2020 GM Local Enterprise Partnership 
Update (deferred to March 2021) 
 
Young Person’s Guarantee 
 

Simon Nokes 
 
 
Gemma Marsh/Nicola 
McLeod 
 

5 February 2021 Recovery plan update –look at 
progress. 
 
Local Industrial Strategy  
 

Simon Nokes 
 
 
Simon Nokes 
 

Page 135



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Brexit - Potential Economic 
Implications for GM 
 

Simon Nokes 
 
GM Mayor was in attendance 
 

12 March 2021 Adult Education Budget 
 
Digital 
 
Local Enterprise Partnership Update 
 
MIDAS/Marketing Manchester 3 
Year International & Marketing 
Programme 
 

Gemma Marsh 
 
Phil Swan 
 
Simon Nokes/Dave Rogerson 
 
Mark Hughes 
 

Page 136


	Agenda
	4 DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS
	6 MINUTES
	7 TACKLING INEQUALITY IN GREATER MANCHESTER - RESPONSE TO THE REPORTS OF INDEPENDENT INEQUALITIES COMMISSION AND MARMOT 'BUILD BACK FAIRER'
	8 GREATER MANCHESTER STRATEGY REFRESH
	Item 08 x GMS Draft for O&S Committees Nov 2021

	9 GREATER MANCHESTER'S THREE-YEAR INTERNATIONAL STRATEGY
	Item 09 x International Strategy - Summary and Discussion_Scrutiny_v3

	10 REGISTER OF KEY DECISIONS
	Item 10 x Register of Key Decisions 270921

	11 COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME

